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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
"STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors
should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only
after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any

loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Boltek Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “"Group” or “"We") collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in
compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”)
for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete
in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would

make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Grand Cayman KY1-1108

Cayman Islands
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Hong Kong
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | am pleased to
present the annual report of Boltek Holdings Limited for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (the "Year").

OVERVIEW

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands on 18 April 2018. The address of registered
office is located at Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350,
Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The principal place of
business of the Company is located at 5/F, Winning Commercial
Building, 46-48 Hillwood Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group
is principally engaged in provision of engineering consultancy

services in Hong Kong.

The Company’s immediate and ultimate holding company is
Waywin Investment Holding Limited (“Waywin Investment”), a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI"). The
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Group is Mr. Cheung Kwan
Tar (“Mr. Cheung” or “Controlling Shareholder”).

The year has presented a range of challenges for our Group,
as we navigate a local economy facing ongoing difficulties,
including inflation and various economic factors. In response to
these conditions, the Group has adopted a prudent approach to
managing daily expenses, ensuring that we maintain operational

efficiency while addressing the uncertainties in the market.

Simultaneously, the Group has actively pursued opportunities
for growth through strategic negotiations and securing new
projects and tenders. This proactive approach aims to enhance our
business performance and reaffirm our position in the competitive
landscape. We are also keenly exploring appropriate investment
opportunities that align with our core business objectives, allowing

us to strengthen and diversify our offerings.

6 Annual Report 3 2024

HEMRIR

AABREREFZS ((BEEE) MARIZE R
BRAREZE T -_NMF+_A=1+—HIFE
([NEE])EFR -

e
ARARRZE-N\FEHA+N\BEREHSRE
MEMEARNAZIMK I RERRBMR AR <
it E b ik & Windward 3, Regatta Office Park,
P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman
Islands « A AR E B EE MU N EB NLERY
N | RE 464857 B B ERNESE -

ARBR/—FRREERAR - AEEXTERER
HBRMH TIZRER R -

ARANEERRRIER AR RKERREERA
RAR(MBRKRE]  ZRRAB/—FNEBREK
HE(REELHEBDAMKINATF - AEE
RS IERBCR SR ERE ((RAEEI K
AR -

AEERAFERE RIS AARMER
HEMKERERRNEE SRBRESEL
HRE - BEMELER AEECKRRERT
ABEEARFY  BREBHMS L IRERER
HO[R] IRy BE S A 455 2 B K o

Bt RR - AEEBBRIIERER R FEIER
RER BRSREREE - REGERN TR
EERMARMOEBRR - WINRBFEZRFRE
B BT o AT IR AR B R R 0 RS B
F—ENEERERS  UINRTEERFNE

O 40 A
DD%A:°



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EEHRE

Looking ahead, the Group remains committed to executing its
business strategies effectively, leveraging our competitive strengths
to navigate the ongoing challenges. We believe that with careful
management and strategic foresight, we can not only weather
the current economic climate but also emerge stronger and more

resilient.

For the Year, the Group recorded a total revenue of approximately
HK$187.3 million, representing an increase of approximately
HK$16.9 million or 9.9% as compared to approximately HK$170.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2023. For the Year,
the Group recorded profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company of approximately HK$28.1 million as compared to
approximately HK$28.2 million for the year ended 31 December

2023. This indicates a stable performance across the two years.

PROSPECT

In the past year, our Group has experienced a notable increase in
both the number and scale of project quotation invitations received
from potential and current customers, resulting in a growing
portfolio of awarded projects. This trend reflects the confidence

our clients place in our expertise and the quality of our services.

The Group remains committed to expanding its service capacity to
meet the evolving demands of the marketplace. We will continue
to enhance our operational efficiency and profitability, ensuring our
business is well-positioned for sustainable growth. As part of our
strategy, we are dedicated to expanding our team of professionals,
which will further strengthen our technical capabilities and

empower us to effectively bid for future projects.

Moreover, the Group is proactively seeking opportunities to
broaden our customer base and increase our market share. These
initiatives will not only drive growth but also enhance shareholder

and stakeholder value.

With the Group’s accumulated expertise and extensive experience
in the engineering consultancy sector, the Directors maintain a
cautiously optimistic outlook for the future. We are confident that
our strategic focus and commitment to excellence will lead to

continued success and growth in the upcoming years.

Boltek Holdings Limited * B #HZEARBR AR

REARK  RNEBESDINBEBHRITEES
REE - MARMOBFED ARG FENLE
BFIAEGE  BREBEREERRBEEER  RAT
EREZBBMMEMR  THRESERKARE
B&A -

NAFE AEBEHBRRBENIGTIEER
CAEERIEINL1698 & Tk9.9% &
CEZ=F+ZRAR=+—RHILFEN17048

BB RAFE  REBBBAARERGA

EEF281BEE L MBEEZTZ=F

TZA=+T—HALEFEAN2282BE8 T - LK

BAEMFRRIFBIRE °

> WS

il

=

RiBE—F AERRBEERRERFESMHNE
BEREREARERRE FYEBEEM Bt
BEFIE B MAATTETE N - BB RREF
B ELREMERBBENEL o

AEBRSBREH N ERRISEES - WAm - T &
EMmHHEFR - R EERTT S ERE R BT
Beh - REFINEBER A FEIERNA MG
B FRREN -5 RS HEZTEXEN
HH#E— 2 nsa I R N A ERMBREN B
MBI ARREIAR o

BEAN - AEBETER S R R AR P AR R IE
MAIZIEA R - ZFHEE B HEBIER - Th6E
RITBREFNENEE -

BRASEETIRBERTERRENERABALE
EER ETHARARRBEERLBNRE - B1M
BRELS  RAMKEER MEREBHEE B
ARBFHBRERINNIEER -

Annual Report 3 2024 7




Boltek Holdings Limited * EEZEARBR A A

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERE

APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Board, let me take this opportunity to extend

our heartfelt gratitude to our shareholders, business partners,
customers, and employees for your continuous support and
contribution to the Group. We are committed to delivering value

and bringing returns to all our stakeholders.

Cheung Kwan Tar

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar (R & iZ) (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 63, is an
executive Director of our Company. He was appointed as a Director
on 18 April 2018 and re-designated as an executive Director, and
appointed as the chief executive officer of our Company and
the chairman of our Board on 20 August 2018. Mr. Cheung is a
member of the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) of our Company and chairman of the nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”) of our Company. Since
September 2006, Mr. Cheung has been a director of Mannings (Asia)
Consultants Limited (“Mannings”).

Mr. Cheung is the spouse of Ms. Chiu Chui Ping, the chief
administrative officer of the Company. Mr. Cheung is also the sole
director of both Waywin Investment Holding Limited, a substantial

shareholder of the Company, and Richness Universal Limited.

Mr. Cheung obtained a Bachelor of Science (Engineering) from
Queen Mary College, University of London in the United Kingdom
in August 1983. Over the years, Mr. Cheung has obtained various
professional qualifications and memberships including the

following:

Professional qualifications
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EEXER AEBREEAH
Fellow of the Institution of Civil Engineers 26 September 2016
TATITEMBEEREE “E-RFAAZ+TRAE
Fellow of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers 8 May 2013
BETIIRMPEEREER —E-=FRANR
Fellow and Chartered Structural Engineer of the Institution of 6 October 2016

Structural Engineers
ERITIEMPEEREE MEFTEBIIZM
Fellow of the Hong Kong Institution of Highways and Transportation
BENKEBRERGE

—E-RF+ANH
9 June 2000
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESENGHREEE

Mr. Ng Pak Hung (2 #878), aged 50, was appointed as a Director
on 18 April 2018 and redesignated as an executive Director on 20
August 2018. Before joining our Group, Mr. Ng has had extensive
work experience in managing various kinds of infrastructural
projects. Since August 2006, he has been an operations director of
Mannings. He was appointed as a professional assessment assessor

of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers since 2011.

Mr. Ng obtained a Bachelor of Engineering (Hons) in Civil and
Structural Engineering from the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology in November 1996. In November 2002, he obtained
a Master of Arts in Arbitration and Dispute Resolution (equivalent
to a Master of Laws in Arbitration and Dispute Resolution) from the
City University of Hong Kong. Over the years, Mr. Ng has obtained
various professional qualification and memberships, including the

following:

Professional qualifications
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Dates of admission or appointment
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Accredited NEC3 and NEC4: ECC Project Manager

A NEC3 M2 NEC4 : ECCIR R #1312

Registered Professional Engineer (Civil/Structural),
Engineers Registration Board

Ti2RREMER BEMEX TR (LA 4H)

Member of The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators

RFFfrREZee 8

Member of The Institution of Structural Engineers

rEIEMmEees

Chartered Engineer of the Engineering Council, United Kingdom

R TIEEE SR IIZA

Fellow Member of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers

BEIRMPEEREE

Fellow Member of The Institution of Civil Engineers

TARIREMBEERSE

Senior Engineer (Highway), Professional Title in Guangdong
Province, Guangdong Provincial Department of Human
Resources and Social Security
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion (BR B 3R), aged 69, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director on 20 August 2018. He
is a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee. He is primarily responsible for providing

independent judgement to our Board.

Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion was admitted as a solicitor of the
Supreme Court of Hong Kong in March 1984 and has been a
partner of C.L. Chow & Macksion Chan, a law firm based in Hong
Kong, since 2001. He is a China Appointed Attesting Officer
appointed by the Ministry of Justice of China.

Since February 2013, Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion has been a non-
executive director of Oi Wah Pawnshop Credit Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1319).

Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion graduated with a Bachelor of Arts in
Pure Mathematics from the University of Calgary, Canada in June
1978.

Mr. Pang Chun Sing George (3 #&k &), aged 67, has over 40
years of experience in the in the civil engineering field, has been
a senior partner of George Pang Consulting Engineers & Co., an
engineering firm based in Hong Kong, since 1999. Mr. Pang Chun
Sing George has obtained various professional qualifications and
memberships over the years. In 1988, Mr. Pang Chun Sing George
was admitted as a member of Institution of Civil Engineers, United
Kingdom. Further, Mr. Pang Chun Sing George was admitted as
a member of Institution of Structural Engineers, United Kingdom
and a member of Hong Kong Institution of Engineers in 1989 and
1991 respectively. Mr. Pang Chun Sing George graduated with a
Bachelor of Science (Hons) in Civil Engineering from the University
of Wales in 1983.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESENGHREEE

Ms. Chik Wai Chun (B & ¥), aged 40, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 9 September 2021. She is
the chairlady of the Audit Committee. She is primarily responsible
for providing independent judgement to our Board. Ms. Chik
obtained a master of corporate governance degree from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in September 2015. She was
admitted as a member of CPA Australia in June 2011. Ms. Chik was
also certified as a certified public accountant by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants in September 2011, and
was admitted as an associate of both The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries) and The Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly known as the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators) in March 2016.

Ms. Chik Wai Chun has over 17 years of auditing, accounting,
corporate governance and company secretarial experience. Ms.
Chik currently serves as the company’s secretary of (i) P.B. Group
Limited, a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 8331) and (ii) FingerTango Inc., a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6860). She is also
the head of the Company Secretarial Department of P.B. Advisory
Limited and a consultant of the Company Secretarial Department
of Trinity Corporate Solutions Limited. She also serves as an
independent non-executive director of Boltek Holdings Limited, a
company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8601),
and an independent director of Top Wealth Group Holding Ltd, a
company listed on Nasdaq (ticker: TWG) , an independent director
of Ming Shing Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on
Nasdaq (ticker: MSW) and Click Holdings Limited, a company listed
on Nasdaq (ticker: CLIK).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Shek Man Wah (f X %), aged 58, is the chief operating
officer of our Company and is responsible for overseeing the
execution and completion of projects undertaken by our Group. In
May 2006, he joined Mannings as an associate. Since June 2006, he
has been an operations director of Mannings.

Mr. Shek obtained a Bachelor of Applied Science in Civil
Engineering from the University of British Columbia, Canada in May
1991 and was elected as a member of the Chartered Institution of
Highways and Transportation in April 2001. He obtained a Master
of Business Administration jointly awarded by the University of New
South Wales and the University of Sydney in Australia in June 2002.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

Ms. Chiu Chui Ping (i 2 3%
officer of our Company. Ms. Chiu is responsible for the overseeing

), aged 56, is the chief administrative

the human resources and administrative functions of our Group.
Since October 2005, she has been a director of Mannings.

Ms. Chiu obtained a Postgraduate Diploma in Business
Administration in March 2004 and a Master of Business
Administration in November 2005, both from the University of
Wales, Newport, United Kingdom and through long distance
learning courses.

Mr. So William (% {2 B8), aged 53, is a senior project manager
of our Company. He is primarily responsible for managing
the execution and completion of projects undertaken by our
Group. Since September 2006 (subject to a period of absence
from November 2008 to January 2009), he has been working for
Mannings, first as a senior engineer and then promoted as a
divisional director in April 2014.

Mr. So was admitted as member of the Institution of Highways
and Transportation in April 1998, as chartered engineer of the
Engineering Council, United Kingdom in December 2002 and as
member of the Institution of Civil Engineers in July 2005. Mr. So
graduated with a Bachelor of Engineering degree from Middlesex
University in the United Kingdom in July 1993.

Mr. Lam Chi Chiu (#&#), aged 55, is a senior project manager
of our Company. He is primarily responsible for managing the
execution and completion of projects undertaken by our Group.
Since September 2016, Mr. Lam has been a divisional director of
Mannings.

Mr. Lam was admitted as member of the Institution of Civil
Engineers in December 1996, as chartered engineer of the
Engineering Council on July 1997, as member of the Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers in July 1997, and as member of the
Institution of Structural Engineers in October 1997. He was certified
as registered professional engineer in Hong Kong by Engineers
Registration Board from July 2013 to June 2014.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESENGHREEE

Mr. Lam graduated with a Bachelor of Engineering from the
University of Hong Kong in December 1992. He also obtained
a Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of London in the
United Kingdom in August 2007.

Mr. Yu Chun Kit (R%& #), aged 35, is the financial controller
and company secretary of our Company. Mr. Yu joined our Group
in January 2018 as the financial controller of Mannings and was
appointed as our company secretary in April 2018. He is responsible
for the overall financial management of our Group. Mr. Yu obtained
a Bachelor of Business Administration (Hons) in Accounting &
Finance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in October
2011. He was admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in July 2015.

Since September 2019, Mr. Yu Chun Kit has been appointed as
company secretary of Global Uin Intelligence Holdings Limited
(formerly known as Global Dining Holdings Limited), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8496). Since April 2022,
Mr. Yu Chun Kit has been appointed as independent non-executive
Director of Sinohope Technology Holdings Limited (formerly known
as New Huo Technology Holdings Limited), a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1611). Since March 2024, Mr.
Yu Chun Kit has been appointed as independent non-executive
Directors of WK Group (Holdings) Limited, a company listed on
Stock Exchange (stock code: 2535).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEIwmE

gl

BUSINESS REVIEW

We are an engineering consultant in Hong Kong with a focus on
the field of infrastructure developments. We have accumulated
our expertise in different branches of engineering, covering (i) civil
engineering mainly comprising road and structural engineering
as well as geotechnical engineering; (ii) traffic engineering; (iii)

building engineering; and (iv) landscape architecture.

For the Year, the Group recorded a profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company of approximately HK$28.1 million as
compared to the year ended 31 December 2023 during which
the Group recorded a profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company of approximately HK$28.2 million, indicating that profits
attributable to equity holders of the Company remained stable

across the two years.

OUTLOOK

The Group always strives to improve our operation efficiency and
profitability of our business. The Group will also proactively seek
opportunities to expand our customer base and our market share
and undertake more projects which will enhance value to our

shareholders.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Our revenue increased to approximately HK$187.3 million for the
Year by approximately HK$16.9 million or 9.9%, from approximately
HK$170.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. This was

principally due to an increase in projects awarded during the Year.

Cost of services

Our cost of service increased to approximately HK$125.2 million
for the Year by approximately HK$15.1 million or 13.8%, from
approximately HK$110.1 million for the year ended 31 December
2023. This was principally due to an increase in staff cost of
technical staffs and consultancy fee. The escalation in staff costs
can be attributed to rising labor expenses and a growing number
of technical personnel. Meanwhile, the increase in subconsultancy
fees was largely due to our reliance on additional subconsultants

for several newly awarded large-scale projects.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEWED

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Gross profit

During the Year, our Group’s gross profit increased to
approximately HK$62.1 million by approximately HK$1.7 million or
2.9%, from approximately HK$60.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2023. The increase was mainly due to the increase in
projects awarded, which more than offset the impact of rising costs

associated with services.

Other income
Other income amounted approximately HK$3.9 million for the
Year, which remain stable comparing to the financial year ended 31
December 2023.

Bargain purchase from business combination

On 11 August 2023, the Group has acquired Team 73 HK Limited
(“Team 73"), a landscape architecture company incorporated
in Hong Kong with limited liabilities, at a cash consideration
of HK$3,524,000. Team 73 was acquired so as to continue the
expansion of the Group's operations. For further detail please refer

to Note 30 of “The notes to the consolidated financial statements”.

Administrative expenses (including provision of expected
credit loss allowance)

Our administrative expenses (including provision of expected credit
loss allowance) amounted to approximately HK$32.5 million for the
Year, which remain stable comparing to the financial year ended 31
December 2023, as our management implemented cost-reduction
strategies on non-essential items throughout the year. This
thoughtful approach was focused on improving the company’s cash
flow and maintaining financial stability to address any unforeseen
challenges in the future, while still enabling us to invest in important

areas of our operations.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense increased by approximately HK$0.3 million
or 6.3% from approximately HK$4.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 to approximately HK$5.0 million for the Year, the
increase was mainly due to the increase in taxable profit for the

Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREWE DT

DIVIDEND POLICY

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the

dividend amount, the following will be taken into account, inter alia:
() the general financial condition of the Group;
(i) capital and debt level of the Group;

(iii) future cash requirements and availability for business
operations, business strategies and future development

needs;

(iv) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed

by the Group's lenders;
(v) the general market conditions; and
(vi) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and
any other applicable laws, rule and regulations and amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association (the “Articles”) of
the Company. The dividend policy of the Company will be reviewed
by the Board from time to time and there can be no assurance that

a dividend will be proposed or declared in any specific periods.

DIVIDEND

After taking into account the dividend policy of the Company
summarised above, the Board does not recommend the payment
of final dividend for the Year (2023: nil).

Together with the interim dividend of HK$0.05625 per ordinary
share paid to the Shareholder on 30 September 2024, the total cash
dividend for the Year will be HK$0.05625 (2023: HK$0.08125) per

ordinary share.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group financed our operations primarily through cash

generated from our operating activities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREWEE DT

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES (continued)

Cash and bank
As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s cash and bank balances
amounted to approximately HK$36.5million (2023: HK$67.5 million).

Net current assets
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had net current assets of
approximately HK$130.7 million (2023: HK$146.4 million).

Total equity

The equity of the Group mainly comprises share capital, share
premium and reserves. The Group's total equity attributable to
owners of the Company as at 31 December 2024 amounted to
approximately HK$136.2 million (2023: HK$153.1 million).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There has been no change in the capital structure of the Group

during the Year and up to the date of this report.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has adopted a conservative approach towards its
treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity position
throughout the Year. The Group strives to reduce exposure to credit
risk by performing ongoing credit assessments and evaluations of
the financial status of its customers. To manage liquidity risk, the
Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that
the liquidity structure of the Group's assets, liabilities and other

commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any contingent
liabilities (2023: nil).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, including our Directors and resident site
staff, the Group had a total of 473 employees (2023: 455).

18  Annual Report 3 2024

REBESRUMBERE)
BERBITER
RZZE-_NF+_A=1+—HBH AEENREN

RITHEBRBNSEEBT(ZE-=F:675
BEBIL) °
REBEEFE

R-Z-ME+-A=+—H AEENRHE
EFEANINVIBEER T (=4 1464
BEETT) °

AR

AEBOREEZBRERAN  BROEERERS -
RZBEZMF+ZA=+—HBARAEE ARG
NEBMAOESBEANI62BEEBTL(ZTE ==
FI81EEEL) °

BEAXRRRE
Eﬂiﬁrﬁﬁizﬁiﬁiﬁﬁﬁ AEBHERRE

R BUR

AEBRMFENEBEE AR FEER
REFNABESAN - AEEHNEBHEER
ETRHBEENHEMBERREENRDEER
b2 - REERBERER EFFTRVEELRE
BeyRBESMRR  UWHERAEEEE E\L
H AN RBESRBAMEETHNES
5o

RAREE

RZZZMF+ZA=+—H AEELETM
SABE(ZTEZ=F:M|) -
EERFMBR
RZZZMF+ZA=+—0 BEEZLEH
BT ANEEHEAHIBZHERERE(ZZE-_=F:
4554) o



Boltek Holdings Limited * B #HZEARBR AR

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREWE DT

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY
(continued)

We recognise employees as valuable assets and our success is
underpinned by our people. In line with our human resource
policies, we are committed to providing attractive remuneration
packages, and a fair and harmonious working environment to
safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of our employees.
The Group regularly reviews our human resource policies which
outline the Group’s compensation, working hours, rest periods
and other benefits and welfare, to ensure compliance with laws
and regulations. We always place emphasis on attracting qualified
applicants by offering competitive remuneration packages. These
packages are reviewed based on employees’ performance and
reference to prevailing market conditions, and are adjusted in a

timely manner to keep them in line with market benchmarking.

In addition, the Company has conditionally adopted a share option
scheme, (the "Share Option Scheme”) on 20 August 2018 so as to
motivate, attract and retain the right employees.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

Except as disclosed herein, the Group did not have any significant
investments during the Year and did not have any material
acquisition and disposal of subsidiary, associates or joint ventures

during the Year.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL
RISK MANAGEMENT

Capital management

Our Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity

balance.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure from
time to time. As a part of this review, the management considers
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of

capital.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL
RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Gearing ratio
Gearing ratio is calculated as total borrowings (including payables
incurred not in our ordinary course of business) divided by the total

equity as at the respective reporting dates.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's gearing ratio was nil (2023:

nil).

Foreign exchange exposure

All of the Group's assets, liabilities and transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The Directors do not consider
that the Group is exposed to any material foreign currency
exchange risk. Therefore, no hedging devices or any alternatives

have been implemented.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

Set out below are the significant events taking place during the

Year.

Change of board composition
Changes in information on Directors during the Year are set out

below:

Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam has resigned as an executive Director with
effect from 28 May 2024.

Mr. Pang Chun Sing George has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 16 July 2024.

EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR

The Group had no significant events from the end of the Year to

the date of this report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HgREBEE

INTRODUCTION =

This is the Environmental, Social, and Governance ("ESG") WIYHEEERERAR((RA8])) REKHBEA
report (the “Report”) published by Boltek Holdings Limited (the &) (#tfE = [A&E®E] =k [&EM]) FIZEH T =Y
“Company”), together with its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group” F—H—RAZZZ_MF+-_HA=+—H(XF
or "We"), for the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024  E|) #3835 i@ K& ([ESG)) e ([HE]) -
(the “Year"). This report provides a concise overview of the Group’s ~AMENFEAN S A G ER M A EEHIRE - 1
environmental, social, and governance ("ESG") initiatives, plans, & &EA ([ESG]) 5 - T8I LK - REBEE
and performance in a transparent manner. The Group committed ~ HRIEAEMGEd ST ([ELSEE]) ZE
to enhancing its corporate social responsibility ("CSR”) standards I EZ &8 <F B ESG B BN IERE AR A -

and rigorously adhered to complying with pertinent laws and

regulations concerning ESG.

The Group is principally engaged in providing engineering A&EEXZREREFARETEBERE 2
consultancy services, primarily focusing on road and structural FEREREEE IR sLIRERRBIRE.
engineering, geotechnical engineering, and traffic engineering in WA & T Fa&5H - AP B IR EREZBERE
Hong Kong, with decades of experience. We specialize in the field — %B1% o AN E N EER IR AR IR E T E KA
of infrastructure development. The Group has made dedicated B @ {fBERBEXEMAE HEEREHE TRERRS
efforts to deliver engineering consultancy services ethically and 4 » HI AL EELEHRERE ©

professionally while upholding environmental integrity. Additionally,

we actively contribute to the community.

The Report has been prepared under the ESG Reporting Guide ARETIRETBH AR ZMER A ([ EFHEB
as set out in Appendix C2 of the GEM Listing Rules of The Stock R FT) GEM 71 #3 BIFf £ C2 FT & ESG i & 38 5l
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited ("HKEX"). This Report has  #F& o AN E 2 & <F ESG ¥ 5 45 5| Bl 19 Fr B 58
adhered to all mandatory disclosure requirements and “comply or  $IEFEIRE M [T BT AR |53

explain” provisions specified in the ESG Reporting Guide.

The Report is prepared based on the principles of “materiality”, AREDIREIEZMH] T2 R[—HHEIH
"quantitative”, and “consistency”. JREITARE o

Materiality: The materiality assessment was conducted to ensure  E B : EITE BT AR ZIRE RN IEHE
that material and relevant ESG topics are identified and included in ~ ESG# @ « W #§ E A A A TRE -
this Report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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INTRODUCTION (continued)

Quantitative: Quantitative key performance indicators (“KPlIs") data,
which are comparable to the previous year, are disclosed in the
Report with supplementary notes when necessary for stakeholders’

understanding.

Consistency: The Report has been prepared based on the same
calculation methodologies, standards, and reporting scope

throughout the year and compared to the previous year.

BOARD STATEMENT
The Group has integrated an ESG strategy into our business

operations, comprising risk assessment, strategy formulation, and
decision-making processes. The Group has established a framework
to align its ESG governance, which primarily consists of the board
of directors (referred to as the "Board”), the ESG Working Group,
and designated personnel from operational departments.

The Board, comprising members with the requisite skills,
experience, knowledge, and perspectives, serves as the governing
body with ultimate responsibility for overseeing the Group's ESG
strategy, management, and reporting governance. We regularly
identify, monitor, and manage ESG-related risks and opportunities,
and establish ESG strategy and objectives.

To fulfil their supportive role, designated personnel from
operational departments are responsible for providing and
analyzing ESG data, assisting in formulating relevant strategies in
their respective working areas, and ensuring the effectiveness of
policy implementation in line with the strategies and objectives
endorsed by the Board. Regular meetings are conducted between
the Board and the designated personnel from operational
departments to address ESG-related matters, assess policy
implementation processes, and evaluate risks, targets, and

strategies pertaining to the Group's ESG initiatives.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERERRE

BOARD STATEMENT (continued)

The regular ESG meetings provide ongoing monitoring of the
ESG work process. By convening ESG meetings regularly, the
Group ensures that our ESG strategy and objectives remain
aligned with broader business goals. Additionally, the meetings
play a crucial role in ensuring compliance with legal requirements
and meeting stakeholders’ expectations. Regulatory frameworks
related to environmental protection, social responsibility, and
corporate governance are constantly evolving, making it essential
for the Group to stay abreast of changes and adapt their practices
accordingly. ESG meetings provide an opportunity to assess
the Group's compliance status, identify any gaps or areas of

improvement, and take proactive measures to address them.

All ESG-related disclosure, policies, goals and targets are reviewed
and endorsed by the Board, which is also tasked with ensuring the
implementation and effectiveness of the risk management and

internal control systems.

Example metrics in the main categories of ESG include:

Environmental
Safeguarding of
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the environment, emission,

energy saving.
R
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Sustainability

A FEER

Governance
Compliance,
transparency,
business ethic and
commitment to stakeholder,
anti-corruption.
=)
EHM - BHE
EEEERE R NE
B REER o

Social
Community
involvement, fair and
safe working conditions,
labour policy, equality
and diversity.
e
HEL2HE  RFREZEH
TGS - BTHER
FERZTTE
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Boltek Holdings Limited * EEZEARBR A A

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R HERERRE

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT FhhESH

We acknowledge our responsibility and accountability to all  HFPIEREMEMEFHENEEREH - AT
stakeholders. To understand and address their concerns, we R ERFEEMTHME  RAEBEREEY
maintain close communication with them. Through various Eifl - ZMEBASEEIANIEEARBRERSE
formal and informal channels, we gather their opinions to gain M ER L2 HE 7 HESHAIFEZENE LR
a comprehensive understanding of their perspectives and H12 - Z A EZ BN BEM BT S BEL FEFAT
expectations regarding sustainable development. This approach BN EA T o TRINE RSB FEHDE LR
aids us in fulfilling our social responsibilities and balancing the — BEill F P08 18 K B 5 46 -

interests of all stakeholders. The table below lists the Group's

stakeholders, and outlines our efforts in communication and

response.
Stakeholder
Groups Specific Stakeholders Methods of Communication Expectations
BOEER AREROE BB E AH
Investors o Shareholders o Corporate website o Return on investment
REE o KRR o RAM o REAMDHK
o Potential investors e Annual and interim financial reports ~ ®  Corporate governance
o BEREE o FERPHHBERE o BXER
e Quarterly reports and announcement
o FERERAM
o Annual general meetings
o BRRBEFARE
o Disclosure of listed information
o BELTER
Employees o Senior management Direct communication Career development
(3 s SREEE BRER BEZR
o Staff Training and seminars Staff remunerations and benefits
« BT B R E B THMER

o Potential recruits

o EBEMEER

24 rnnual Report 3 2024

Face-to-face meetings
AHEGH

Independent focus groups and
interviews
BURE/ERER

CSR and volunteering activities
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HgREBEE

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT (continuec) KESHE@E)
Stakeholder
Groups Specific Stakeholders Methods of Communication Expectations
BFHEER ARENE EBERHE A
Customers o Government authorities e Customer assessment o Service quality
xP o BRHE o EPHHA o RBKEE
o Highways Department o Periodical progress meeting o Delivery times
o BHE o THEERSZ o REHME
o Transport Department o Compliance in laws and regulations
o EHE o BTERER
o Civil Engineering and Development

Department
o ITAIRHREE

o Water Supplies Department

o KBE

o Drainage Services Department
o RHE

o Construction contractors

o BEAEE

o Property developers

o NEEREB

o Public transportation corporation

o REEHRF

o Architectural firm

o RESHM
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R HERERRE

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT (continued) K ESRE

Stakeholder

Groups Specific Stakeholders Methods of Communication Expectations

BHEARN  ARBnE BELE ki

Suppliers o Subcontractors o Subcontractor assessment *  Engagement and cooperation
HIER « NBEB o NBEEHE o 2HAAHE

o Daily work review

o GHIfFR:

e Site inspection

o WBBEE

*  Meeting with sub- contractors

o 2RNEE

Government ¢ Local governments o Written correspondence o Compliance with laws and regulations
and o KEMM o EEEA o BTARER
Regulators ¢ Regulators o Statutory reports and general disclosure

B REE o EEHE o FEBRER-—REE
®E
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERERRE

MATERIALITY ANALYSIS

In order to ensure that the Report effectively addresses the
concerns of our stakeholders, we have conducted a materiality
assessment that considers both relevance and importance. This
assessment enables us to identify and prioritize the ESG topics
that are most significant to our business and stakeholders. By
focusing on these material ESG topics, we can pinpoint areas for
improvement in our CSR efforts. Additionally, this approach allows
us to provide more comprehensive, transparent, and specific
responses, thereby enhancing the overall quality of the ESG

management.

We have adopted the following steps in the materiality assessment

pprocess:

1. ldentified and categorized a list of potential topics in
environmental and social aspects, respectively, based on

stakeholder concerns and the Group's business.

2. Conducted a materiality assessment to measure the

importance of each topic.

3. Analyzed, prioritized, and selected the most significant and
relevant topics for stakeholders by the Group.

The following issues are considered the most concerned for
stakeholders and the Group. With a focus on environmental and
social responsibilities, the Group will prioritize efforts to achieve
ongoing improvement and sustainable business development.
Environmental Energy saving
aspects: Waste Management
Social aspects: Employment
Employee compensation and welfare
Employee development and training
Customers satisfaction
Compliance with laws and regulations relating
to services provided

Services quality

BEEMSW

RERAREERRERHEBEOHME - M
BETET AR REZ N EE M - %
ELEMEUHENRBEZERERMOEBL K
BNESKEENESGHE BRI ITNZEEE
ESGi#mE MM AT AR XL SGEETIERH
EUCE MR o AN AR RMIESARME
2H- - ERRKEBHOEEER  MIESESGE
BrEEEE -

BACREZUFGEBRETFRAUTIR

—

REFNENE IR ASENER - 2RlH
RIRDBERREEH G ENEERBTIR -

2. ETERUNGNFESEZENERM -

3. AKRER/RFBNHELSN BEHFFREERERE
B RIBREAERE ©
AT HBHE RPN ERAKRE SR INEE -

ERREAMEEE  AEEKELARINER
FERELAFERTER -

RESE :  E#E

EEYE TR
MHteErm: BE
BITHFHEEANE
8 T 3R EE
EEMEE

T BT AR TS B B R AR

REEE

Annual Report 3 2024 27




Boltek Holdings Limited * EEZEARBR A A

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RR - HERERRE

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Emissions

The Group understands that reducing emissions is essential
for safeguarding the environment, conserving biodiversity, and
promoting sustainable economic development. The primary source
of air pollutants emitted by the Group includes carbon emissions
from the consumption of unleaded petrol from motor vehicles,
electricity, and paper. To minimize our environmental impact, the
Group promotes the use of public transportation among staff.
When driving is necessary, we prioritize the use of unleaded petrol
for all motor vehicles, which has lower greenhouse gas emissions
and better fuel economy. Additionally, the Group regularly
maintains and repairs its vehicles to prevent excessive air pollutant
emissions caused by damaged parts or other factors. In the future,
efforts to minimize overall petrol consumption and transition to
alternative fuels, such as electric or hydrogen-powered vehicles, will

be pursued by the Group when practicable.

Despite the relatively minor impact of emissions generated by the
Group on the environment, we remain dedicated to implementing
effective measures to advance environmental protection and foster
sustainable societal development. These efforts align with pertinent

emission laws and regulations.

RERE

BB

AREBERA - B HRRE R ERIR - REE
MERUERRELENHEEZREFER - £ %
BB ERSARYN I ERREEESENE
tTH  BEORMEKBRMEENBER - RF
ERIHRENTE AKEREEIEARK
RBIR -EAELVERSBER  HMELAMAHK
BEME)Uh - HAFFEANREREHR R
F A EVOM B o BEAN - NEBEEHH BEEE
TTREREE - U IERTHEEREMERE
Xz RS R B ER - R ARBEREDE
AITHBER TR IRNEER D EETUHEFRE
WERBERRE  MESHHEE)TE -

BEASRBELNFRYEREELNTERY
B BRPUDBD R REVE BRI - AHEEIR
BRENRELENTHEER - ZFHETR
MR PEROERER

Air emissions from vehicles REBEHPBER IR
Unit FY2024 FY2023
B —E_NBE —E-—8F
Nitrogen Oxides (NOy) A8ty gram %% 1,128.31 3,014.37
Sulphur Oxides (SOx) =k 7] gram 5% 25.62 33.35
Respiratory Suspended Particles (PM) BLSUN =2 v gram 7% 83.08 221.94
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HgREBEE

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continuec) RERE @)
Emissions (continued) BEm Y (&)
Greenhouse gas emissions BERBHER
Types of GHG Unit FY2024 FY2023
REREE B “E-MEF ke Sl -
Direct emissions (Scope 1): B (BE)
~ GHG emissions from mobile - RERSRERN  CO,Z&AfbHx tonne I 4.1 5.35
combustion sources RERBHN CH, Fif kg T 9.26 16.07
NO' —&ft=—R' kg TR 597.06 664.30
Indirect emissions (Scope 2): REHE (5E2)
— Electricity purchased from CLP -BHREBEMESN  CO &R tonne I 123.02 65.97
Total emissions for Scope 1 & Scope 2 Z1E1 R&BE2REBHM  CO, =& LA tonne I 127.74 72.00
gas emissions BHmE
Emission intensity HHEE CO,—&1thx tonne/staff 073 0.42
M/ &8
Other indirect emissions (Scope 3): HfE S (EE3) :
— Paper waste disposals -BEREE CO, Z &1tk tonne & 19.24 21.52
— Electricity used for processing fresh ~ —BFEPIEEA KK  CO, =& bk kg T 154.27 121.59
water and sewage by government KRS N
department
Business air travel by employees BB =R EBKIT
— Emissions from air travel —ERRTEENHER  CO,Z& bk tonne I - -
Note: ks

1. Methane and nitrous oxide emissions were converted to carbon dioxide 1. Flak—f{t—AEHRERBEZIRE/LEE((GWP]) &

emissions based on global warming potential (“GWP"). The total amount of BRAE_SHRENE - RERBHENEEZN AL
greenhouse gas emissions is the total amount of carbon dioxide emissions FREEHRE -
equivalent.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RR - HERERRE

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)

Emissions (continued)

Greenhouse gas emissions (continued)

We reduced our consumption of unleaded petrol and electricity
during the Year. We implemented a more rigorous approval
process for the use of motor vehicles to restrict usage. Regarding
electricity consumption from office lighting, air conditioning, and
office equipment, we enforced and consistently reminded our
staff to switch off idle lighting and machines. Our air conditioning
systems were set to energy-saving temperatures to conserve
energy. Additionally, we maintained a zero-business air travel policy
by encouraging staff to utilize video conferencing facilities, thereby

reducing carbon emissions from unnecessary business trips.

The Group aims to decrease GHG emissions intensity by 2% in the
year 2026 compared to the 2021 baseline, primarily by transitioning
to hybrid cars in the near future. Additionally, despite ongoing
office expansion, we are actively pursuing this goal through the
implementation of stricter energy-saving measures and increased
utilization of natural sunlight to reduce GHG emissions from

electricity.

For the Year, the Group did not receive any notice of
non-compliance in relation to air or GHG emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes including but not limited to, such as the Air Pollution
Control Ordinance (Cap. 311) and Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap.
354).
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERERRE

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)
Reducing Waste and Promoting Recycling

The main source of non-hazardous waste for the Group is office
paper, given the usage of documents such as drawings, contracts,
and correspondence in our consultancy service. We generated
4.01 tonnes of wasted paper during the year, slightly down from
4.48 tonnes in 2023. The Group has initiated efforts to educate its
employees about the importance of reducing paper usage such as

below.

e Encourage staff to utilize digital documents and emails instead

of printing hard copies whenever possible

e  Set default printer settings to print double-sided to reduce
paper consumption and adjust margins and fonts to minimise

number of pages for printing

e Use file-sharing platforms or cloud storage to distribute

documents instead of printing multiple copies

e  Set up designated recycling bins for paper waste to ensure

that scrap paper is recycled

We do not produce a significant amount of hazardous waste from
our engineering consultancy service. Consequently, no relevant
targets have been established in this regard. Nevertheless, the
Group has established procedures for handling hazardous waste
whenever it arises. In the event that hazardous waste is identified,
the Group takes swift action to engage qualified suppliers
who specialize in its safe and proper management to ensure
that hazardous waste is handled in accordance with regulatory
requirements and industry best practices, thereby minimizing any

potential harm to the environment.

RIERE#®)

WAOBEY RRERWKFA
ERHEPREERESTEABER aRARHES
X AEBEEEEEVHNETERRAH LR
o MARFE  BRMEELIOIMBREL  BIER =
T=FR448E - AEBEEFAEEESE
BAOBREANEEM - IR °

o HEBTHRWRE
 FE7I ENAEAE A

ERBFXMRE T

o BITEHIMMRBRERTE AHEME TR D
MERBERYABRREBENTFTRUKRARE
iR D 5 EN B £

o FRAXHHREFEREFFHOENF Mk
SIENZ 10 Bl AR

o  REREAFMEUWAE
F

+ DABEOR B2 4 A] (@ 4R

BN IREERRETeELEREEEEEY -
Eit - BAVEL T E SR EIEEEEZE - A
AEBEHIERN AR ERREREEHREEMHRE
—BEAAEEREY  AEBSIRIKNITE -
REHEFREL I RAZEREEREEDNEGE
R FER - R A SEEMIRBEEHE IIT
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RR - HERERRE

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)
Reducing Waste and Promoting Recycling (continued)

Since the Group already minimizes paper consumption and
avoids unnecessary paper waste, we find that establishing a waste
reduction target may not be meaningful for us. Nevertheless, we
remain committed to further reducing our paper usage in the future

to the best of our ability.

The Group is dedicated to implementing the concept of a green
office and remains steadfast in reducing electricity consumption

through measures such as the following:

e Educate employees about the importance of energy
conservation and encourage them to adopt energy-saving
habits, such as turning off lights and equipment when not in

use

e  Set office temperature at an energy-saving level of around
25T

e Make use of natural daylight by positioning workstations near

windows

RERE @)

D RS A HE B R A ()
HRAKEDZERSRFOERLER T LEDN
MRORE - HPIERRERLBEEMNBIRAIEE
HRFAMSLEEE - AW RADBORER
REBEERBNE-DRIEREHE

AEBBRNREBZERLAES  YBETBIM
BRIA TR E DR

e HEEIHRMNERN UHBRFEME
REEE - PlanE INME R RERTE Ot Rk 1B

o BMAEREREECTEAMEIRKF

s HBIUMBEEERLEFPMUEUNMAE

Electricity consumption during the Year TEEREER
Unit FY2024 FY2023
B —ECNME T HF
Total electricity consumption BHE=E kWh F ELBF 195,275.00 178,285.00
Electricity usage intensity (kWh/Staff) REZE(TRE EE8) kwh TRE 1,415.04 1,042.60

The increase in energy consumption during the Year is due to
the expansion of our office area. This expansion was undertaken
with the primary objective of enhancing the working environment
for our staff members. As we expanded our physical workspace
to accommodate the growing needs of our team, it led to higher
energy usage to power the additional office spaces, equipment,
and facilities. In the coming year, we will continue our efforts to
achieve the target of reducing electricity usage intensity to around
900 kWh per staff member. This will involve maintaining energy
usage at a minimum by utilizing energy-saving lighting and electric

appliances wherever feasible.

32
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERERRE

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)

Water Management

Our engineering consultancy services contribute to water
consumption primarily through office operations, including
cleaning, sanitation, restroom facilities, and employee amenities.
We have not encountered any significant issues in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose. The Group regularly investigates water leaks
and employs water-saving techniques to minimize unnecessary
water consumption. Additionally, by promoting simple daily
practices and enhancing internal communication, the Group fosters
awareness among employees regarding the significance of water

conservation.

The data provided below records fresh water consumption in
specific areas of our head office. The management of water
consumption records for other areas is handled by the property
management company, making it unavailable for us to access.
Consequently, the Group aims to reduce water consumption in the

areas under our monitoring for the upcoming year.

To achieve the target of maintaining low consumption and
avoiding unnecessary water usage, the Group will keep track of
water consumption regularly to identify areas for improvement.
Additionally, the Group will continue to conduct routine inspections
for leaks in pipes and toilets, promptly repairing any leaks to

prevent wastage.

RIERE#®)

RAXKER

RPN IEEMREEEZEBNAEBEEELRK
BIEBFR -HE HAEEKGNETEFRE-
HPERBGEA KRS B EE B EANMRE -
AN B TF B SRR S 5R A ER KT - DASR
ERITIVENRAKE - 1IN BBEEHSELN
AFREBRNIAANSER TEEIBEE THE
HWAKEZEMENER -

SR BUR RO SRR PI AR BD A TE [ I HO A O
FE - HtRENAKCEAYEEERAREER
B BRRMEZEHMEBCE - At - K&
[ 50 B AR A R 2K — IR A TR AP BRI R 38 A A 7K

E°

REBHEFRERKE R T HERKNEIE
AREEK T HERAKE - URBHIFEENENE
o AN NEE R B L E B R PTIRKETT
FIITIRE - REEERK - UHLERE -

Water consumption during the Year AEERAKER
Unit FY2024 FY2023
B ZBoORE —To=FF
Total water consumption BAKE m? 37 77 K 59 197.00
Water consumption intensity FRKEE(TERE BE) mdiikK 0.34 1.15

(kWh/Staff)
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RR - HERERRE

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)

The Environment and Natural Resources

Despite the Group's limited impact on the environment and
natural resources, we acknowledge our responsibility to mitigate
any adverse environmental effects in our business operations. The
Group continually identifies, evaluates, and addresses its exposure
to environmental risks and adopts suitable preventive measures to

mitigate these risks.

The Group implements policies and initiatives aimed at reducing
emissions and conserving resources to protect the environment and
natural resources. By enacting these measures, we aim to decrease
our carbon footprint and promote sustainable practices throughout
our organization. Additionally, we prioritize enhancing employee
awareness regarding environmental concerns by providing them
with practical guidance and actionable tips. These resources are
designed to empower our staff to actively participate in efforts
to reduce energy consumption and GHG emissions. Through
education and support, we foster a culture of environmental
responsibility. The Group will also closely monitor any revisions or
updates to relevant environmental and natural resource laws and

regulations to ensure compliance.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HgREBEE

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)

Climate Change

Climate change continues to be a serious and pressing issue in

recent years. The Group has evaluated potential climate-related

risks that could impact our business and categorized them, along

with corresponding mitigation measures, as outlined below.

Physical risks

Acute risks

= B

RERE @)

RIREE

EFER - RIREEDNAR-—BEBREABERRED
B - AEBEFHARZERMEBREER
RAEBAR  YHEETHE  ARSIEHEED
RRERTE N A0 R XXRTA -

YD [ B

Chronic risks

18 1 ELBR

Risks description
JeR e i 3t

Risk management
measures

[\ Bz B TR AR it

Transition risks

Extreme weather events such as tropical
cyclones, rainstorms or floods can directly
impact the Group's operations by damaging
infrastructure, disrupting utilities, and
disrupting staff availability.

AWRIE BNIOOKERIHERREH TS
WImERRRE B AREERTVEET
A EMERZERKENEE -

The staff handbook of the Group includes
policies regarding work arrangements during
extreme weather conditions, such as black
rainstorm warnings or typhoons of a certain
magnitude or higher.

AEENEIFMHEERNBCEREETIETE
BE LA EARERmARER T TIELHE
HVIRR o

Legal risk

The Group may face heatwaves, which increase
energy demand for cooling and pose health
risks to employees

AREBAEHEBRAVR - EIE L AEERT K -
W¥ B THKRERR -

We would offer training to employees to
identify symptoms of heat-related illnesses
and implement energy-saving measures.

AP R B TRHEE - LABS R IRE BN K
TR I B HE B0 AR HE 7

BIE R

Risks description
Jee e 4 2t

Risk management
measures

[\ B2 & SR 4 e

Failure to comply with climate-related regulations, such as emissions limits, reporting

requirements, and environmental standards, can result in fines, penalties, and legal sanctions

from regulatory authorities.

REEBTRIRARENR - PIABEARS] - |EBRLIRBFE

Ba & OB B ©

AREEEHEERBATIN

The Group would regularly monitor climate-related regulations, stay updated on legal

requirements, and provide training for employees on compliance obligations.

AEBEKEREERRERER - RS TRERRTE  XAE TRHESREHZI -

Due to our industry expertise, we anticipate that shifts in customer

preferences will not significantly affect us. We remain vigilant in

monitoring regulatory developments to ensure our services align

with both regulatory and customers’ requirements.

BRI EE R - ROERH R PR
SR TRURPELEALE - BNYERESE
BREFL  NERRMABHEOEERE
REFER -
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RR - HERERRE

EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR PRACTICES

Recognizing employees as invaluable assets essential to the
Group'’s success, the Group is committed to fostering an inclusive
work environment conducive to attracting and retaining talent.
We've established a thorough human resources framework with
policies and procedures outlined in our staff handbook, covering
compensation, recruitment and dismissal, performance appraisal,

employee welfare, as well as training and development initiatives.

During the Year, to the best of the Group’s knowledge, we did not
have any instance of non-compliance in relation to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunities, diversity, antidiscrimination and other
benefits and welfare such as the Sex Discrimination Ordinance,
Race Discrimination Ordinance, Disability Discrimination Ordinance

and Family Status Discrimination Ordinance.

Recruitment and dismissal

We have implemented a fair recruitment policy with the objective
of selecting the most suitable candidates. To foster diversity
and equality within our workforce, we welcome candidates from
all backgrounds, regardless of gender, age, race, family status,
religion, or disability. This approach promotes an inclusive and
equitable workplace environment where every individual has the

opportunity to thrive and contribute effectively.

Our recruitment process adheres to principles of fairness,
transparency, and compliance with both legal and organizational
standards. We employ rigorous screening procedures to verify
applicants’ age, qualifications, skills, and past experience. Our

policy strictly prohibits the employment of child labour.
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R HERERRE

EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)

Recruitment and dismissal (continued)

Employment contracts, which outline the terms and conditions
of employment such as job responsibilities and working hours,
are signed between the Group and employees to provide clarity,
protection, and legal certainty in the employment relationship. The

stipulated working No forced labour is allowed.

In our commitment to fostering the growth of the next generation
of professionals, we have established an internship program
tailored for university students. This initiative aims to cultivate new
talents not only for the Group but also for the broader construction
industry. The program provides university students with full-time
training opportunities during their summer vacations, enabling
them to gain valuable work experience prior to entering the labour

market.

Dismissal and termination of employment within our organization
are strictly conducted on legal grounds, ensuring fairness and
prohibiting any form of unjust or discriminatory dismissal. If
any cases of child labour, forced labour, or violations of labour
standards are discovered, the employment relationship will be
promptly terminated. Subsequent investigations will be conducted
to review the recruitment procedure and address any identified
weaknesses. During the Year, the Group did not have any non-

compliance relating to child or forced labour prevention.
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EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)

Retention

In our efforts to attract and retain talented staff, we provide
competitive remuneration packages and benefits to our employees,
with the aim of boosting job satisfaction and fostering loyalty. To
acknowledge employees’ contributions and promote growth, the
Group conducts regular performance appraisals. These reviews
occur annually, allowing employees to openly discuss their
performance and career aspirations with their supervisors. The
outcomes of these evaluations are utilized for salary reviews and

promotion decisions.

Also, we create a positive organizational culture where all staff
members are valued, respected, and empowered to perform
at their best. Any forms of discrimination or harassment in the
workplace are not allowed. This is reflected in the formulation
and implementation of equal opportunity policies, which adhere
to applicable laws and regulations. Employees are strongly
encouraged to report any instances of discrimination to the
management, who will be responsible for assessing, investigating,
documenting, and rectifying weaknesses in substantiated cases.
Should any incidents of discrimination be observed, employees
are expected to promptly report such occurrences. The Group will
then conduct thorough investigations and implement appropriate

follow-up measures to ensure a fair and inclusive work environment.
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EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)

Staff Composition and turnover

As of December 31, 2024, we have 174 full-time staff (compared to
171 in 2023), marking an increase from the previous year, excluding
resident side staff, all based in Hong Kong. The growth in our
workforce reflects our expanding operations and organizational
development. Additionally, the composition of our workforce
indicates a higher presence of male employees, which aligns with

the characteristics of our industry.
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EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR PRACTICES (continued) EBERFEILERE)

Staff Composition and turnover (continued) BITARRRK(E)

Through various initiatives and strategies, including enhanced BE@EEREENLERE @ BIELHGHES T2 82|
employee engagement programs and targeted retention efforts,  NE ¥ MHEAHEE T1E - RAFIKID B%{EE,,,L%T °
the company has successfully reduced turnover rates. In the Year, RAFE  KREEHESRIEI18%(M_T ==
the Group recorded a turnover rate of 18% (compared to 22% in  F I E22%) » £ENH(ZE - =F 385%) &
2023), with a total of 31 (2023: 38) permanent employees (excluding HIEE (MBIEEE &) BER - 12145 - FHeH R
interns) departing. Further breakdowns of turnover by gender, age ~ RibE &5 8 8 T KA E —FRAH W T -

group, and geographical region are provided below:
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EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)
Staff Welfare

In addition to complying with labor laws and regulations, The Group
prioritizes staff welfare by offering comprehensive remuneration
packages to all employees. These packages ensure that employees
are fairly compensated based on their contributions, benchmarked
against market standards. Alongside competitive salaries, we
provide various types of leave entitlements, including sick leave,
marriage leave, bereavement leave, maternity leave, and statutory

holidays.

We adhere to relevant local laws by making requisite contributions
to statutory retirement schemes. Medical insurance coverage is
offered to employees, ensuring their health and well-being are
safeguarded. To further enhance staff welfare, The Group organizes
staff and family overseas trips, providing opportunities for
relaxation and bonding outside of the workplace. These trips offer
employees and their families the chance to unwind and rejuvenate
in an exciting environment, away from the stresses of work. Beyond
relaxation, these trips also serve as valuable opportunities for
bonding and fostering deeper connections among team members

and their families.

Furthermore, The Group promotes continuous learning and
professional growth by offering education allowances for work-
related training and allowances for job-related membership
registrations, such as membership with professional organizations

like The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers ("HKIE").
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EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)
Health and Safety

The nature of our consultancy services, with no positions identified
as having significant safety risks, inherently carries minimal risks to
employees’ health and safety. Nevertheless, the Group is dedicated
to ensuring a safe workplace and prioritizes the health and
safety of its employees. All employees are thoroughly briefed on
occupational health and safety issues, and we actively encourage
their participation in job-related safety training courses offered by

reputable organizations like the HKIE.

Additionally, we provide suitable office equipment and offer
guidance on office occupational health and safety practices to our
staff. First aid boxes are strategically placed in easily accessible
locations throughout the offices for immediate use in case of
emergencies, and minor injuries are promptly treated upon
request. Furthermore, we emphasize the importance of a balanced
lifestyle to promote employee personal growth, health, and overall
well-being. This includes encouraging practices that support
physical health, mental well-being, and work-life balance among
our staff. To ensure a healthy work environment, we regularly
monitor office air quality through the use of air purifiers and

conduct periodic cleaning of the air-conditioning system.

There were neither work injury cases nor job-related fatalities in
the previous three years. The Group did not receive any notices of
non-compliance regarding providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational hazards during the

Year.
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EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)

Development and Training

The continuous success of the Group relies heavily on the
invaluable contributions of our talented individuals. Consequently,
fostering talent and refining the skills of our workforce are crucial for
sustaining business growth and ensuring the Group's competitive
advantage within the industry. The Group has established relevant
policies for managing employee training, encouraging participation
in both internal and external training sessions, and pursuing
professional qualifications. The Group provides an induction
course for new staff members, ensuring they become familiar
with the Group's values, code, goals, organizational structure,
job responsibilities, and industry standards. Attendance at the
induction meeting is mandatory for all new hires to facilitate their
understanding of these aspects of the firm.

The Group consistently evaluates its training methods to support
our employees in achieving their full potential. We regularly
organize a variety of training programs to keep our staff members
abreast of the latest developments and knowledge in their
respective fields. To facilitate continuous development for less
experienced staff, supervisors are responsible for providing on-the-
job training to their subordinates from time to time. Our in-house
training covers a wide range of subjects, including safety protocols,
stakeholder communication, operational procedures, and technical
training (e.g., building design, geotechnical work, and noise
barriers). We also encourage our staff to participate in job-related
training provided by external associations. Additionally, we offer
training sponsorships for courses considered relevant to their job
duties on a discretionary basis.

Throughout the year, 61% of permanent employees engaged in
training sessions, averaging 4.06 hours each. When broken down
by gender, 63% of male employees and 52% of female employees
participated, with average training durations of 4.12 hours and
3.85 hours, respectively. In terms of career level, the percentages
of permanent employees participating in training were 35% for
senior-level staff, 46% for middle-level staff, and 73% for entry-
level staff. The average durations of training activities for each of
these categories were 10.61 hours, 3.52 hours, and 4.02 hours,

respectively.
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OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply Chain Management

Since the Group's principal activity is in engineering consultancy
services, our supply chain primarily consists of subcontractors
offering engineering consultancy to the Group, along with suppliers
handling our administrative supplies. During the Year, the Group
engaged 36 subcontractors and suppliers in our supply chain,
compared to 42 in the year 2023. Additionally, over 97% of them
were based in Hong Kong. To cultivate robust and trustworthy
relationships with these stakeholders, the Group has implemented
a policy on subcontracting and procurement procedures. Before
onboarding a new subcontractor and supplier, we adhere to our
established policy, conducting a fair and equal selection process.
This involves conducting background checks from available sources
to evaluate suppliers based on their expertise, qualifications,
reputation, environmental compliance, legal regulatory adherence,
and commitment to the Group. Subcontractors and suppliers
meeting our criteria are added to our approved list of suppliers,
which is regularly updated by the Group. Preference is given
to those who undertake to comply with our requirements and
related environmental and social laws and regulations. Suppliers
and subcontractors who were previously found in violation of
environmental and social-related laws and regulations would be
engaged unless sufficient and supportive evidence shows that such

weaknesses have been rectified.
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OPERATING PRACTICES (continued)
Supply Chain Management (continued)

We expect all suppliers and subcontractors to adhere to the
standards of environment, quality, society, and commercial ethics.
We monitor the performance of our subcontractors through
occasional meetings and daily deliverables, such as work reports.
Reports received from site offices also aid us in assessing their
performance. Suppliers are monitored based on the routine
services provided and goods delivered. If any delivered services or
goods are found to be below our standard, they will be required
to make improvements. Goods procured with accreditation must
provide corresponding certification documents. The Group reserves
the right to impose penalties or terminate contracts with suppliers
and subcontractors involved in serious environmental pollution or

social disputes, such as human rights issues.

Service Responsibility

Qur client base primarily consists of construction contractors
engaged in civil engineering and building construction projects,
various government authorities, and other clients such as public
transportation corporations and property developers. With such
diverse clients, we bear significant responsibility in delivering
professional and high-quality services. To uphold these standards,
we've developed a comprehensive internal control manual and
compliance manual. These manuals outline ethical standards,
including anti-corruption, anti-bribery, and anti-discrimination
policies. Additionally, the internal control manual delineates
operational procedures for daily tasks to ensure thorough review,

approval, and compliance with customers’ standards.
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OPERATING PRACTICES (continued)

Service Responsibility (continued)

Prior to presenting our deliverables to clients, all of our work
undergoes a standardized review and approval process. This
procedure is designed to ensure that our deliverables are as error-
free and aligned with the clients’ requirements as practicable. Each
stage of our workflow involves thorough scrutiny and verification,
enabling us to identify and rectify any potential mistakes or
omissions before the final presentation to the client. By adhering
to this rigorous review and approval protocol, we uphold our
commitment to delivering high-quality solutions that meet and

exceed our clients’ expectations.

The Group's attainment of ISO9001:2015 certification underscores
its commitment to maintaining exceptional standards in quality
management within the realm of engineering consultancy services.
It shows the Group's dedication to consistently delivering top-notch
services that meet or exceed industry benchmarks. 1ISO9001:2015
certification signifies adherence to rigorous quality management
protocols, ensuring that the Group's processes, procedures, and
methodologies are structured to optimize efficiency, effectiveness,
and client satisfaction. By obtaining this certification, the Group
demonstrates its capability to uphold stringent quality standards,
instilling confidence among clients and stakeholders in the

reliability and excellence of its services.

A complaint-handling policy has been established as a guideline for
addressing complaints. Contact details, including a hotline number
and email address, are posted on the Group's website for public
consultation regarding the services we provide and the projects
we are carrying out. All complaints will be handled directly by our
management. All information published on the Group's website is

carefully examined by responsible personnel.
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OPERATING PRACTICES (continued)

Service Responsibility (continued)

As regards customer data privacy, the Group encounters sensitive
information of customers typically during the tendering stage.
To obtain the consent of our customers in providing data to
us, an agreement over information confidentiality is signed and
appended to each contract. The agreement informs customers
of our purposes for collecting their information and assures them
that the Group will restrict the use of the information to the stated
purposes. Furthermore, it stipulates that the Group will not disclose
the sensitive information to any third party without the customers'’

consent.

The Group is committed to protecting intellectual rights. We
protect intellectual property rights by purchasing from authorised
suppliers to ensure that only licensed software is used for our
business operations. In addition, we required all staff members not
to infringe any third-party interests.

During the year, the Group did not note any cases of non-
compliance with laws and regulations relating to health and safety,
advertising, labeling, and privacy matters related to the services

provided.
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OPERATING PRACTICES (continued)

Anti-corruption

To uphold our commitment to integrity, openness, probity, and
accountability, we strictly adhere to our anti-corruption policy. This
policy is outlined in our internal control manual and compliance
manual, which address various related matters such as conflicts
of interest, privacy, confidentiality of information, and bribery
prevention. The Group encourages employees to report any
concerns about misconduct, malpractice, or irregularities in a
confidential manner. We handle these concerns anonymously
and respond to them fairly and appropriately by following our
Group's whistleblowing policy. This policy aims to regulate and
prevent issues related to bribery, extortion, fraud, and money
laundering. Employees who raise concerns or complaints are
guaranteed protection against unfair dismissal, victimization, or
unwarranted disciplinary action, even if the concerns are ultimately
unsubstantiated. Any individuals found to victimize or retaliate
against whistleblowers will face disciplinary actions. However, the

Group did not receive any complaints during the Year.

Throughout the year, newly hired employees receive
comprehensive training on our anti-corruption policy as part of
their induction process. Additionally, we regularly update the
understanding of our existing staff and directors on these anti-
corruption principles by circulating training materials provided
by the Independent Commission Against Corruption ("ICAC").
Furthermore, all senior management personnel are obligated to
sign confidentiality agreements and declare any conflicts of interest

to demonstrate their commitment to the Group's best interests.

For the Year, there were no legal cases or non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations relating to bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering practices brought against the Group or the

employees.
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COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

The Group is dedicated to fulfilling its role as a socially responsible
corporate citizen by actively engaging with the community,
contributing to societal welfare, and fostering mutual benefits for

the communities we support.

Throughout the year, the Group contributed a cash donation of
HK$50,000 to the YOU AND ME Foundation. The YOU AND ME
Foundation has been dedicated to educating the next generation
of youth in Hong Kong. The foundation collaborates with charitable
organizations, institutions, and groups from various regions,
providing social welfare services in a non-profit manner. Its mission
is to enhance youth understanding of national security, citizenship
education, and civic awareness for the betterment of Hong Kong

society.

We maintain our support to communities and individuals in need.
In 2024, we extended our assistance to the families of workers
affected by industrial accidents. Understanding the hardships faced
by families who have lost loved ones in workplace incidents, The
Group donated a total of HK$40,000 to the families of two industrial
accident victims. These contributions were made to provide
immediate financial relief and demonstrate our solidarity with those

impacted by such tragedies.

In addition, we also made cash donation to Taishan Charitable
Association Limited, which Established with the aim of alleviating
suffering, there are no political, religious, or class differences within
it, allowing everyone to unite and promote selfless love, pushing

charitable work in healing and alleviating suffering to the world.

HESH
AEBBRNRBETELGEELAREE  BE2
B RER SHERIIEER - XHESHRFIF
XENHREREEER -

RAFEHE  A"&EEMYOUAND MEA & &
IB& 4B 7 50,0008 7T - YOU AND MEE & & —
HBOREBEREET —REF & gHKE
Bl EMNESHELE  BEFEEAE  UES
FMERNRHT SRR - HEGR RS FY
HRZE 2RABFMRARZHNEM SR
L -

BPFEXEAERTENHEMEA -£-F -1
FoRARNRIZZBRFENTARERHTIE
By THRIETIIESMBELERINEHEHRESR
EBRAMHEBORE  AEERAME TEERT
EERERM T H 40,0008 T - BLIBHE
RS EEERD - YR TRMANTFER
FEH)RYIRE 1 B ST HF o

AN BATRFELAREERARMELRESR
Fo MEEEELAE  MKE]  RBABEHE
B ORBTRHIRE RERMER RARENE
FHMARRALHB N - BHELAE - $8HK
TREL(FHERAZER  EBARE-

Annual Report 3 2024 49




k } Boltek Holdings Limited * EEZEARBR A A

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RR - HERERRE

MOVING FORWARD f& 8RR
As we continue to grow our business, our dedication to @EERMEBFELE  BRMOBRREERH
environmental preservation remains unwavering. We are committed B2 40884 - MBI RN E BB R HRTF
BB RS &R
our impact on the environment and actively engaging in social ©MEHSHEIT T AARREN  AdEalE
initiatives and contributions to benefit the public, thus creating #FABE °

to advancing our corporate social responsibility efforts by reducing £/ &R £2 B4t &

enduring value for the community.

PERFORMANCE SUMMARY REBE
Environmental Performance RIRKRB
Unit 2024 2023
B —E-EF —T_=F
Nitrogen Oxides (NOy) g=R ) gram %% 1,128.31 3,014.37
Sulphur Oxides (SOx) ey gram 5% 25.62 33.35
Respiratory Suspended Particles (PM) A% A 5 )Z T (PM) gram 72 83.08 221.94
Greenhouse gas emissions R = RSP
Types of GHG Unit FY2024 FY2023
BERBER B —EWE —EZ=F
Direct emissions (Scope 1): B (EET)
- GHG emissions from mobile -REBERERN CO: ALK tonne M 4.11 5.35
combustion sources HERR CH. ke kg 7 9.26 16.07
N.O—8(fE=R kg F5=m 597.06 664.30
Indirect emissions (Scope 2): B (B E2)
— Electricity purchased from CLP —-mhEBENEH CO, ALK tonne 123.02 65.97
Total emissions for Scope 1 & #E1 RBE2REHR CO, — Rk tonne 1 127.74 72.00
Scope 2 gas emissions OECE e
Emission intensity PEREE CO, Z&ALiiR tonne/staff 0.73 0.42
/B8
Other indirect emissions (Scope 3): HenfZ g (8 3)
— Paper waste disposals ~BEREE CO, Z& b tonne I 19.24 21.52
— Electricity used for processing —BUTERFI R I8 CO, Z&ftiix kg 52 154.27 121.59
fresh water and sewage by WK & F 7K
government department PRARENE 7
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PERFORMANCE SUMMARY (continued) REBE %)
Environmental Performance (continued) BIERE (&)
Greenhouse gas emissions (continued) B B (4E)
Types of GHG Unit FY2024 FY2023
BRERBER B —E-NF ZEZ=F
Business air travel by employees EEMNZERABIKT
— Emissions from air travel —ZERRITE £ CO, —&1bhix tonne M - -
Note: MisE -

The methodology adopted for above KPI calculation set out above was based on “How ohoESCETEL M SR A U IR S E T B A B 5 A Ty B A B 3% BT 3%
to Prepare an ESG report? — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” BRI ERIBE HeREAMRE? — Mt — B EER

issued by the Stock Exchange. EIEIE 2 ®I52] | fEE -
Waste Disposals: EEYEE -
Unit 2024 2023
By —E-F —F-=
Hazardous waste produced BEEEVRE tonne I - -
Non-hazardous waste produced BEEZVRE
— Paper waste —REAK tonne Mf 4.01 4.48
Energy Consumption: BEJREFE -
Unit 2024 2023
B —E_F —E_=F
Electricity used for the year FRAMFEES kWh F & 195,275.00 178,285.00
Per employee BHEE kWh F F B 1,415.04 1,042.60
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PERFORMANCE SUMMARY (continued) RERRK %)
Environmental Performance (continued) REBE &)
Water Consumption: FEKE -
Unit 2024 2023
By —E-MEF —E=F
Water used for the year FRNFEKE m? 37 73 K 59.00 197.00
Per employee BEEER m? 37 73 K 0.34 1.15

*

approximation and the data available up to 31 December 2024.

Social Responsibility Performance - Employment Practice

The calculation of the above quantitative information is based on our best

HEEERR-EBRER

* BB EMNAEDEREMBE—T-_NF+=A
=+ HASNRELOSRREIE -

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

S S

—E-F —E-=fF

Unit +=A +=A

Total Workforce EEHRH By =+—H =+—H
By employment type REBERNZES

Full-time i no. of people A £X 174 171

Part-time B3 no. of people A - -

By gender R 1 BI85

Male St no. of people AL 138 128

Female 7% no. of people A & 36 43
By age group RERERE D

< 20 years old 205 AT no. of people A & - 1

21-30 years old 21-305% no. of people A £ 77 90

31-40 years old 31-40 3% no. of people AL 49 36

41-50 years old 41-50 5% no. of people AL 22 22

51-60 years old 51-60 5% no. of people AL 14 9

> 60 years old 0B _E no. of people A & 12 13
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PERFORMANCE SUMMARY (continued) REARR (&)
Social Responsibility Performance — Employment Practice HE&FFTXRE-ERER (&)
(continued)
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
S i
—E-IMF —F-=F
Unit t=A +=A
Total Workforce EEAEY B =t+—H =+—H
By geographical region R EE D
Hong Kong BB no. of people A £t 174 171
Others HAb no. of people A £X - -
By employee category REEERES
Senior Level =R no. of people A £X 19 18
Middle Level R no. of people AL 57 62
Entry Level R no. of people A & 98 91
Unit 2024 2023
Occupational Health and Safety B @EEHEZE B —E-MEF —E-_=
Work-related Fatalities ET/ERFRENET
Number of cases ESLS g no. of people A £X 0 0
Fatality rate & % Bt 0% 0%
Work Injury I
Number of lost days BRITERE no. of days H &k 0 0
Number of reported accidents WESWHEE no. of cases ZE 1 & 0 0
Injury rate ITHEx % B0 0% 0%
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PERFORMANCE SUMMARY (continued)

Social Responsibility Performance - Employment Practice

(continued)

RERK &)

HEBEERB-ERERE)

Unit 2024 2023
Employee Turnover EER K B —ENE —T-=
By gender RIER 8 5
Male ESgs % B L 18% 25%
Female pogi % B DL 17% 14%
By age group RERERE 2
< 20 years old 20BR AR % BADt - -
21-30 years old 21-30 5% % B 22% 31%
31-40 years old 31-40 5% % Bt 14% 22%
41-50 years old 41-50 7% % Bt 14% 9%
51-60 years old 51-60 5% % Bt 7% 0%
> 60 years old 60BR LA | % A7t 25% 0%
By geographical region R EE D
Hong Kong N % Bt 18% 22%
Others H A, % BN - -
Unit 2024 2023
Percentage of Employees Trained ZlzEEBS B —ENF —T-=
By gender =R &S
Male S % Bk 63% 60%
Female gl % Bt 52% 47%
By employee category REEERE D
Senior Level ESE % B 35% 22%
Middle Level R % B 46% 45%
Entry Level R % Bt 73% 71%
Average Training Hours Unit 2024 2023
per Employee BHEESN T IYEIRRE B —ENE —FT-_=
By gender gk
Male S hours /)N 4.12 3.95
Female 4 hours /JNiF 3.85 2.45
By employee category RESERE S
Senior Level = hours /N 10.61 9.88
Middle Level B R hours /] i 3.52 3.46
Entry Level A hours /|Nif 4.02 3.34

54  rnnual Report 3 2024



Boltek Holdings Limited * B #HZEARBR AR

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SREARE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of corporate transparency
and accountability. The Company is committed to achieving and
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance, as our Board
believes that good and effective corporate governance practices
are key to obtaining and maintaining the trust of the shareholders
of the Company and other stakeholders, and are essential for
encouraging accountability and transparency so as to sustain
the success of the Group and to create long-term value for the

shareholders of the Company.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix C1 of the GEM Listing Rules. To the best knowledge of
the Board, except as disclosed herein the Company has complied
with the CG Code during the Year and up to the date of this annual

report.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules as the code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions by Directors in respect of the shares of the Company
(the "Code of Conduct”). After specific enquires by the Company,
all Directors have confirmed that they have fully complied with
the required standard of dealings set out in the Code of Conduct
during the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which assumes
responsibility for its leadership and control and is collectively
responsible for promoting the Company’s success by directing
and supervising its affairs. Directors make decisions objectively in
the best interests of the Company. The Board meets regularly and

Board meetings are held four times a year at quarterly intervals.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive should
be clearly established.

EEERER

ARBIPACEEAZELHEHNEENE - AR
AHMAONERRERRKFHEEER 1T H
REZFERR REARNEEE AT HREIUE
RAERARABRR R EMFNENETLERR
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BARAEENKIN R BARARRRAIEREEE -
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BCIAEMERE AT ([REERTAD -
BEFEGRMAM  BRAFRABREEIN  BAF
EREERFRAY  AARHYEETEEENR
SN

EENRSFRS

ANAF B HEMGEM LT 47 I £ 5.48 £ 5.67 f& -
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Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar currently assumes the role of both chairman
of the Board and chief executive officer of the Company. The
Board considers that both roles being held by Mr. Cheung will
provide a strong and consistent leadership to the Company which
will facilitate effective planning and efficient management of the
Company. Furthermore, having considered Mr. Cheung’s extensive
experience in the engineering industry, the relationships Mr.
Cheung has built with customers and the historical development of
the Group, the Board considers that it is beneficial for the Group
to have Mr. Cheung continue to act as both chairman and chief
executive officer of the Company. In addition, under the supervision
by the Board which currently consists of two executive Directors
and three independent non-executive Directors, the interests of the
Shareholders will be adequately and fairly represented. Therefore,
the Board considers the deviation from the code provision C.2.1 of
the CG Code is appropriate under such circumstances. As such, the
roles of chairman and chief executive officer of the Group were not
separated in accordance with code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board will periodically review the effectiveness of this
arrangement and consider separating the roles of chairman of the
Board and chief executive officer of the Company when it thinks
appropriate, for the purpose of complying with the CG Code and
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance practices of
the Company.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Company is committed to the view that the Board should
include a balanced composition of executive and non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) so
that there is an independent element on the Board, which can
effectively exercise independent judgement, and that non-
executive Directors should be of sufficient calibre and number for
their views to carry weight.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises the following five
Directors:

Executive Directors
Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar

(chairman of the Board and chief executive officer)
Mr. Ng Pak Hung

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam (resigned on 28 May 2024)

Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion

Ms. Chik Wai Chun

Mr. Pang Chun Sing George (appointed on 16 July 2024)

Biographical details of each Director and relationship between

Board members are set out on page 9 to page 12 of this annual
report.

56 Annual Report 3 2024

REERARBEEARATNETSIFERTHA
B -BERGRR RELBRREMMBERAL &
RARARERDMEBNEE  SARBNR
FELAMMEEER/RN - I ERREE
ETRTENEELR RELCETPEIM
FAERAMASENEERR EFQRR/ KL
FRERTCARRIERFTRARTEAEEN
Make b EXSRFHMEBATEER =5
BUIFRTESMAK  EREEEEBERKR
DRATFPEERRRNOED At - EFERS
RExBER T R R EA ST ]I ST AR C.2.1
RIBEE - Fitt - NEEXFETRAR A
BRERBEEEE AT TRIEIEC2.1 1%
TUES -

SEEeRERRMIL ALK ARERR
BEREERARAESEERETRERZA
Bk NETEXREATARERARASE
ENEERERER

EETENX

ARBBFAL EFSRABENNTESER
FNTES(BRBIUIFRTES)EX - UEE
EQABEYIE  EMARELBILAE - AR
HRITEERABRATERAB  USKRED
BEREBREN -

RARERH EFEHATAREFTHNX

BITES

REFERE
(BEFST/ZRTTHARE)

REBEE

BYFHTES

RN EE (RZZE_WFRAZ+N\BEE)
BRERER JE £

BEDZL

CIREAE (RS -_WHFLATNBEEEME)

BEEZEEFBELRESSKNE 2HNBERERER
KEREIOEEE12H »



Boltek Holdings Limited * B #HZEARBR AR

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SREARE

ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND EERZEENENHELE
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board &JEERAFERITHNALRGETENEEEES
committee meetings of the Company held during the Year is set & & &) E 8k &N Tk

out in the table below:

Number of meetings held during the Year
Attended/Eligible to attend
B/ RERHEERFFERTHERRR

Annual
Board Audit Nomination Remuneration General
Meeting Committee Committee Committee Meeting

ESg88 2 ENZEE REZEE FMZEEE RREFAE

Number of meetings held BIMEERY 7 4 2 2 1
Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar REERE 717 N/AT i A 2/2 2/2 11
Mr. Ng Pak Hung RIEBILAE 717 N/ATiE A N/ATiE A N/ATiE A 171

Independent non-executive ~ BUHHTEE

Directors
Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam BRuFREE 3/3 2/2 11 11 11
Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion  FRERIRSE4 717 4/4 2/2 2/2 11
Ms. Chik Wai Chun REYLL 17 44 N/ATEH N/ATER 1/1
Mr. Pang Chun Sing George ~ ZIRE 4 2/2 2/2 N/AT i 171 N/A T
During the Year, the Company held 7 Board meetings, 4 Audit RAFE  AAREBRINEFTEEH 44
Committee meetings, 2 Nomination Committee meeting and 2 %’V%E\QQ% 2RIBEBEZEREHEN2REF
Remuneration Committee meetings. All the minutes of the Board HZE&&&® - EERNEFELZEEEEN
meetings and meetings of Board committees were recorded in  FTE SR LI EREZT TR RN B EREKD

sufficient details for the matters considered by the Board and the  JRTE{EH B #FF4HE2 8% o

decisions reached.

The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out inthe ZEZFEMNERHBHENARS(EEERSNE
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this report. ~ IEJE | —£f ©
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND
COMMITTEE MEMBERS (continued)

In compliance with Rules 5.05(1), 5.05(2) and 5.05A of the GEM
Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three independent
non-executive Directors representing more than one-third of the
Board and at least one of whom has appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise. The independent non-executive Directors have brought
in a wide range of business and financial expertise, experiences and
independent judgement to the Board. Through active participation
in the Board meetings and serving on various Board committees,
all independent non-executive Directors have made various

contributions to the Company.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence, and the
Company considers such independent non-executive Director to
be independent in accordance with the guidelines set out in Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other

material/relevant relationships with each other.

Appropriate insurance coverage in respect of legal action against

the Company’s Directors has been arranged by the Company.

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL

In accordance with the Articles, all the Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any new
Director appointed by the Board (i) to fill a casual vacancy in the
Board shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the
Company following his/her appointment and shall be subject to re-
election at such meeting; and (ii) as an addition to the Board shall
hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the

Company (“AGM") and shall then be eligible for re-election.
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ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board supervises the management of the business and
affairs of the Company and ensures that it is managed in the
best interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
The Board is primarily responsible for formulating the business
strategy, reviewing and monitoring the business performance
of the Company, approving the financial statements and annual
budgets as well as directing and supervising the management of
the Company. Execution of operational matters and the powers
thereof are delegated to the management by the Board with clear
directions. The Board is regularly provided with management
update report to give a balanced and understandable assessment
of the performance, position, development and prospects of the

Company in sufficient detail.

The Board is also responsible for the corporate governance

functions of the Group, which includes:

—  To develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on

corporate governance;

- Toreview and monitor the training and continuous professional

development of Directors and senior management;

—  To review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

- To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and

compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors;

and

—  To review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and

disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the Year, the Board had reviewed and discussed the
corporate governance policy of the Group and was satisfied with

the effectiveness of the corporate governance policy of the Group.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) assists the Board by ensuring the Board policy
and procedures are followed. The Company Secretary is also
responsible for advising the Board on corporate governance

matters.

The Company has appointed Mr. Yu Chun Kit as the Company

Secretary.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, Mr. Yu Chun Kit undertook
no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to update
his skill and knowledge in accordance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The biographical details of Mr. Yu Chun Kit is set out
in the section headed "Directors and Senior Management” of this

annual report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To facilitate the work of the Board, the Board has established
three Board committees to oversee specific aspects of the Group’s
affairs, namely the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee. Each Board committee has its own terms
of reference relating to its authority and duties, which have been
approved by the Board and are reviewed periodically. The terms of
reference of each committee are available on the websites of the

Company and the Stock Exchange.

Each Board committee has also been provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties and, upon reasonable request,
is able to seek independent profession advice in appropriate

circumstances at the Group's expense.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee

The Group established the Audit Committee on 20 August 2018
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 5.29 of
the GEM Listing Riles and paragraph D.3.3 of the CG Code. The
primary duties of our Audit Committee include, among others, (a)
making recommendations to our Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditor and approving
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor;
(b) reviewing our financial statements, our periodic reports and
accounts and significant financial reporting judgements contained
therein; and (c) reviewing our financial controls, internal control and
risk management systems. Our Audit Committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Chik Wai Chun,
Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion and Mr. Pang Chun Sing George. Ms.
Chik Wai Chun is the chairlady of our Audit Committee.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held 4 meetings, at which it
has reviewed and discussed the Company’s audited consolidated
financial results for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the
unaudited consolidated financial results for the quarterly period
ended 31 March 2024, and 30 September 2024 and the interim
period ended 30 June 2024 including the accounting principles and
practice adopted by the Group, the Company’s compliance with
the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report,
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems as well as the Group's internal audit function. The
Audit Committee has also recommended to the Board to consider
the re-appointment of Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited ("Grant
Thornton”) as the Company'’s external independent auditors at the
AGM held on 26 April 2024.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee

The Group established the Nomination Committee on 20 August
2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with paragraph
B.3.1 of the CG Code. The primary duties of our Nomination
Committee include, among others, (a) reviewing the structure, size
and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience)
of our Board at least annually and making recommendations on
any proposed changes to our Board to complement our corporate
strategy; (b) identifying individuals suitably qualified to become
members of our Board and selecting or making recommendations
to our Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships; (c) assessing the independence of our independent
non-executive Directors; and (d) making recommendations to
our Board on the appointment and succession planning for our
Directors. Our Nomination Committee comprises two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Pang Chun Sing George and
Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion, and one executive Director, namely
Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar. Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar is the chairman of our

Nomination Committee.

The policy for the nomination of Directors, including the nomination
procedure and process, are to invite nominations from Board
members or Nomination Committee members. After undertaking
adequate due diligence in respect of any such nominee, the
Nomination Committee makes recommendations for the Board's
consideration and approval. In the context of re-appointment of
any existing member(s) of the Board, the Nomination Committee
makes recommendations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation, for the proposed candidates to stand for re-

election at a general meeting.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)
The Nomination Committee considers the following criteria in

assessing the suitability of the proposed candidate:
(@) reputation for integrity;

(b) accomplishment, experience and reputation in the relevant

industry and other relevant sectors;

(c) commitment in respect of sufficient time, interest and

attention to the Company’s business;

(d) diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, experience

(professional or otherwise), skills and knowledge;

(e) the ability to assist and support management and make

significant contributions to the Company’s success;

(f)  compliance with the criteria of independence as prescribed
under Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules for the appointment
of an independent non-executive Director; and

(9) any other relevant factors as may be determined by the

Nomination Committee or the Board from time to time.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held 2 meeting, during
which it reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board,
assessed the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors and recommended to the Board for consideration the re-
appointment of the retiring Directors at the AGM held on 24 April
2024. The Nomination Committee has also recommended to the
Board to appoint Mr. Pang Chun Sing George as independent non-

executive Director.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Board diversity policy

The Board has adopted a policy of the Board diversity (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity
on the Board.

Under the Board Diversity Policy, the Company considers diversity
of board members to be achieved through consideration of a
number of aspects, including but not limited to, gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills and knowledge. All Board appointments are based on merit,
and candidates are considered against objective criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. As of date of
this report, the Board comprises one female director and four male
directors with experience from difference industries and sectors.
We also committed to adopting similar approach to promote
diversity, including but not limited to gender diversity, at all other
levels of our Company from our Board downwards to enhance the

effectiveness of our corporate governance as a whole.

The gender ratios in the workforce by categories of employees
are set out in the section headed "EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR
PRACTICES” in the Environment, Social and Governance Report
in the Annual Report. The Board considers that gender diversity is
currently achieved and is committed to maintain gender diversity in

respect of the workforce level.
The Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board Diversity

Policy to ensure its effectiveness and considered that the Group

achieved the objectives of its Board Diversity Policy for the Year.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee

The Group established the Remuneration Committee on 20 August
2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 5.35
of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph E.1.2 of the CG Code. The
primary duties of our Remuneration Committee, under the principle
that no Director or any of his associates should be involved in
deciding his own remuneration include, among others, making
recommendations to our Board on (a) our remuneration policy
and structure for all of our Directors and senior management;
(b) the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policies; (c) the remuneration packages
of our executive Directors and senior management, including
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments,
including any compensation payable for loss or termination of
their offices or appointments; and (d) the remuneration of our non-
executive Directors. Our Remuneration Committee comprises
two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Pang Chun
Sing George and Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion and one executive
Director namely Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar. Mr. Pang Chun Sing George

is the chairman of our Remuneration Committee.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held 2 meetings,
during which it reviewed and considered the specific remuneration
packages, discretionary bonus of the executive Directors and the

remuneration package of newly appointed executive Director.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of
three years and such letter of appointment may be terminated by
either party giving at least one month’s notice in writing. Also, the
independent non-executive Directors are subject to re-election on

retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each independent non-executive Director of their independence
pursuant to the requirements of the Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors namely Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion, Ms. Chik Wai Chun
and Mr. Pang Chun Sing George to be independent in accordance
with the independence guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules

for the Year.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND CONTINUING
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director receives a formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment
to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business and is fully aware of a director’s
responsibilities under applicable statues and common law, the
GEM Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and
the Company’s business and governance policies. The Company
will from time to time provide briefings to all Directors to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills relating to their duties and

responsibilities.

All Directors are also encouraged to attend relevant training
courses at the Company's expense and they are requested to
provide the Company with their training records. According to
the training records maintained by the Company, all Directors,
namely Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar, Mr. Ng Pak Hung, Mr. Chan Kai
Kow Macksion, Ms. Chik Wai Chun and Mr. Pang Chun Sing
George had attended training sessions on obligations, duties and

responsibilities of directors during the Year.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has established and maintained the procedures
and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside
information. The Company has adopted a code of conduct for
dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors in accordance
with Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Other employees
of the Group who are likely to be in possession of inside information
of the Company are also subject to dealing restrictions. The Group
has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or inside
information or any use of such information for the advantage of
any individual. Inside information and other information which is
required to be disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules will be
announced on the respective websites of Stock Exchange and the

Company in due course.

REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

During the Year, the remuneration bands of senior management is

listed as follows:

Band of remuneration (HK$)

BEERBMAFTHEE

ARRIEHIET B R R IE MM AR BENIEF
KRB RS - R B EREGEM LR AN 5.46
ES567 R EFTETARAEFRHRA—ELT
ASFRI e REEA R AR B AN AT BERF B AR AIHY
NEBEMAZ BN R HR G - AEEBERE
RRERARTHABHEL  AREMEAFEM
ERAEBER - ARHEE RRIEGEM LR A
BT DA ER B0 LA BRI 0 B B IR A B X AT I
ZAYNEIE=3= =0 EED A A P

= AR E I B
RAFEE  SREEBNFMEESIRAT

No. of person(s)

FiEE(Ex) AB
HK$0 to HK$1,000,000 078 7L % 1,000,000 7T 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 78 7L £ 1,500,000 7T 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7% 7T % 2,000,000/ 7T 2

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000

Further details of the remuneration of the Directors and the 5
highest paid employees are set out in note 12 to the consolidated

financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group. The Directors also acknowledge
their responsibility to ensure the financial statements are published
in a timely manner. The Directors are not aware of any material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability

to continue as a going concern.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

The statement of the external independent auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s

Report as annexed to this report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Company engaged Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited as its
external auditor for the Year. During the Year, the fee paid/payable
to the external independent auditors of the Company and its

affiliates is as follows:

ESHGAMBERERNEE @)

ARRBINEB L Z BN LY AR B E M 55
5K H) BR R (T A B R B AN 3R 5 PTI98 S AZ BRD

wE e

BIYZEMHE

AARRAFEZENR (BF) TR AT
BERAFMEAHINEZERN - RAFE X B,/
JE 2N A RISNEE T ST A% BT I LB A R B
B NE

Description HK$
i BT
Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited WA (BB gsrmEBRERA A

Annual audit services FREEZRS 830,000
Grand total At 830,000

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the establishment, maintenance and
review of the Group's risk management and internal control systems
and review of their effectiveness. The Board must ensure that the
Company establishes and maintains effective risk management and
internal control systems to meet the objectives and safeguard the

interests of the shareholders and the assets of the Company.

The Board oversees the Group’s overall risk management and
internal control systems on an ongoing basis. At the same time, the
Group endeavours to identify risks, control impact of the identified
risks and facilitate implementation of coordinated mitigating

measures.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

In the course of conducting the business, the Group is exposed
to various types of risks. During the Year, the following principal
risks of the Group were identified and classified into strategic risks,

operational risks, financial risks and compliance risks.

Strategic Risks:
Sensitivity to government policies and budgets; keeping up with

new technologies; market competition risk, reputation risk.

Operational Risks:

Insufficient labour supply; workplace injury; disruption of IT system

Financial Risks:

Liquidity risk; credit risk; interest rate risk; inflation risk

Compliance Risks:

Risk related to occupational safety and health; risk of non-
compliance with ordinances related to employment; changes
of the GEM Listing Rules and relevant company regulations and

ordinances

The Group does not have an internal audit department but the
Group has conducted an annual review on whether there is a
need for such an internal audit department. Given the Group’s
relatively simple corporate and operation structure, the Board,
as supported by the Audit Committee, is directly responsible
for risk management and internal control systems of the Group
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk

management functions and for reviewing its effectiveness.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

The Group's risk management and internal control system features
the following processes to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks, and review the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems, as well as resolve material internal control
defects:

e Members of the Board and Audit Committee discuss with the
external independent auditor key issues in relation to internal

controls, audit findings and risk management;

e The Board and Audit Committee oversee the financial
reporting system and internal control procedures; in this
process, management is principally responsible for the
preparation of Group financial statements including the

selection of suitable accounting policies;

e  The external independent auditor is responsible for auditing
and attesting to Group financial statements and report to
the management of the Company from time to time on
any weakness in controls which come to their attention; the
Board and Audit Committee oversee the respective work of
management and external auditors to ensure the management
has discharged its duty in respect of having an effective

internal control procedures.

During the Year, the Board had engaged an external consultant,
Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal Limited, to conduct a review
of the effectiveness of the internal control system which covered
certain procedures in material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions of the Group. The Board considered the risk management
and internal controls systems of the Group to be adequate and

effective for the Year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL B TR % o BB ()

(continued)

The Group's risk management and internal control systems are AN&EBEAERBEE R ABIES RGEEEIEMIE
aimed to manage, rather than eliminating, the risk of failure to  JHFRAREEEKES B IZM AR - WEATSERE
achieve business objectives and thus can only provide reasonable, FRFRIIKIBERIBHAIBEFBENREF -EFE
but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss. ZHEBEHEFERTE - B TER KL - Hil
The Board has the overall responsibility to maintain the adequate  FFEIANEETTEE NI R R

resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs

and the budget accounting and financial reporting.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS % R AEF|

Procedures for Convening General Meetings by BRREBHEBRRAENER

Shareholders

Pursuant to the Articles, and the applicable legislation and R ¥E A AN & i A A G R IR A - 51 2GEM £
regulation, in particular the GEM Listing Rules (as amended from  #BBI ((&REFERT) - EF 2 A BB MK REH
time to time), the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene A& ([REFRARE]) - REFIASIHER—
an extraordinary general meeting ("EGM"). EGMs shall also be HZHZEREFKEXIAAFE I LRAREHE
convened on the requisition of one or more shareholders holding, MEEAG FEZENEHRA+5 2 —HBRERE
at the date of deposit of requisition, not less than one-tenth of KEZH - BEZEKANEEAFARNESTERHA
the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at ARIARIWERE  UEEESHBEBEEKME
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the ~ ERERIEEERE EREHBREFRAS -
Board or the company secretary of the Company for the purpose of

requiring an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of

any business specified in such requisition.

The written requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, ZEEZKMNEVIAZASHNER  HIRHEK
signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposit it to the Board or ATHEENREBHBF =R B NEADMEILMNE
the company secretary of the Company by mail at 5/F, Winning 46485 BB ERESBUSHEREZESS
Commercial Building, 46-48 Hillwood Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, ARG AGMWE UERKESeREEEZKM
Kowloon, Hong Kong to require an EGM to be called by the Board fEEMEMEREEBFARREIAE - BHE
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.  K/EFREIEABHE EBRAEMHUE  AFKRE -
Such requisition should specify clearly the name of the eligible ABRBRERFIASHERRNBRFIASIES
shareholder(s) concerned, his/her/their shareholding, the reason(s) EIZEEBHFIE WEHBHSERKREEER
to convene an EGM and the details of the business(es) proposed FEMfAIEEMFHIE - AU N A RRIREEEE
to be transacted in the EGM, and must be signed by the eligible kA2 EECBRREH AZEZRM N EEF B
shareholder(s) concerned together with a sum of money reasonably EIE2XRilEEERNFAS -

sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in serving the notice

of the resolution and circulating the statement submitted

by shareholders concerned in accordance with the statutory

requirements to all the registered shareholders.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for Convening General Meetings by
Shareholders (continued)

The requisition will be verified with Hong Kong branch share
registrar and transfer office of the Company and upon their
confirmation that the requisition is proper and in order, the Board
will convene an EGM by serving sufficient notice in accordance
with the requirements under the Articles to all the registered
shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition has been verified as
not in order or the shareholders concerned have failed to deposit
sufficient money to meet the Company’s expenses for the said
purposes, the eligible shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of

this outcome and accordingly, the Board will not call for an EGM.

If, within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meeting

Shareholders are requested to follow Article 64 of the Articles
for including a resolution at an EGM. The requirements and
procedures are set out above in the paragraph headed "“Procedures

for Convening General Meetings by Shareholders”.

Procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board

The Group values feedback from shareholders on its efforts to
promote transparency and foster investor relationship. Shareholders
are encouraged to send their enquiries to the Board by post to the
principal place of business set out in the section headed “Corporate
Information” in this report. Shareholders may also make enquires

with the Board at the general meetings of the Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board strives to maintain on-going dialogue with shareholders
and the investment community. The Company has established
a shareholders communication policy to set out the Company'’s
procedures in providing the shareholders and investment
community with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and

understandable information about the Company.

Latest information on the Group including, but not limited to,
annual, interim and quarterly reports, circulars, announcements,
and notices of AGMs are updated on the website of the Stock
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and on the website of the Company

(www.boltekholdings.com).

In addition, the Company regards the AGM as an important event
as it provides an opportunity for direct communication between the
Board and its shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to attend
the AGM.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has adopted shareholders’ communication policy
with objective of ensuring that the shareholders and potential
investors are provided with ready, equal and timely access to

balanced and understandable information about the Company.

The Company has established several channels to communicate

with the shareholders of the Company as follows:

()  corporate communications such as annual reports, quarterly
reports, interim reports and circulars are issued in printed
form and are available on the Stock Exchange’s website
at “www.hkexnews.hk” and the Company's website at

"www.boltekholdings.com”;

(I periodic announcements are made through the Stock
Exchange and published on the respective websites of the

Stock Exchange and the Company;

() corporate information is made available on the Company's

website;

REERRE
EEEYIRERREREALREFELE -
AR HIEBRBAEE - ABIIARF AT
B X FREFTARRRRIEEATRHTET
RRBNHE R SHNBHENEROIRF

AEBENEFTEHBEEIRR AR
BT #8 ufi (www.hkexnews.hk) & 72 2~ & 49 uh
(www.boltekholdings.com)E ¥ 8 F £ « 1 B &
FERE - BR - AERBRRBAFAEES

BN ARIRRBFASRHEZTSRARRE
BERBENKE  AUARRKERR—HERZSE
He ARBEBBRROFERRBFAEG -

HERRNBERREEBE
ARRERMRIBBEE - AEDHRRKER

AERBETHE  TENRBIHEGALTE
(E{I1R BB AT IR AR AR -

ARBERIATZERERARRRRER
() BXERWFEHRS FTERS  THR
& NS Rk ) 15 LA BRI 77 5 T 3% Hﬁﬂif\‘ﬁ 2

BT 48 3k [ www.hkexnews.hk | & 28 2 &) 48 1k
['www.boltekholdings.com | 7 —Hj—‘t/%g ;

() EHEBMIMELAE UK AEDHIT
BB S P S AR B A A

() RARBHERFEERER

Annual Report 3 2024 73




k } Boltek Holdings Limited * EEZEARBR A A

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EREARE

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

(IV) annual and special general meetings provide a forum for the
shareholders to make comments and exchange views with the

Directors and senior management; and

(V) the Hong Kong share registrar of the Company serves the
shareholders in respect of share registration, dividend

payment and related matters.

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and enhancing
communication with the existing shareholders and potential
investors. It welcomes suggestions from investors, stakeholders and
the public. Enquires to the Board or the Company may be sent by

post to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

The ESG report are set out on page 21 to page 54 of this annual

report.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There were no changes in the constitutional documents of
the Company during the Year. The Articles is available on the

respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEGHRE

The Board is pleased to submit this annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the

Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal business activity of the Company is that of investment
holding. The principal activities and other particulars of the
Company's principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the

consolidated financial statements.

REORGANISATION AND SHARE OFFER

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 18 April 2018.
Its shares were listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange on 13
September 2018. Pursuant to the reorganisation of the Group in
connection with the Listing, the Company underwent a corporate
reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”), and the Company became
the holding company of the Group on 10 August 2018. Details
of the Reorganisation are set out in the section headed "History,
Reorganisation and Corporate Structure — Reorganisation” to the
Prospectus dated 29 August 2018.

DIRECTORS

The name of every person who was a Director at any point during

the Year and up to date of this report is as follows:

Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar (Executive Director)
Mr. Na Pak Hung (Executive Director)

Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam (Independent non-executive Director)
(resigned on 28 May 2024)

Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion (Independent non-executive Director)

Ms. Chik Wai Chun (Independent non-executive Director)

Mr. Pang Chun Sing George (Independent non-executive Director)
(appointed on 16 July 2024)

In accordance with Article 108 of the Articles, Mr. Chan Kai Kow
Macksion and Ms. Chik Wai Chun will retire from the Board
by rotation at the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer

themselves for re-election.

In accordance with Article 112 of the Articles, Mr. Pang Chun Sing
George will retire from the Board by rotation at the forthcoming

AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

The biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Company are set out in the section headed

"Directors and Senior Management” of this report.

RESULTS/BUSINESS REVIEW

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the section
headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” on page 91 of this report.
The business review of the Group for the Year, which includes
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, an analysis
using financial key performance indicators of the Group's business,
particulars of important events affecting the Group, an indication of
likely future developments in the Group’s business, and discussion
on the Company’s environmental policies and performance and
the relationships with its stakeholders, can be found in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and
Analysis”, “Corporate Governance Report”, “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” and “Independent Auditor's Report” of

this annual report. The review forms part of this directors’ report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the past five financial years, as extracted from the
audited consolidated financial statements, is set out on page 188 of
this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited

financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated

financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Year are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
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RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

A statement of the reserves available for distribution to
shareholders of the Company as at 31 December 2024 is set out in
the “"Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity” and note 26 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND POLICY

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the

dividend amount, the Board takes into account, inter alia:
() the general financial condition of the Group;
(i) capital and debt level of the Group;

(i) future cash requirements and availability for business
operations, business strategies and future development

needs;

(iv) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed

by the Group's lenders;
(v)  the general market conditions; and
(vi) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and
any other applicable laws, rule and regulations and the Articles. The
dividend policy of the Company will be reviewed by the Board from
time to time and there can be no assurance that a dividend will be

proposed or declared in any specific period.

FINAL DIVIDEND
The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of any
final dividend for the Year.

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S SECURITIES

The Board confirms that during the Year, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the

Company's securities.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the Laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company

to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to determine entitlement to attend and vote at the
forthcoming AGM, the register of members of the Company will
be closed from Monday, 28 April 2025 to Friday, 2 May 2025, both
days inclusive, during which no transfer of shares of the Company
will be effected. In the case of shares of the Company, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged for registration with the Company’s Hong Kong branch
share registrar and transfer office, Boardroom Share Registrars (HK)
Limited at 2103B, 21/F, 148 Electric Road, North Point, Hong Kong
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 25 April 2025.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme on 20 August
2018 (the "Adoption Date"”). The terms of the Share Option
Scheme are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 23 of
the GEM Listing Rules. The following is a summary of the principal

terms of the Share Option Scheme:

(A) Purpose of Share Option Scheme
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
incentives or rewards to eligible persons for their contribution
to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain
high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group or any entity in which the Group holds
any equity interest ("Invested Entity”).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
(B) Participants of the Share Option Scheme

)

Any employee (whether full time or part time employee,
including any executive Director) of our Company, any of

its subsidiaries and any Invested Entity;

Any non-executive Director (including independent
non-executive Director) of our Company, any of its

subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

Any supplier of goods or services to any member of our
Group or any Invested Entity;

Any customer of any member of our Group or any
Invested Entity;

Any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to any member of our

Group or any Invested Entity;

Any shareholder of any member of our Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by

any member of our Group or any Invested Entity;

Any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of any

member of our Group or any Invested Entity; and

Any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute, by way of joint venture,
business alliance, other business arrangement or
otherwise, to the development and growth of our Group,
and for the purposes of the Share Option Scheme, the
option may be granted to any company wholly-owned
by one or more persons belonging to any of the above
classes of participants or any discretionary object of a

participant which is a discretionary trust.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(&)

(D)

(E)

(F)

(G)

80

Total number of shares available for Issue under the
Share Option Scheme

Under the Share Option Scheme, the total number of shares
which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all share
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option scheme of the Company must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of shares in the
Company in issue on the Listing Date, being 80,000,000 shares
in the Company.

Maximum Entitlement of Each Participant under the
Share Option Scheme

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share
Option Scheme in any 12-month period up to and including
the date of grant of the options must not exceed 1% of the

total number of shares in the Company in issue.

Period within which the Shares must be taken up
under an Option

The period during which an option may be exercised is
determined by the Board at its discretion, save that such
period shall not be longer than 10 years from the date of

grant.

Minimum period for which an Option must be held
before it can be exercised

Unless otherwise determined by our Board and stated in the
offer of the grant of options to a grantee, there is no minimum
period required under the Share Option Scheme for the

holding of an option before it can be exercised.

Amount payable on acceptance of an option and the
Period within which payments shall be made

A consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the
offer of grant of an option. An option may be offered for
acceptance for a period of 21 days from the date on which the

letter containing the offer is delivered to that participant.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) fERESTE ()

(H) Basis of determining the Exercise Price (H BETHEENEE
The exercise price in respect of any particular option shall, AR 4R B AR A 51 B 16 SR &Y E (] 38 B
subject to any adjustment made pursuant to the terms of the A EERENTEERAERSE
Share Option Scheme, be such price as determined by our EWMER WEFABRATELERUT &
Board, but in any case shall not be less than the highest of (i) mE(RREBREBR (AR SHH)
the closing price of the shares in the Company as stated in R AMERAWMARBRMWAE : (i)
the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of REEREEREBBIAER S BB
the grant of the option, which must be a business day; (i) the FiE B mEXRABAR TR FHKRTE
average closing price of the shares in the Company as stated R (i) A HEE R A AR RGO A EE ©

in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the grant
of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a share in the

Company on the date of grant of the option.

() Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme () BBRESTEAFERER
The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a RERR ST &S B 2R B BIR 1R R 10 F B3 R
period of 10 years commencing on the Adoption Date. BB AR -
As of the report date, no share option has been granted, HERSHH - BRABEK - BERERT
exercised, cancelled, or lapsed under the Share Option EIE T IWEBRAERIR T 17T SRR -

Scheme since the Adoption Date.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS % 1R 4 88 17 R

Save for the Share Option Scheme, no equity-linked agreements  FREEARHEETBISN - AR B ANF E B ERT AL
were entered into by the Company during the Year or subsisted at ~ RE&EMA W - MBS RES HHERAFE
the end of the Year. ENEA

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION BiIER %
The Directors are not aware of any tax relief or exemption available HEEFFTA - MEBRRAFTBE AR R FHFMES
to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s LRI FLTER % °

securities.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of sales and purchases for the Year attributable to

the Group's major customers and suppliers are as follows:

IEEFRHEER
AEBEBRS R EGARF S IR
BRI :

%
SALES HE
— The largest customer —HmAKP 11.2
— Five largest customers —HEREP 31.7
PURCHASES 2
— The largest supplier — R AHEER 20.6
— Five largest suppliers —h KHEER 457

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders (which
to the best knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company's share capital) had an interest in the major customers or

suppliers noted above.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, details of significant transactions with the
Company’s related parties or transactions undertaken in the normal
course of business are set out in the note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements. None of those transactions constitutes a
disclosable connected transaction pursuant to Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

ISSUANCE OF SHARES

During the Year, no new shares were issued by the Company.

ISSUANCE OF DEBENTURES

During the Year, no debentures were issued by the Company.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND OTHER
INFORMATION

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares, The Underlying Shares or
Debentures of the Company and its Associated
Corporations

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance ("SFO")) which were notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO), or which were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required, pursuant to the required standard of dealings as referred
to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

I.  Long position in the ordinary shares of the Company

Name of Director Nature of interest

Boltek Holdings Limited * B #HZEARBR AR

B EREMER

EERIRTHRABREAQAREAB X
EERED - AEROIEEZNEER KR

RZZEZWNF+=—A=+—H EFRARAE
ZITBRABRARRSHE A (B EZE (EXR
BERAEGL ((BERBERG]) EXVED &
K- BERNDREEZFHRERBESRLAE
IRBIZEXVERSE 7 RE 8D B A E AR E) KB
R R EAE (BEREZES REAE KR
BRBXHEFIWEERERNERIAR) -
NN AR FIRIEZES KB E P2 3521&78
HENECLMNER AR  HBRBEGEM L™
RBIESAGIGFTIEN R 5L FREEAMG AR QT
KB R FTaEm RAB T

. REQARAEBERNETR
Number of shares Percentage of

held/interested shareholding

i BEEREEN
EEnA Rty RHEE BEED
Cheung Kwan Tar Interest in a controlled corporation (Note) 576,000,000 72.00%
SRAFE REEEB /R (M)
Ng Pak Hung Beneficial owner 24,000,000 3.00%
EXER EnEAA

Note: These shares were held by Waywin Investment Holding Limited

(“Waywin"), a controlled corporation of Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar.

M ZERBROBRFEEENTEEBREREER
RARAT(MERDIFE -
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND OTHER
INFORMATION (continued)

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares, The Underlying Shares or
Debentures of the Company and its Associated
Corporations (continued)

Il. Long position in the ordinary shares of associated

corporation — Waywin

EEREREMER 2
EERIRTHRABREAQAREAB X
Ea KRG HERONEERNRERLR

(%)

I REBEIE-BREBRNFAE

Number of shares Percentage of
Name of Director Nature of interest held/interested shareholding
IE= Vg op -3
E=pE EatE igrig 4= READL
Cheung Kwan Tar Beneficial owner 1 100%
SRETE BamER A

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had any interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS TERRRHEMATRARTRG KA
AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT BARONERRAR

POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, AND UNDERLYING

SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, the following parties (other thanthe R-ZT-_WNF+-_A=Z+—H U TAL(E=S
Directors or the chief executive of the Company) had interests of 5% AR T EEITIHA BBRIN IR R TR+
or more in the shares of the Company as recorded in the register ~BEER AR RIREE F K HIE & 0) 5% 336 14678
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the 17 HYZ FE M H9 5% sk LA - B9 25

SFO:

Name of substantial Number of shares Percentage of
shareholder Nature of interest held/interested shareholding
g EEREEN
TERRESR BB ERME RHEAE BETD
Cheung Kwan Tar Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 1) 576,000,000 72.00%
RAFIE AP A E R (FEE)
Chiu Chui Ping Interest of spouse (Note 2) 576,000,000 72.00%
TR Ao B (EE2)
Waywin Investment Holding Beneficial owner 576,000,000 72.00%
Limited
(BB AR A A Em#EAA
Notes: ffsE -
(1) These shares were held by Waywin, a controlled corporation of Mr. Cheung (1) ZEBRBROHBREEELSENZIIEERELER -
Kwan Tar.

(2 Ms. Chiu Chui Ping was deemed to be interested in 576,000,000 shares of the (2 BERIZIWEAABHEEBREELENESMES
Company through the interest of her spouse, Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar. 7K 5 576,000,000 A& A% 17 O 42 75 o

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company [ EXFIIEEEIIN  R_Z-_WNFE+_-_A=+—
is not aware of any other person (other than the Directors or chief B * RARWAHBEAMEAMA L (ESHAR
executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in &% ZTH A BRI A2 7] i% 19 k48 B8 B (0
the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded inthe FHEABLRHERARFRIEES KPS KN E
register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of 336 1&BEFHERMAERIIAR -

the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

All executive Directors currently in office have entered into
service agreements with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date and shall continue unless
terminated by either party giving no less than three months’ written

notice served by either party on the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
an appointment letter with the Company for an initial term of three
years commencing from the Listing Date, which may be terminated
by either party giving no less than one month’s written notice
served by either party on the other.

The term of service of a Director is subject to retirement by rotation

of Directors as set out in the Articles.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors who are proposed
to be re-elected at the forthcoming AGM has entered into a service
contract or an appointment letter with our Company or any of our
subsidiaries (other than contracts or appointment letters expiring or
determinable by the employer within one year without the payment

of compensation (other than statutory compensation)).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ emoluments are subject to the Company’s
shareholders’ approval at general meetings and such emoluments
shall be determined by the Board and the Remuneration
Committee with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Group. Details of remuneration
of the Directors are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee in
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of the
Remuneration Committee include making recommendations to
the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors
and senior management’s remuneration, on the establishment of
a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration
policy, and on the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management, including benefits
in kind, pension rights and compensation payments including
any compensation payable for loss or termination of office or

appointment.

Under the remuneration policy of the Company, the Remuneration
Committee considers factors such as salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment, responsibilities and employment

conditions elsewhere in the Group.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid
individuals are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial

statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
The Articles provide that the Directors shall be indemnified and

secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason
of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution
of their duty; provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any

matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty by any of the Directors.

A directors’ liability insurance is in place to protect the Directors
against potential costs and liabilities arising from claims brought

against the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Details of the continuing connected transactions and related party
transactions are set out in the Corporate Governance Report and

note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

Notwithstanding the above, no transaction, arrangement or
contract that is significant in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a person who at any time during the Year was a Director or
his connected entity had, directly or indirectly, a material interest

subsisted at any time during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Except for the Share Option Scheme, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiary undertakings was a party to any arrangements to
enable Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body

corporate at any time during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the Company’s business was entered into or existed during
the Year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER'S INTEREST IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Neither contract of significance made between the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholder of the
Company or any of it subsidiaries, nor contract of significance
made for the provision of services to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries by the controlling shareholder of the Company or any

of its subsidiaries was entered into during the Year.
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INTEREST IN COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors, the controlling shareholders of the
Company, or any of their respective close associates (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) is interested in a business apart from the
Group's business which competes or is likely to compete, directly
or indirectly, with the Group’s business during the Year, and is
required to be disclosed pursuant to rule 11.04 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

Each of controlling shareholders of the Company, Mr. Cheung and
Waywin has confirmed to the Company of their respective due
compliance with the terms of the deed of non-competition (the
"Deed of Non-Competition”) during the Year and up to the date
of this report.

Our independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
compliance of the Deed of Non-Competition and were satisfied
that the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition had been duly
complied with and enforced during the Year and up to the date of
this report.

During the Year, the Board had not received any written
confirmation from any of our Directors in respect of interest in any
business (other than our Group) which is or is likely to be directly or

indirectly in competition with our business.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, based on the information that is
publicly available to the Company and to the best knowledge of
the Directors, the Company maintained a sufficient amount of

public float for its shares as required under the GEM Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group fully complies with all laws and regulations and regularly
monitors and gathers information about changes in laws, rules
and regulations relevant to the Group's businesses to ensure the
Group's observance of those applicable laws, rules and regulations,

especially those which may have material impact on the Group.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year were audited by
Grant Thornton, who will retire at the end of the forthcoming AGM,
and being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for
the re-appointment of Grant Thornton as the independent auditor
of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

By Order of the Board
Boltek Holdings Limited
Cheung Kwan Tar

Chairman and executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BB RS

a GrantThornton
=]

To the members of Boltek Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Boltek
Holdings Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
the “Group”) set out on pages 99 to 187, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,

including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“CO").

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion.
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BB R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key Audit Matter
BRgETEE

BRREETER
RREAFEEREBEESNEXHE  RREX
PRaPBHRRANEARSEENFTH - RFF
HREBSERERGEAMBBRRLLARRR
ETREN  MBESFITEHZFEREHERN
BRe

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EENBTNMEERRENSE

Revenue from engineering design, landscape architecture and
consultancy services

ITRRE  SBREREEREHKE

Refer to notes 2.13, 4.1 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

BRI A TSR 7213 4.1 K5 °

The Group recognised revenue and cost from the provision of
engineering design, landscape architecture and consultancy
services of approximately HK$187,279,000 and HK$125,198,000
respectively during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Revenue from engineering design, landscape architecture and
consultancy services are recognised by reference to contract
costs incurred at the reporting date for work performed as a
percentage of total forecast contract costs at the end of the
reporting period. The Group recognised revenue over time
only if it can reasonably measure its progress toward complete

satisfaction of the performance obligation.
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Our procedures in relation to assessing the revenue
from engineering design, landscape architecture

and consultancy services included the following:

— understood management’s process in
estimating the contract revenue and forecast
contract costs and determining the contract

progress;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRESER

Boltek Holdings Limited ® B EIERABR AR .‘

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EENETNMERBRETSE

The contract progress requires the management'’s estimation
of the actual outcome in terms of total contract costs, which
requires the exercise of significant management judgement,
particularly in relation to the estimation of total forecast contract
costs and the recoverable variation works. These estimates are
also made based on past experience and knowledge of the

project management.

We have identified the revenue recognition related to
engineering design, landscape architecture and consultancy
services as a key audit matter, considering the extent of

management judgement exercised.
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discussed with the management about the
performance and status of contracts, on
a sample basis, to obtain explanations for
fluctuations in gross profit margin and changes
in the budgeted cost, if any;

on a sample basis, checked the accuracy of
contract sum to signed contract and/or other
relevant correspondences (and variation
orders, if any) and the project's forecast costs
(such as subconsultancy fees and labour costs)
to supporting documents including but not
limited to invoices, price quotation and rate of

labour costs;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
HEETER EENBETNMEERRENSE

— inspected, on a sample basis, underlying
documents in respect of actual costs incurred
to year end and compared, on a sample basis,
the project’s cost component of the actual cost
incurred up to year end to the forecast cost
and obtained explanation from management

for any variation;

— recalculated the amount of revenue
recognised for individual contracts, on a
sample basis, based on agreed contract sum
(plus recognised variation orders, if any), total

forecast costs and actual cost incurred; and

— assessing the reliability of the approved
budgets by comparing the actual outcome
against management’s estimation of

completed contracts on a sample basis.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the 2024 annual report
of the Company, but does not include the consolidated financial

statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing

to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the CO, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for

overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed
terms of engagement and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of

these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

e identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,

or the override of internal control.

e  obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.
e evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued))

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may

cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the
audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We

remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that

we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.

BB BT REMBRREAENEM
(%)

s HERRABBELLITERNREMLIEY
o REBAEDNRTEE BERLF

EE@%IEEJ?’F%%?EE’J%KT\EEE’I@L i}
EERY BERENRKELEERENELE
K%ﬁ)‘g cWMEERRFEERTHEEE - A
BUEERBMBETRBEAEIESS
FITEHRER P HIAERE R E °Thﬁﬁﬁﬂ@%&&§7f\i :
AIESRERRIFERERR - E’]?.‘:?ama
RENZHBENHE B LPAREG El’]%.ﬁr B
AW KRRFHEKBERALES BEEET

b 4+ 43y MK
g _rz g«<%o

o HEGAMBHRRNEBEERNN - ABMN
WA BREEE UEREaMBEHRERES
ERBREERXZREE -

[ ]
ik
==

B

B
ki
fdié XL >\<F1

HITEBEANEREHE E£ER
SEBEUMBERANTDEENE
ERBEEMBERRIKERNE
- EERERE EBERERAETEE
BRI MAITORT TIF - BERER B LA
EREEE-

2 nf
=

il

EFEEZZBERAT (HF R EnE
ABEELERELTEAREARFERSES - B1E
FEF TP RAI AR B0 (E 7] = OKERRE -

BEENTRAEZZESREBH HABFENS
==}

ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁ’\i{ﬁﬂﬁfﬁﬁﬁ BER YERREFBBEA
EREMERRETE
H=E1R - LA&(ﬁfﬂﬁ
&R EHE i ©

B SRR T A R EA
) ERERTTB) LUB R BB =X

Annual Report ¢ 2024 97




Boltek Holdings Limited o = E#ZA% AR A A

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZRBEN RS

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF B MM BEFREMBERRAENELT
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (#&)

(continued))

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we HMEBZLZEL/BBENZTET  EEHRTEZRE
determine those matters that were of most significance in the BHANPLEAEMBERENEFARAEES  AmE
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current FKREIEEFT B - ZEEXHE RSP IBMEE
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe  FIE ' RIEEFREZR T AT ARAEZELZTEIE -
these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation SHEMKERLWBERAT @ MRS EBHES SR
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely &SR EBREEHERNEEERBRAEENAR
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be Fl& ' BERFENEERSH/BEBZEE -
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences

of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public

interest benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited HE (BB SAMEBAERAA
Certified Public Accountants R EE AT

11th Floor, Lee Garden Two EEER

28 Yun Ping Road i 97 /2

Causeway Bay B8 2855

Hong Kong SAR ME—H112

28 March 2025 —E-RAF=A=+NH

Shaw Chi Kit BB F £

Practising Certificate No.: P04834 HEFZBZHS - P04834
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Boltek Holdings Limited © E1EMAR AR ‘\
=

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meBEaRkEMaEElER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt E THET FHET
Revenue Y 2= 5 187,279 170,406
Cost of services AR 75 A A (125,198) (110,056)
Gross profit EF 62,081 60,350
Other income H WA 6 3,873 3,931
Bargain purchase from business combination ¥ & HZEEE 30 = 1,265
Administrative expenses THHAX (31,294) (31,821)
Provision of expected credit loss (“ECL") EHEEEE ((AHEE
BB ) BE (1,178) (527)
Finance costs B & A AR 7 (402) (242)
Profit before income tax BR P 15 %% A 2R R 8 33,080 32,956
Income tax expense FrisBiA X 9 (5,025) (4,727)
Profit and total comprehensive income AATEEFEABRLER
for the year attributable to equity EAREENRLEE
holders of the Company 28,055 28,229
HK cents HK cents
A (L
Earnings per share attributable to equity A FEZIEHE AEML
holders of the Company BRER
Basic and diluted EANETE 11 3.51 3.53

The notes on pages 104 to 187 are an integral part of these F104E187 B 2 MisE R ZEiRE M BHE 2

consolidated financial statements. — 8 e
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Boltek Holdings Limited o = E#ZA% AR A A

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
R

As at 31 December 2024 A =ZE=NF+=A=+—H

2024 2023
—ET-NF —E-=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B = FHET FAETT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment % WE K& 13 7,673 11,536
Deferred tax assets EIEFIHE B 23 2,704 2,382
10,377 13,918
Current assets RBEE
Contract assets EHEE 17 34,449 29,903
Trade and other receivables Z 5 & E b g W k1A 16 87,017 74,768
Cash and bank balances ReMREEFEEY 18 36,542 67,547
158,008 172,218
Current liabilities REEE
Contract liabilities EHaE 17 225 272
Provisions BE 19 411 1,888
Trade and other payables B NkEMENFKRIA 20 20,673 13,733
Lease liabilities HEAE 21 3,352 3,544
Amounts due to directors e EEFHIE 22 2,360 5,163
Tax payable JE S 1518 327 1,214
27,348 25,814
Net current assets REEEFE 130,660 146,404
Total assets less current liabilities WEERABAERE 141,037 160,322
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEARFE 21 1,560 4,503
Long service payment obligations RHEARR 7% & i 24 3,325 2,722
4,885 7,225
Net assets BEEFE 136,152 153,097
EQUITY s
Share capital @i 25 8,000 8,000
Reserves ] 26 128,152 145,097
Total equity R 136,152 153,097
Cheung Kwan Tar Ng Pak Hung
REE R AH
Director Director
EZE EZE
The notes on pages 104 to 187 are an integral part of these F104E 187 B 2 M EBKRZERAPBERERZ
consolidated financial statements. — &5 o
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Boltek Holdings Limited © E1EMAR AR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

ANAREREARGAES
Share Capital Share Retained
capital reserve* premium* earnings* Total
LES X RORE* REBR st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET THET THER THET THET
(Note 25)  (Note 26(a))  (Note 26(b)
(BizE25)  (Hizt2s(a)  (HizE26(b)

Balance at 1 January 2023 (Restated) M-Z=_=F—A—H#&#

(B E51) 8,000 17,000 64,668 100,200 189,868

Dividend declared (note 10) BERMRS (FizE10) - - - (65,000) (65,000)

Transactions with owners HEFALZRS = = = (65,000) (65,000)
Profit and total comprehensive FRRNEEENEEE

income for the year = = = 28,229 28,229

Balance at 31 December 2023 and RZE-_=F+-A=+—H

1 January 2024 R=ZZE-_MF—-A—H&#H 8,000 17,000 64,668 63,429 153,097
Dividend declared (note 10) BEEIRRE (K3 10) - - - (45,000) (45,000)
Transactions with owners HEBAZRS = = = (45,000) (45,000)
Profit and total comprehensive FRETR2ERREE

income for the year - - - 28,055 28,055

Balance at 31 December 2024 R-ZBE-mE+=HA=+-H
Fogos 8,000 17,000 64,668 46,484 136,152

*

* ZERBEFERBRASERGSUBRRART OZEE
HK$145,097,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 128,152,000 70 (ZZ = =4 : 145,097,000/ 7T) °

These reserves accounts comprise the Group's reserves of HK$128,152,000 (2023:

The notes on pages 104 to 187 are an integral part of these F104ZE 187 EZMFBHRZZTHRa M BmE L

consolidated financial statements. — &5 o
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Boltek Holdings Limited o = E#ZA% AR A A

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERETRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

2024 2023
—R_-NF —EC=F
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
Bt THET FHET
Cash flows from operating activities RELETHNESRE
Profit before income tax & BT 1S B B g A 33,080 32,956
Adjustments for: B NRIA -
Bargain purchase from business XBEHZEBEER
combination 30 - (1,265)
Gain on early termination of lease RATR LA E T s
arrangement (6) =
Interest income B A (1,636) (3,114)
Depreciation e 5,523 5,678
Long service payment obligations: RHIBR TS & &IE -
— expenses recognised in profit or loss —RNERERE X 603 614
ECL allowance on: BHEEBERRE
— contract assets —ERHEE 63 60
— trade receivables — & 5 el FIE 1,115 467
Finance charges on lease liabilities HEBEMEER 402 242
Written back of provisions o (1,476) -
Operating profit before working capital CEESEIRLLHET
changes 37,668 35,638
Increase in contract assets EHEEEM (4,609) (5,728)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 K Eth e U sRIE HE N (13,364) (21,176)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 N H b FE A FRIELE IN 6,940 2,376
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities AHAaECRD) (47) 127
Decrease in amounts due to directors T E S FRIBR D (2,803) (6,187)
Decrease in provisions BER D (1) (244)
Cash generated from operations BEEES 23,784 4,806
Income tax paid EREET (6,234) (2,519)
Net cash generated from operating activities A% & )& B) {7 H &/ F &R 17,550 2,287
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AERETRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

Boltek Holdings Limited ® B (#EARBRAR] }\

2024 2023
—R_-NF —E_=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt E THET FHET
Cash flows from investing activities RERETHNESRE
Withdrawal of time deposits REUE BifFE - 56,816
Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash WhE—RMT BT - Mk
acquired BEWER S 30 = (2,462)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE  BEMKRE (1,037) (2,228)
Interest received B U F & 1,636 3,114
Net cash generated from investing activities 1% &% B AT 125 & /F 58 599 55,240
Cash flows from financing activities REMETHNESRE
Capital element of lease liabilities paid ENHEEEECEARLY (3,752) (3,907)
Interest element of lease liabilities paid ERNHEEREZFEEHS (402) (242)
Dividend paid EIRAARE (45,000) (65,000)
Cash used in financing activities A S BT B % (49,154) (69,149)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents BERBEEZEYRE D BE (31,005) (11,622)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FNRERREEFED
beginning of year 67,547 79,169
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of FREESRAEEEY -
year, represented by cash and bank EEERBITER
balances 18 36,542 67,547

FI4RITAZHERBRZEFRAVHHRER L

—#5 -

The notes on pages 104 to 187 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Boltek Holdings Limited o = E#ZA% AR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

GENERAL INFORMATION
Boltek Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated

as an exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman
Islands under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands
on 18 April 2018. The Company’s shares are listed on GEM
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 13 September 2018. The addresses of its
registered office and principal place of business is Windward
3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108,
Cayman lIslands and 5/F, Winning Commercial Building,
46-48 Hillwood Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong,

respectively.

The Company, which is an investment holding company,
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred as the "Group”)
are principally engaged in provision of engineering design,
landscape architecture and consultancy services in Hong Kong

and investment holding.

The Company’s immediate and ultimate holding company is
Waywin Investment Holding Limited (“Waywin Investment”),
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI").
The ultimate controlling shareholder of the Group is Mr.

Cheung Kwan Tar (“Controlling Shareholder”).

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2024 were approved for issue by the board of
directors on 28 March 2025.
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Boltek Holdings Limited © E1EMAR AR ‘\
=

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EXEHBEME
POLICIES

2.1 Basis of presentation

21 RBEEE

These annual consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the "HKICPA") and the accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO") and the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange
("GEM Listing Rules”).

The material accounting policies that have been used
in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements are summarised below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated. The adoption of new or
amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the Group's

financial statements, if any, are disclosed in Note 3.

The consolidated financial statements have been

prepared under the historical cost basis.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$" or “HKD"), which is also the
functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries,
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
(HK$'000), except where otherwise indicated.

ZEFEEAMBBRRRIOBRETEY
HBHREEN(EBMBREEDN]) K
2 Homerdtetmag (&
BEWAG]) RAENAEERNE
AEAHBHREEA  FEAEEFER
KzBARERB ARG RA -

RAEMBHRRINFED AR UEN (A
RAH%H) MERAKERTE R
GEM#E# Em A ([GEM LW # 8l 1)
REREERE

MAUZZEREVBREMERNER
SEBCRBIM T - RSB IRBEIN - Z
ERXRRAEBEZNFEERRA K
MFTET SASHE T B S B B S 2E A A
REAEEVBRROTE (E) K
BERMIEES -

RAMBRARCRIBEELKARERR -

BRABETEN  REMBRERINE
TT([BR] TAARBRENEB AR
ZWMERR) 25 RABBEABEY
BERBATR(TET) -
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Boltek Holdings Limited o = E#ZA% AR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR HmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1

2.2

Basis of presentation (continued)

It should be noted that accounting estimates and
assumptions are used in preparation of the consolidated
financial statements. Although these estimates are based
on management's best knowledge and judgement of
current events and actions, actual results may ultimately
differ from those estimates. The areas involving a
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the

consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries made up

to 31 December each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power over the entity, only
substantive rights relating to the entity (held by the

Group and others) are considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a
subsidiary in the consolidated financial statements from
the date it gains control until the date when the Group

ceases to control the subsidiary.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains
and losses on transactions between the members of
the Group are eliminated in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Amounts reported in the financial
statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where
necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting

policies adopted by the Group.
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Boltek Holdings Limited ® B (#EARBRAR] }\

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (continued)

2. EXEHBRME R

2.2 EEE(E)

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling interests within consolidated
equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is

recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit
or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and
(i) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-

controlling interests.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
subsidiary is carried at cost less any impairment loss
unless the subsidiary is held for sale or included in a
disposal group. Cost also includes direct attributable

costs of investment.

The result of subsidiary is accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividends received and receivable at the
reporting date. All dividends whether received out of the
investee's pre or post-acquisition profits are recognised

in the Company’s profit or loss.

AEERKBARNERES (T8
BREENE)FRERRXHARK M
HERARETHNENESSBEETH
EARRBEN G ES  EBENEE
BHETRE  PIERWaLEE -

BN B R L BB A ) A IR
HERSRNERKENRFEAR
REMREREN D FEREMHME R
ANEE (BREBEE) RABAREM
FEREENBERAEIENEE

.
Al >+ °

EARRBNBMRAERF - HER A
2 B R TR B B B S B - BR SR X
B AR EL E Rt ARBARIF -
AT BIEERBIEREKA

MEBARMNEERARRRRE B H
B EERBEAR FIEREAR
ARAF B ER - &2 HRIR
B 73 B0 Y A 2K R 1R O a8 ) o LR
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Boltek Holdings Limited o = E#ZA% AR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR HmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Joint arrangement

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities,
relating to the joint arrangement. Joint control is
the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the

parties sharing control.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation in
accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the particular

assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

When the Group's entity transacts with a joint operation
in which the Group's entity is a joint operator (such as a
sale or contribution of assets), the Group is considered
to be conducting the transaction with the other parties
to the joint operation, and gains and losses resulting
from the transactions are recognised in the Group's
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of

the other parties’ interests in the joint operation.

When the Group's entity transacts with a joint operation
in which the Group’s entity is a joint operator, the Group
does not recognise its share of the gains and losses until

it resells those assets to a third party.
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Boltek Holdings Limited ® B (#EARBRAR]

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EXREBRBE®RE
POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Foreign currency translation 24 HNEBE
The consolidated financial statements are presented in REMB®RETIABIT (BL) 5HE -
Hong Kong Dollars (HK$), which is also the functional BILIMARRBIHINEEE -

currency of the Company.

In the individual financial statement of the consolidated REEERBNBIMBRERT  INE
entities, foreign currency transactions are translated into REDERHE BEEME S E R
the functional currency of the individual entity using the EROEEE - NS A AN
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. TENEKEERABERZBRITHN
At the reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities ExnE HEEZERHRRRE
denominated in foreign currencies are translated HREFTHENESREERBEME
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at that date. A HY SN U 5 s B 1R N 18 2 R o

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the reporting
date retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities are

recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are BRATFEAINE ST ERNI EEEIER R
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at BEEATEEBNEXRERME - LA
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was HNESTETIRBEEX A ENIETE
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured BETEENHME (AERRSANE
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not RBE) - WIEEWEB 2 X FERR
retranslated (i.e. only translated using the exchange IEERNIBEANER  BlZ WS E
rates at the transaction date). When a fair value gain or BELBOIIRERANER - W3
loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or BWIER A FEBRRRNEMEEK
loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is ﬁT&WﬁE% Bl 3z Yoz 2k B 48 2 & W B
also recognised in profit or loss. When a fair value gain 12 IRR B Ath 22 T W 2 W FERR ©

or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other
comprehensive income, any exchange component of that
gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive

income.
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Boltek Holdings Limited o = E#ZA% AR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR HmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than cost of right-
of-use assets as described in Note 2.10) are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the asset. Depreciation commences

when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of assets

less their residual values over their estimated useful lives,

using the straight-line method, at the following rates per

annum:

Leasehold improvements Over the term of
lease or 25%,

whichever is shorter

Furniture and fixtures 20%
Computer equipment 25%
Motor vehicles 25%

Accounting policy for depreciation of right-of-use assets
is set out in Note 2.10.

The assets’ residual values, depreciation methods and
useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at

each reporting date.

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in

profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
costs, such as repairs and maintenance are charged to
profit or loss during the financial period in which they are

incurred.
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Boltek Holdings Limited © E1EMAR AR ‘\
=

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EXETEHESE®)
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Financial instruments

26 E@WTHA

Recognition and derecognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual

provisions of the financial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire,
or when the financial asset and substantially all of its
risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability
is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged,

cancelled or expires.

Financial assets

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets
Except for those trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component and are measured
at the transaction price in accordance with HKFRS 15,
all financial assets are initially measured at fair value, in
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL"), plus transaction costs that are directly

attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Financial assets, other than those designated and
effective as hedging instruments, are classified into
amortised cost.

The classification is determined by both:

—  the entity’s business model for managing the

financial asset; and

— the contractual cash flow characteristics of the

financial asset.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets
(continued)

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that
are recognised in profit or loss are presented within
finance costs or other income, except for expected credit
losses ("ECL") of trade receivables and contract assets

which is presented as a separate item in profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Debt investments

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if
the assets meet the following conditions (and are not
designated as FVTPL):

— they are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold the financial assets and collect

its contractual cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal

and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in other income
in profit or loss. Discounting is omitted where the
effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group's cash
and bank balances and trade and other receivables
(excluding prepayments) fall into this category of financial

instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EXETEHESE®)
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Financial instruments (continued)

26 sWMI R @)

Financial liabilities
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other

payables, lease liabilities and amounts due to directors.

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are initially
measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted
for transaction costs unless the Group designated a
financial liability at FVTPL.

Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than lease
liabilities) are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method except for derivatives and
financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, which are carried
subsequently at fair value with gains or losses recognised

in profit or loss.

All interest-related charges are included in profit or loss.

Accounting policies of lease liabilities are set out in Note
2.10.

Trade and other payables and amounts due to
directors

Trade and other payables and amounts due to directors
are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

THEE

EHREZSERE
AEEZERMABERESI REME
3R HEABEMENESFA -

eRaE(BERERI NFREAF
BFfE K (HER) MR ZHANETT
HE BRIELAKEEEERABERR
FEFABE -

BER - 2RmAaE (HERGERIN) £8
BERMEERBERAE (ETET
ANEEEATEFABRZZEMEA
BERIN)  HRRAFEAR  Ka%K
BENBE AR -

PrBER S E RS AR -
HERBZSFTHERENME210 -
BERAEMENREARENES
I

B REMBNKENRENESEK

BNLHRREZATEER K&
FRERAM R AR B HR AT E

Annual Report 4F 3} 2024 113



Boltek Holdings Limited o = E#ZA% AR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EXREHBEMRE )

POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Impairment of financial assets and contract 27 tRMEEREGHNEERE
assets
HKFRS 9's impairment requirements use more forward- BB WS RIE 95 AR E M TR
looking information to recognise ECL — the “ECL model”. AEARBEUENENBRAEREES
Instruments within the scope included loans and other B-RHEEEEEN] - BULFAE
debt-type financial assets measured at amortised cost, HEAZTEBIE ?ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁii‘;ﬁl‘iz
trade receivables, contract assets recognised and EXFEMETEESREE
measured under HKFRS 15. JE YR TE R IR 45 B 8 B TS 3R 5 4 E'J %

ISR R ENANEE

The Group considers a broader range of information Rt EERR A EBERBEEERR

when assessing credit risk and measuring ECL, K AEBEZEEFR/EZHNER B85

including past events, current conditions, reasonable BEEG BHRRAARAIZESH
and supportable forecasts that affect the expected TERKRReREBHITKEM 2F

collectability of the future cash flows of the instrument. IR R TEA o

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is RRAZAE AR - A T SEED

made between: & Al -

— financial instruments that have not deteriorated - VLHARUKRHEGEEESAREL
significantly in credit quality since initial recognition Eﬁﬁiﬂiﬁiﬂﬁﬁﬂ:g B2
or that have low credit risk (“Stage 1”); and BMTA(HE—RER]

- financial instruments that have deteriorated - VLHRAUREGEESR4LE
significantly in credit quality since initial recognition REECBEEERRTMEN TR
and whose credit risk is not low (“Stage 2"). TEA([EZRER] -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EXRSTHEEME®)
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Impairment of financial assets and contract

27 TRMEERGNEERE#E)

assets (continued)
“Stage 3" would cover financial assets that have objective

evidence of impairment at the reporting date.

“12-month ECL" are recognised for the Stage 1 category
while “lifetime ECL"” are recognised for the Stage 2

category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-
weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life

of the financial instrument.

Trade receivables and contract assets

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group
applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL and
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at
each reporting date. These are the expected shortfalls
in contractual cash flows, considering the potential for
default at any point during the life of the financial assets.
In calculating the ECL, the Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience and external indicators, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic

environment.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables and contract
assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The contract assets
relate to unbilled work in progress and have substantially
the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for
the same types of contracts. The Group has therefore
concluded that the ECL rates for trade receivables are
a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the

contract assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Impairment of financial assets and contract

assets (continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group measures the loss allowance for other
receivables equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increase in the likelihood or risk of

default occurring since initial recognition.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial assets
at the reporting date with the risk of default occurring
on the financial assets at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without

undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

—  an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal

credit rating;

—  significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

—  existing or forecast adverse changes in regulatory,
business, financial, economic conditions, or
technological environment that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to

meet its debt obligations; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EXRSTHEEME®)
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Impairment of financial assets and contract

27 TRMEERGNEERE#E)

assets (continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
(continued))

—  an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at the end of each
reporting period. A debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if it has a low risk of default, the
borrower has strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and adverse changes
in economic and business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the

borrower to fulfill its contractual cash flow obligations.

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collateral
held by the Group).

Detailed analysis of the ECL assessment of trade
receivables, contract assets and other financial assets

measured at amortised cost are set out in Note 31.3.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-
use assets) and the Company’s interest in a subsidiary
are subject to impairment testing. They are tested for
impairment whenever there are indications that the

asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable
amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market
conditions less costs of disposal, and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessment of time value

of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent
from those from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets that generate
cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit). As a result, some assets are tested individually for
impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit

level.

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units
is charged pro rata to the assets in the cash-generating
unit, except that the carrying value of an asset will not
be reduced below its individual fair value less cost of

disposal, or value in use, if determinable.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine
the asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of

depreciation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and
in hand and demand deposits with banks with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are

subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

2.10 Leases

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee

At inception of a contract, the Group considers whether
a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as
a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right
to use an identified asset (the underlying asset) for a
period of time in exchange for consideration. To apply
this definition, the Group assesses whether the contract

meets three key evaluations which are whether:

—  the contract contains an identified asset, which is
either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly
specified by being identified at the time the asset is
made available to the Group;

—  the Group has the right to obtain substantially all
of the economic benefits from use of the identified
asset throughout the period of use, considering its

rights within the defined scope of the contract; and

—  the Group has the right to direct the use of the
identified asset throughout the period of use. The
Group assess whether it has the right to direct ‘how
and for what purpose’ the asset is used throughout

the period of use.

For contracts that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease and non-lease component on the basis of their

relative stand-alone prices.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Leases (continued)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee
(continued|)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the consolidated
statement of financial position. The right-of-use asset
is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial
measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct
costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset at the end
of the lease, and any lease payments made in advance
of the lease commencement date (net of any lease

incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a
straight-line basis from the lease commencement date
to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-
use asset or the end of the lease term unless the Group
is reasonably certain to obtain ownership at the end of
the lease term. The Group also assesses the right-of-use

asset for impairment when such indicator exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the
lease liability at the present value of the lease payments
unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily

determined, the Group's incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the
lease liability are made up of fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable payments based on an index or rate,
and amounts expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to
be exercised by the Group and payment of penalties for
terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group

exercising the option to terminate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EXETEHESE®)
POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Leases (continued)

210 HE (&)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee
(continued|)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee
(continued)

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be
reduced for lease payments made and increased for
interest cost on the lease liability. It is remeasured to
reflect any reassessment or lease modification, or if there
are changes in in-substance fixed payments. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as expense in the period on which the

event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

For lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised

discount rate at the effective date of modification.

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding
adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit
and loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to

ZEOR

On the consolidated statement of financial position,
right-of-used assets have been included in “property,
plant and equipment”, the same line as it presents the

underlying assets of the same nature that it owns.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of

right-of-use assets.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can
be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the

expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and

adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

An onerous contract exists when the Group has a
contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting
the obligations under the contract exceed the economic
benefits expected to be received from the contract.
Provisions for onerous contracts are measured at the
present value of the lower of the expected cost of
terminating the contract and the net cost of continuing
with the contract (which includes both incremental costs
and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to

fulfilling that contract).

2.12 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is
determined using the nominal value of shares that have
been issued. Any transaction costs associated with the
issuing of shares (net of any related income tax benefit)
are deducted from share premium to the extent they
are incremental cost directly attributable to the equity

transaction.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EXREFBEBE®
POLICIES (continued)

2.13 Revenue recognition

2.13 SRR

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step approach to revenue

recognition:

Step 1:  Identify the contract(s) with a customer

Step 2:  Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

Step 3:  Determine the transaction price

Step4: Allocate the transaction price to the

performance obligations in the contract

Step 5:  Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity

satisfies a performance obligation

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular

performance obligation is transferred to customers.

Control of the asset may be transferred over time or at a

point in time. Control of the asset is transferred over time

if:

(i)  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance
as the Group performs;

(i) the Group's performance creates or enhances
an asset (for example work in progress) that
the customer controls as the asset is created or

enhanced; or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.13 Revenue recognition (continued)

(iii)

the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance

completed to date.

If the control of the asset transfers over time, revenue

is recognised over the period of the contract by

reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction

of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is

recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains

control of the asset.

(a)

Engineering design, landscape architecture and
consultancy service

Revenue from engineering design, landscape
architecture, and consultancy service contracts is
recognised progressively based on the contract
costs incurred to date as a percentage of total
forecast costs to depict the transfer of control
of the goods or services to the customer. The
Group recognises revenue over time only if it can
reasonably measure its progress toward complete

satisfaction of the performance obligation.

Incremental cost of obtaining a contract is
capitalised if the Group expects to recover those
costs, unless the amortisation period for such costs
would be one year or less. Costs that will be incurred
regardless of whether the contract is obtained are

expensed as they are incurred.

The Group presents a contract liability or a contract
asset in the consolidated statement of financial
position when either party to the contract has
performed. The Group performs by transferring
goods or services to the customer, and the customer
performs by paying consideration to the Group. Any
unconditional rights to consideration are presented

separately as “Trade and other receivables”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BmRMHME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.13 Revenue recognition (continued)

(a) Engineering design, landscape architecture and
consultancy service (continued)
Contract liabilities are obligations to transfer goods
or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration, or for which an amount of

consideration is due from the customer.

Contract assets are rights to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group
has transferred to a customer when that right is
conditional on something other than the passage of

time.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability of unrelated

contracts are not presented on a net basis.

Other service revenue are recognised in the period

when services are rendered.

(b) Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion
basis using the effective interest method. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost that
are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is

applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset.

2.14 Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to

compensate, are expensed.

Government grants relating to income is presented
in gross under “other income” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.15 Employee benefits

Retirement benefits

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through

defined contribution plans. In addition, the employees

employed under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance

are also entitled to long service payment (“LSP") if the

eligibility criteria are met. The LSP are defined benefits

plans.

(a)

(b)

Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a defined contribution
retirement benefit plan under the Mandatory
Provident Fund (“MPF"”) Schemes Ordinance, for
all of its employees who are eligible to participate
in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based
on 5% (2023: 5%) of the employee’s basic salaries
with a cap of HK$1,500 per month. The assets of the
plan are held separately from those of the Group, in

funds under the control of trustees.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in
profit or loss as employees render services during
the year. The Group's obligations under these plans
are limited to the fixed percentage contributions
payable.

Defined benefit plans

The amount of long service benefit that an
employee will receive on cessation of employment
in certain circumstances is defined by reference to
the employee’s length of service and corresponding
salary. The legal obligations for any benefits remain

with the Group.

The LSP obligations recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position is the present value
of the LSP obligation at the end of the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EXEHHEMEH)

POLICIES (continued)
2.15 Employee benefits (continued) 215 BEEA (&)
Retirement benefits (continued) EBIRER (&)

(b) Defined benefit plans (continued) (b) RE#EFZ (&)

Management estimates the LSP obligations annually.
This is based on the discount rate, the salary growth
rate, turnover rate and the expected investment
return on offsetable MPF accrued benefits. Discount
factors are determined close to the end of each
annual reporting period by reference to government
bonds that are denominated in the currency in which
the benefits will be paid and have terms to maturity
approximating the terms of the related defined
benefit liability.

Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

e  service cost (including current and past service
cost, and gains and losses on curtailments and

settlements);

® netinterest expense or income; and

o remeasurement.

Service cost on the Group's defined benefit plan is
included in employee benefits expense. Employee
contributions, all of which are independent of
the number of years of service, are treated as a

reduction of service cost.

Net interest expense on the net defined benefit

liability is included in employee benefits expenses.

Gains and losses resulting from remeasurements
of the net defined benefit liability, comprising
actuarial gains and losses, are included in other
comprehensive income and are not reclassified to

profit or loss in subsequent periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR HmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.15 Employee benefits (continued)

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of

services rendered by employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick
leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the

time of leave.

2.16 Accounting for income taxes

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise
those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities
relating to the current or prior reporting period, that
are unpaid at the reporting date. They are calculated
according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the
fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the taxable
profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or
liabilities are recognised as a component of tax expense

in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.16 Accounting for income taxes (continued)

2. EXEHBRME R

216 RSB ERTERE (&)

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on
temporary differences at the reporting date between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and their respective tax
bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other
unused tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit, including existing taxable temporary
differences, will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax

credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither taxable nor accounting profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary

differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse

in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EXETEHESE®)
POLICIES (continued)

2.16 Accounting for income taxes (continued) 216 FISBINETEE (&)
For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are RBEEHREEREE E1E' ZHEER
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies SmMsE AEEKEBGTELFE 12
FJTE’J%ﬁﬁ’\ﬁ‘”‘ﬁﬁﬁ’\fﬂfﬁﬁ&ﬁ 3
BE - AEEERA-REHE8EME
BRRET A& ZE (AR Al e ERIS 8
it A SH AT HUR B R M Z T RR )
N BRRGE R ERERELE
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for RIBAE

all taxable temporary differences.

the requirements in HKAS 12 to the lease liabilities and
the related assets separately. The Group recognises
a deferred tax asset related to the lease liabilities to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will

be available against which the deductible temporary

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period the liability
is settled or the asset realised, provided they are enacted

or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss, or in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity if they relate to items that are
charged or credited to other comprehensive income or

directly in equity.

When different tax rates apply to different levels of
taxable profit, deferred tax assets and liabilities are
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measured using the average tax rates that are expected
to apply to the taxable profit of the periods in which the

temporary differences are expected to reverse.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.16 Accounting for income taxes (continued)

2. EXEHBRME R

216 RSB ERTERE (&)

The determination of the average tax rates requires an
estimation of (i) when the existing temporary differences
will reverse and (ii) the amount of future taxable profit
in those years. The estimate of future taxable profit

includes:

—  profit or loss excluding reversals of temporary

differences; and
—  reversals of existing temporary differences.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented

in net if, and only if,

(@) the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off

the recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise

the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax

liabilities in net if, and only if,

(@) the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off

current tax assets against current tax liabilities; and

(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same

taxation authority on either:
(i)  the same taxable entity; or

(i) different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled

or recovered.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Segment reporting
The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal
financial information reported to the chief operating
decision maker for their decisions about resources
allocation to the Group's business components and for

their review of the performance of those components.
2.18 Related parties

For the purposes of these consolidated financial

statements, a party is considered to be related to the

Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that

person’s family and if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel

of the Group or of a parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EXETBRBES
POLICIES (continued)
2.18 Related parties (continued) 2.18 BB 5 (&)
(b) the party is an entity and if any of the following b) ZATABERAEFESUTEMIE
conditions applies: f
(i) the entity and the Group are members of the () ZERBEAEEAR—%
same group. )2 A= W/NEIID
(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the (i) ZERAHMERB(HAZE
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of BRAESEKEARNES
a member of a group of which the other entity NAEISE &) S QR
is a member). HEEDE-

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of (il ZEBRAEERRA-—F=
the same third party. THEERE -

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity ivy " REEZAEE=7EEN
and the other entity is an associate of the third BELE MBE—EBERBAZ
entity. E=ZFERNBE QT -

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for vy ZEBEASENELRS
the benefit of employees of either the Group or FRENERREBMNR R
an entity related to the Group. S H)BERIR (B N ET & o

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a (vi) ZERBH—-EZRE@IEHDHA
person identified in (a). TR R R o

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant (vii) R@)\)IEEALTHZEE
influence over the entity or is a member of the BEATEXR/ZER (X
key management personnel of the entity (or of ERNBANEIEEREE
a parent of the entity). BXE e

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it (viii) — B E sk E & EAAE
is a part, provides key management personnel BREBD KB - A S Bk E
services to the Group or to the parent of the AEENERREHFES
Group. BABRE

Close family members of an individual are those family BERALTHEEREKEHEEZE R
members who may be expected to influence, or be REEEBALEZEANALHRZE
influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the BRI ALHENREKE -

entity.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE
3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRSs

Amended HKFRSs that are effective for annual
periods beginning on 1 January 2024

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time
the following amended HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, which
are relevant to the Group's operations and effective for the
Group's consolidated financial statements for the annual
period beginning on 1 January 2024:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements
and HKFRS 7

The adoption of the amended HKFRSs had no material impact
on how the results and financial position for the current and

prior periods have been prepared and presented.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRSs

(continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial

statements, certain new and amended HKFRSs have been

published but are not yet effective, and have not been

adopted early by the Group.

HKFRS 18
HKFRS 19
Amendments to HKFRS 9

and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 21
Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Amendments to Hong Kong

Interpretation 5

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements®

Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures®

Amendments to the
Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture*

Lack of Exchangeability’

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards
—Volume 112

Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause?

Contracts Referencing Nature-

dependent Electricity?

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

Effective date not yet determined

The directors anticipate that all of the new and amended

HKFRSs will be adopted in the Group's accounting policy for

the first period beginning on or after the effective date of the
new and amended HKFRSs. These new and amended HKFRSs

are not expected to have a material impact on the Group's

consolidated financial statements.

3.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year are discussed below:

Estimation uncertainty

4.1 Revenue from contracts for engineering design,
landscape architecture and consultancy services
As further explained in Note 2.13 to the consolidated
financial statements, revenue recognition on provision
of engineering design, landscape architecture and
consultancy services is dependent on the estimation
of the progress of the satisfaction of performance
obligation of a service contract over time. Based on the
Group's past experience and the nature of the contract
activities undertaken by the Group, the Group makes
estimates of the point at which it considers the work is
sufficiently advanced such that the costs to complete and
the revenue can be reliably estimated. Actual outcome
in terms of total contract costs and/or revenue may be
higher or lower than those estimated at the end of each
reporting period, which would affect the revenue and

profit recognised in future years.

Significant judgement is required to estimate the total
contract costs and the recoverable variation works
that will affect whether any provision is required for
foreseeable losses. The estimates are made based
on past experience and knowledge of the project

management.
Details of the revenue, contract balances and provision

for an onerous contact are disclosed in Note 5, Note 17
and Note 19 respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

4.2

4.3

Estimation for impairment of trade and other
receivables (excluding prepayments) and contract
assets

The Group makes allowances on trade and other
receivables (excluding prepayments) and contract assets
to ECL based on assumptions about risk of default and
ECL rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group's past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at

the end of each reporting period as set out in Note 2.7.

Details of the trade and other receivables and contract

assets are disclosed in Note 16 and Note 17, respectively.

Estimation of LSP obligations

Management's estimate of the LSP obligations is based
on a number of critical underlying assumptions such as
the discount rate, the salary growth rate, turnover rate
and the expected investment return on offsetable MPF
accrued benefits. Variation in these assumptions may
significantly impact the LSP obligations amount and the

annual defined benefit expenses amount.

Any changes in these assumptions will impact the

carrying amount of LSP obligations.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of LSP
obligations are HK$3,325,000 (2023: HK$2,722,000).
Details of key assumptions and impact of possible

changes in key assumptions are disclosed in note 24.

4. TEGTHETTRHAE &)

THEE R R &5 (E)

4.2

4.3

E5REMEYRRE(FEERNTKER)
URENEENRERGE

AEBBEBEENRREKBEHEEER
EMBRBETE S & EHMERFKIE (R
BEBNRB)UARENEERHREE
BEELEE ZRWF27ME - A&
BUAEBRMNBAFRES RiTmAK
AIRE MM AEE  NEREHRE
RHABIELZEREMERE AZIE
HEITRERE -

EHES R EMERGFBEBURENE
EMNFBDRIEERHME 16 M7 -

REOBBEEABENGEE
EEEHRARGSAENGEEDE
MEZIAT EHEBAMREK - WRLEIRE - FrE
ig§$ : AE/}|L%Y&—J{/ETE€§§E@§§$§
%EEHE%‘JEWEEH&QE#E c % ER
RO B RMRBE S A EESHE
REEARERMNAX CEEXNBEATE -

ZEBRRNEMNESHEFERIMR
B AENREE -

R-ZT-_WNE+=—A=+—8  KHR
15 & A E/ IRE (A 4 3,325,000 7T (=
T =4 :272200087C) BT E
BELETEBRBEZHNTENM
F24 1R o

Annual Report 4F 3} 2024 137



Boltek Holdings Limited o = E#ZA% AR A A
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4. TEGTHETTRHAE &)
JUDGEMENTS (continued)
Critical accounting judgements FTESHE
4.4 Determination of the lease term in lease contracts and 44 BEEHESHZHBERMBRE
discount rate
In determining the lease term, management considers FECHR BEEEZBHERLE
all facts and circumstances that create an economic RENATT AR EERE (ST EALE
incentive to exercise an extension options, or not exercise BEE NAE)NMESERIBR
a termination option, if any. Factors considered include: EZEMEREHE :
-  contractual terms and conditions for the optional — AEARENE A ERRGEET
periods compared with market rates (e.g. whether BRI LR (flan ) B EM TR E
the amount of payments in the optional periods is HEBERTE) ;

below the market rates);

— the extent of leasehold improvements undertaken — FREBETHEMERENIEER
by the Group;

—  costs relating to termination of the lease (e.g. - BRITHEERHENER (fINKE
relocation costs, costs of identifying another BERARBEMEAEET KNS
underlying asset suitable for the Group’s needs). —ERREENER) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Critical accounting judgements (continued)

4.4

4.5

Determination of the lease term in lease contracts and
discount rate (continued)

Extension options (or periods after termination options)
are only included in the lease term if the lease is
reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated),
which in turn affect the carrying amounts of lease

liabilities and corresponding right-of-use assets.

In determining the discount rate, the Group is required
to exercise considerable judgement in relation to
determining the discount rate taking into account the
nature of the underlying assets and the terms and
conditions of the leases, at both the commencement

date and effective date of the modification.

Determination of joint arrangement

The directors of the Company performed an assessment
of whether the Group has joint control over the Group's
joint arrangement. Pursuant to the respective contractual
agreement regarding each of the joint arrangement, all
major decisions and the decisions regarding the relevant
activities of the joint arrangement require the unanimous
consent of all parties to the arrangement. Accordingly,
the directors of the Company concluded that the Group

has joint control over the joint arrangement.

4. TEGTHETTRHAE &)

TESTHE(E)
4.4 BEHEANZHBRMRRER(Z)

EEABRAAEBEEHER (KTER
SR EHBRERE (RKRLEEE
BZEOME) TR AHESR £
TEHEAEREENERREEN
fREfE -

REEMREXE  AEEARNEER
HERREHLEMBH  EEREE
ENEERZEE N EREGNS 3
BRI R EHEA A -

45 BEREZH

ARBEERAEERTHAEES
LRBEEA KRG ETHME R
BERARSHEALLHNEB A0S

FMEERREREBAERENIER
AEBHREDBEREET —HAE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.5 Determination of joint arrangement (continued)

4. TEGTHETTRHAE &)

45 BEEERH(E)

The directors of the Company also assessed whether
these joint arrangement is joint operations or joint
ventures under HKFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements”. After
considering the rights and obligations of parties to
the joint arrangement with reference to the structure,
the legal form of the arrangements, the contractual
terms agreed by the parties in the arrangements, and
the relevant facts and circumstances, the directors of
the Company concluded that all of the Group's joint
arrangement should be classified as joint operation under
HKFRS 11 as the relevant joint arrangement document
specify that the parties to the joint arrangement have
rights to the assets and obligations to the liabilities
relating to the joint arrangement. Details of interest in

joint operation is disclosed in Note 15.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

5.1 Revenue

The Group's principal activities are disclosed in Note

1 to the consolidated financial statements. Revenue is

recognised over time and is disaggregated by nature

Wz & 2 2R E

5.1 W
AEEEBEBREGA R BREM T
1R - SR — RIS AR RIZ R
TR REREREMRE N

of engineering design, landscape architecture and EoEmT
consultancy services as follows:
2024 2023
—B-omE T -F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Civil engineering TARITEE
— Road & structural engineering —BERNMEELIR 120,102 109,997
— Geotechnical engineering — 5L T 20,572 11,565
— Others —HAfty 9,180 14,017
149,854 135,579
Traffic engineering RiETIE 22,010 24,166
Building engineering BFIiE 5,668 5,881
Landscape architecture REEE 5,238 2,815
Other ancillary services HMREERS 4,509 1,965
187,279 170,406

Under the contracts with customers, each engineering

design, landscape architecture and consultancy service

contract relates to facts and circumstances that are

specific to each customer. Contract terms provide the

Group with an enforceable right to payment, for its

performance completed to date, of its costs incurred plus

a reasonable margin.

REEZEFHNAH  STER 28
BELBRARBEOEHERZFLM
EEBRRNEENBRER aHK
AR AREIEE—HATRITEN - A
REESEZKMBENXNECELE
BN NG 3R K o
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WEKDBER @)

(continued)

5.1 Revenue (continued) 5.1 W& (&)
Remaining performance obligations Fer@EOEE
The following table includes revenue expected to T%’j%ﬁ‘ﬁﬁﬂﬂ%ﬁéaﬁéﬁﬁmﬁ% =
be recognised in the future related to performance TMERZB_=F+ZA=+—
obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) at E! m A8 (S E D mARBE) B E L
31 December 2024 and 2023. BTz Was e

At 31 December

2024
R-EB-NF
+=A=+-8
HK$'000
FHERT

Remaining performance obligations expected to FEHSREBZUT AHIEEE

be satisfied during the year ending %Tﬁﬂ’]?]%@%’] BE

31 December 2025 —E-_RF+=A=1+—8H 190,814
31 December 2026 :ZE:/\¢+ A=+—H 80,172
After 31 December 2026 —ToAFt-A=F+—H% 25,267
296,253

At 31 December

2023
m:;:_i
+=-A=+—

HK$'000
T

Remaining performance obligations expected to FEHKRBEUTHHLEE

be satisfied during the year ending %EE’J?EJ%E’S BiE

31 December 2024 —E-ME+-A=1+—H 201,444
31 December 2025 “E-_AFt+-A=1+—H 54,684
After 31 December 2025 —E-RF+-_A=+—H#% 37,010
293,138
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WERIHBER &)
(continued)

5.2 2HER

5.2 Segment information

The chief operating decision maker has been identified
as the executive directors of the Company. The executive
directors regard the Group's business of provision of
engineering design and consultancy services as a single
operating segment and reviews the overall results of
the Group as a whole to make decision about resources
allocation and performance assessment. Accordingly, no

segment analysis information is presented.

Geographical information

No separate analysis of segment information by
geographical segment is presented as the Group's
revenue and non-current assets are principally
attributable to a single geographical region, which is
Hong Kong.

Information about major customers
Revenue from customers which individually contributed

over 10% of the Group's revenue is as follows:

TERERREBRERA QAT
EZ - UTESKASHEEHRTIRER
AEERRGHEGARE-—&En
o WERMAKEBREZEE  UE
RO B R RBFEELIRE - Bt - X
B2 DEWAMER -

HRAEENKENFERDEETE
BRE-—ERE (FE)  RLEZ
SIIZI 3R 7 BB D B9 D BRERLE L DA ©

EREEEF AR
10 530 7 3 B 25 7B 08 10% 0 % 5 IR
T

2024 2023

—E_mF —E=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE T FABTT

Customer A ZEA 19,889 24,339
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6. OTHER INCOME 6. HAtA
2024 2023
—B-mE T =F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Bank interest income SR1TH B U A 1,636 3,114
Government subsidies (note a) BT AL (M aEa) 2,192 773
Sundry income FHIERA 39 34
Accrual written off FEET & R A = 10
Gain on early termination of lease BRI E 2R e
arrangement 6 —
3,873 3,931
Note (a):  Subsidies have been received from the Hong Kong Vocational i@ : EEAREIRBEREXZSESHE - %
Training Council and the Construction Industry Council, institutions SREDAEFBN ([BBBEBF]) A5 5R
established by the Hong Kong Government (the “"HKSAR RE TR RE R FRHERE I MR - 85
Government"), for providing on-the-job training for graduate EEBZ MR ERIRERIAEE -
engineers and trainees, respectively. There were no unfulfilled
conditions or contingencies relating to these subsidies.
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BAERE
2024 2023
—B-mE T -fF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET TATT
Finance charges on lease liabilities HERGBRMEER 402 242
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8. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 8. BRFTEHAIEF
2024 2023
11 F S —BC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT T
Profit before income tax is stated after BR BTS84 A& A4S 0Bk (RFA)
charging/(crediting): NTRIBRFH :
(a) Staff costs (including directors’ (@) BIXA(BREE=EEHN
emoluments (Note 12(a)) (note) (BF7E12@a))) (P )
— Salaries, wages, bonus and other —%e- 18 fEAKEM
benefits =Rl 115,057 105,960
— Contributions to defined contribution — [AI S TE SR PRET S K
retirement plans 3,534 2,855
— Expenses arising from LSP obligations —RERBEAEEED
(note 24) FAsc (BtsE24) 603 614
119,194 109,429
(b) Other items (b) HAIEB
Depreciation (included in administrative E GrATTERASR)
expenses)
— Owned assets —BEEE 1,645 1,721
— Right-of-use assets —[FAREEE 3,878 3,957
Subconsultancy fees (included in cost of DBE (Gt AREKA)
services) 20,924 14,125
Auditors’ remuneration — audit services ZEENN & — ZERS 830 800
Short-term lease charges in respect of: BEANTSENEHEE
R :
— Carpark —(=HE 5 8 49
— Office —WRE 1,734 486
Exchange losses bE 5, &5 18 - 483
Provision of ECL on: TEHE B EERE -
— contract assets —EHEE 63 60
— trade receivables — 8 ZEWRIE 1,115 467
Gain on early termination of lease AR LS 2R s
arrangement (6) =
Written back of provisions B EEE (o (1,476) —
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8. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX (continued)

8. BRATBHAIEFN (4

Note: B 5T -

Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) BIXRA(BRREESHE)
2024 2023
—E-QNE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Cost of services BR 75 AR 7R 104,160 94,332
Administrative expenses TR 15,034 15,097
119,194 109,429
During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, there were no =t+—HLEFE -

contributions forfeited by the Group on behalf of its employees who left the plan
prior to vesting fully in such contribution, nor had there been any utilisation of
such forfeited contributions to reduce future contributions. As at 31 December

2024 and 2023, no forfeited contributions were available for utilisation by the

Group to reduce the existing level of contributions.

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

A& B BRI R &

9. FiEHAX

HE_T-_WNFR-FT-_=F+=A
5

5 A BE A A1 B B0 1R B8 MK
R 3R+ IR {55 P AE fa] 2% 558 MR (R BORL D AR SR 465K o
R-B_WERZZE_=ZF+_A=+—H A5EHK
EA B ORI R IR B A B FOKE o

2024 2023
—E-NE —E=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax BEENSHEE

— Current tax — BN ERFA 18 5,350 4,728
— Overprovision in respect of prior years — BT FEBRAEE (3) (6)

Deferred tax (Note 23) PR AER IR (I 5E23)
— Current year —AREFEE (322) 5
5,025 4,727

146 Annual Report 5} 2024



Boltek Holdings Limited ® B (#EARBRAR] }\

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

9.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2024 is calculated
at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits
for the year, except for Mannings (Asia) Consultants Limited
(“Mannings”), a subsidiary of the Group, which is a qualifying
corporation under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of qualifying entities are taxed at 8.25%, and
the profits above HK$2 million are taxed at 16.5%.

Reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting

profit at applicable tax rate:

FRGBiRE < (4)
BAEE B LR &ML (GEM) B
BRAA (F%%U{ij)(%L\A%'J/E‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁ&%uﬁ
BEHNAERAR) I —F _Eiiﬁﬁ*ﬂ
MEBERFAGT RGN 165% (ZF
- :¢ 16.5%) 5T & o RBFISH R AR B -
BERBERLS2DUZIMERGNE2EE
/BE?%X%W%RIE P WR16.5% 2 R H2H
BB LSRN 2 A -

SR Eeshad MR ERHEE
iz EERmT

2024 2023

—E-NE —E=F

HK$’'000 HK$'000

THET FETT

Profit before income tax bR BT 15 84 B4 Al 33,080 32,956
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% REBNEHBE16.5%EH

I8 5,458 5,437

Tax effect of non-taxable incomes BARDMBRANTEZE (463) (795)

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses S AT 0 B 2 O B s s B 110 290

Effect of two-tiered profits tax rates regime  FIS B M A% il 2 72 2 (165) (165)

Utilisation of tax losses previously not ) A L AT R FER IR IE BT 18

recognised = (34)

Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses AERMIEBENTHEZE 88 =

Overprovision in respect of prior years AEFERERE (3) (6)

Income tax expense P15 % A X2 5,025 4,727
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10. DIVIDENDS 10. B2
Dividends attributable to the year: FARIGRE :
2024 2023
—EC-WE S =4
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TABTT
Interim dividend of HK$5.625 cents per A% E A% 5.625 B LAY BRRR B
ordinary share (2023: HK$8.125 cents) —T =4 : 8.125%) 45,000 65,000
The directors did not recommend the payment of final EETERRERE _T_NFR_ZT_=
dividend for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. FTZA=T—HILEFENRARE -
11. EARNINGS PER SHARE 1. BREF
The calculation of basic earnings per share attributable to RAFIEERAARGERERRNTE
equity holders of the Company is based on the following: RUATEE -
2024 2023
Profit 2 7l
Profit for the year attributable to equity RRBIERFER ARG F A& T
holders of the Company (HK$'000) (FHAT) 28,055 28,229
Number of shares IR &
Number of ordinary shares (in thousands) EEiRE A (FAR) 800,000 800,000
HK Cents HK Cents
A AL
Basic earnings per share FRREARZF 3.51 3.53
There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares during the BE-T-_MFER-ZE-_=F+=-A=1+—
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 and therefore, HIEFE  SiEEEssmnk  AiteRk
diluted earnings per share equals to basic earnings per share. HERMNERTGRERER -
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments, disclosed
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules, section 383(1) of
the CO and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as

12. EERFTETHRAEBNMEURE
BEBREHFAL

(a) EERFETHAENME
RIEGEM Em A - A A& 515 383(1)
BRAR (HEESHZER) ROIE
2N WBENES R EZITHA B BB

N 5 c
follows: CZ N
Salaries,
allowances,  Discretionary Retirement
and benefits bonuses scheme
Fees in kind (note (ii))  contributions Total
L EA ] BE#L Bk
e RENET (A2 (i) AR b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THIT THL T THL
Year ended 31 December 2024 BEZ-3-ME
TZA=T-HLEE
Executive directors: HTEE -
Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar REELE
(chief executive officer) (note (i) (TH&H) (W) - 2,760 2,000 27 4,787
Mr. Ng Pak Hung (note () RIBBEE (R3E() - 2,160 360 2 2,547
- 4,920 2,360 54 7,334
Inclapendent non-executive directors: BUFHTES:
Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam (note (v)) R %A () 49 - - - 49
Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion A4 120 - - - 120
Ms. Chik Wai Chun HEY Rt 120 - - - 120
Mr. Pang Chun Sing George (note (vi) TR EE (M) 55 - - - 55
344 - - - 344
344 4,920 2,360 54 7,678
Year ended 31 December 2023 Bz-E-=f%
TAZt-ALEFE
Executive directors: HITEZ
Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar REELE
(chief executive officer) (note (i) (TBes) (H) = 2760 4500 27 7,087
Mr. Ng Pak Hung (note () RIOBEE (FEEG) - 1,900 450 7 2377
- 4,660 4950 54 9,664
Inclapendent non-executive directors: BUFHTEE:
Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam RIS 120 - - - 120
Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion RO A 120 - - - 120
Ms. Chik Wai Chun HEY Rt 120 - - - 120
360 - - - 360
360 4,660 4950 54 10,024
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 122 BEERFETHAENMEURE
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID BEREHFALT ®)

INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(continued)

Notes:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The emoluments shown above were for the services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Group during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to a director as an inducement to join or
upon the Group or as compensation for loss of office as a director

or management of any members of the Group.

The discretionary bonuses are determined by reference to the
financial performance of the Group and the performance of

individual director.

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, there was no
arrangement under which a director has waived or agreed to waive

any emolument.

Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam resigned as independent non-executive

director of the Company with effect from 28 May 2024.

Mr. Pang Chun Sing George was appointed as independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 16 July 2024.
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12.EERFETHRAENMESLURER
BEREHEALT®)

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(b) Five Highest Individuals
For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the five

individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the

(b) EBBEHFAL
RBEEZ - ZE_NWER T _=F+—
A=+—HLFE AEBMNRE R

Group included two (2023: two) directors. BFATEEME(ZE_=F : mA)
BE-

ENEBBRT=R(ZE-_=F:=%)
WIERTHRIIERTEENRSHFTAL

Details of the emoluments of the remaining three (2023:

three) highest paid individuals who are not a director

(executive or non-executive) during the year are as BB IBHT
follows:
2024 2023
—E-IMEF —F_=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET FHETT
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMER 6,300 6,280
Discretionary bonuses IS TEAL 750 710
Retirement scheme contributions RIRGT IR 45 45
7,095 7,035
The emoluments fell within the following bands: & TR LA T AR -
2024 2023
—E-ImF —EC_=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Emolument bands: B & 48 Al -
HK$2,000,001-HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7 7t & 2,500,000 %5 7T 2 3
HK$2,500,001-HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7 7t & 3,000,000 % 7T 1 -
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. % - BMERRHE
Right-of-use Leasehold Furnitre  Computer Motor
assets improvements  and fixtures  equipment vehicles Total
FREEE HENEZE HEREE EKRE RE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TATL TATL TATL TATL TATL TATL
Year ended 31 December 2024 BE-EZ-mE
TZA=+-BLEE
Opening net book amount ENREFE 7,832 - 426 2,397 881 11,536
Additions NE 826 89 67 881 - 1,863
Disposals & (203) = = = = (203)
Depreciation Vi (3,878) (30) (175) (1,162) (278) (5,523)
Closing net book amount EREEFE 4,571 59 318 2,116 603 7,673
At 31 December 2024 R=B-ME+=A=+-R
Cost A 15,798 426 1,874 9,500 2,436 30,034
Accumulated depreciation 2ithE (11,221) (367) (1,556) (7,384) (1,833) (22,361)
Net book amount REFE 4,577 59 318 2,116 603 7,673
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-E-CE
TZA=+-BLEE
Opening net book amount ENRERE 3,649 = 470 2,445 30 6,594
Additions AE 7,188 - 155 1,161 1112 10,216
Addition through acquisition of a ERNE-HRBAARE
subsidiary (note 30) (BE£30) 352 - - 52 - 404
Depreciation i (3,957) - (199) (1,261) (261) (5,678)
Closing net book amount EREEFE 7832 - 426 2397 881 11,53
At 31 December 2023 R=B-=F+-A=t+-H
Cost A 15,845 337 1,807 8,619 243 29,044
Accumulated depreciation ZithiE (8,013) (337) (1,381) (6,222) (1,555) (17,508)
Net book amount REFE 7,832 = 42 2397 881 11,53

The Group has obtained the right to use premises through
tenancy agreements. The leases typically run on an initial
period of two to three years. The Group makes fixed payments
during the contract period. As at 31 December 2024, the
carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets in relation
to the premises are HK$4,577,000 (2023: HK$7,832,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the total additions
to right-of-use assets included in property, plant and
equipment amounting to HK$826,000 (2023: HK$8,140,000).
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14. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December

2024 and 2023 are as follows:

14. R B A R =

RZBE-WNER—TE-_=F+-_A=+—§ -

ARABIMBRARNFBAT

Place of Particulars of Equity
incorporation Type of issued and interest held
Name of company and operation legal entity paid up capital by the Company  Principal activities
B AL R ERTR NG|
AR E 1R 1t 2 EEERELY BEREMHFE FERE TEXR
Directly held by the Company
ANRAEERE
Richness Universal Limited  The BVI Limited liability 2,000 100%  Investment holding
("Richness Universal”) XEBELES BB AT ordinary shares of (2023: 100%) REZRK
Richness Universal Limited USD 1 each (T =%
(I'Richness Universal ]) 2,000 % 100%)
BR1ETH
R
Indirectly held by the Company
ARAREEEE
Mannings Hong Kong Limited liability 5,000,000 100%  Provision of engineering
Bt B BRRA ordinary shares (2023:100%)  design and consultancy
5,000,000 f% (ZTB==%F: services in Hong Kong
ERR 100%) REBREIERGR
BERR%
Team 73 HK Limited Hong Kong Limited liability 100 100%  Provision of landscape
("Team 73") Bt BRAT ordinary shares (2023:100%) architecture and planning
WHMERZEERER AR 1008 (Z2==%: consultancy services in
([HHEBE]) TR 100%) Hong Kong

REERESBEZERRE
BRIk
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15. INTEREST IN JOINT OPERATION 15. EE XK EE
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, details of the Group's MRZEZNER=ZE-=F+=-_HA=+—H -
interest in joint operation is as follows: REERGEEBRERFBEOT
Form of Particulars of Attributable
Name of business Place of issued and interest to
joint operation structure operation paid up capital the Group  Principal activity
ERTR r5H
REXBER EBERES BRI BRERAFE EEEs TEXK
Mannings-ESA Joint Unincorporated Hong Kong N/A (Note) 70%  Provision of engineering
Venture JF=E BB TER () (2023: 70%) design and consultancy
Mannings-ESA Joint (ZZ==%: services
Venture 70%) RETIZRE K& HRS
Mannings-EGIS Joint Unincorporated Hong Kong N/A (Note) 76%  Provision of engineering
Venture e BB Aam () (2023: N/A) design and consultancy
Mannings-EGIS Joint (Z2==%: services
Venture TER) REIRRGERBAARS
Note: As the joint operation did not form any legal entity, no registered capital M BRNEEEB T EEXNEMERETR  RIEAX
has been paid. ERFERER -
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15. INTEREST IN JOINT OPERATION (continued) 15 A%%Z%E%ﬁ(zg)
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group has BE_ZT_ZTF+_A=+—HLEFE &
entered into a joint operation arrangement for provision of SEEFTUAREEBLRY  LRAEBFRK
engineering consultancy service to Civil Engineering and ﬁiﬁiﬁ%@%ﬁ“ TRERRS - A&
Development Department of HKSAR Government. The Group .J\ECEK EXRBRER70%NS ML - X
has participating interests of 70% in this joint operation. As —= _@ﬁ)i_ F_=Ft—_A=t—H"
at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the aggregate amounts of Eﬁﬁ%{%%n}: e AR .E;\/\ &
assets and liabilities recognised in the consolidated financial i‘ﬁ KHF:P MREEMOEERRARRS]
statements relating to the Group's interests in this joint ol
operation arrangement is shown below:
2024 2023
—E-MF —EC=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Assets BE
Contract assets BREE 805 480
Trade receivables B 5 RWHIE 53 -
Tax recoverable CIR bR 1 3
Cash at bank RITRE 231 797
1,090 1,280
Liabilities &
Trade payables 2 5 e TRIE 11 301
Contract liabilities BREE 1,050 951
1,061 1,252
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15. INTEREST IN JOINT OPERATION (continued)
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has
entered into a joint operation arrangement for provision of
engineering consultancy service to Civil Engineering and
Development Department of HKSAR Government. The Group
has participating interests of 76% in this joint operation. As
at 31 December 2024, the aggregate amounts of assets and
liabilities recognised in the consolidated financial statements
relating to the Group’s interests in this joint operation

arrangement is shown below:

5. REXEKER @)
BE_T_NF+_A=t—HLEFE K
SEERIVAEXRHTRH  WRABFREK
FEARTRIERERE TIZERRS - A&
BNZEEXBTHETOHRNSEER - 1
“EMFE+A=1t—8 REEMBER
RPEREREBRELRB LT AR
BSBEAMNEERABRAREITROT

2024
—E_NEF
HK$'000
THET

Assets BE
Cash at bank R1TIRE 3,726
3,726

Liabilities ﬁﬁ
Trade and other payables B NEMENKIE 3,724
3,724
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16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 16. EZ R EH M EWFIE

2024 2023

—ENF —T=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FABT

Trade receivables =) G 72,417 61,827
Less: ECL allowance B TREE BB RS (3,336) (2,221)
69,081 59,606

Other receivables E fth fE Y FR T8 16,115 13,205
Prepayments B FRIAE 1,472 1,517
Utility and other deposits AAEERAMRE 349 440
87,017 74,768

Other receivables represent resident site staff salary and
medical insurance paid as well as secondment staff salaries,
which have been fully reimbursed from HKSAR Government
authorities subsequently. In respect of projects awarded by
the HKSAR Government, it is required to recruit resident
site staff to perform site supervision and maintain proper
records of site activities. Pursuant to the contract terms, the
actual expenditure paid to those employed resident site staff
are entitled to be reimbursed by HKSAR Government on a

monthly basis.

The directors of the Company consider that the fair values of
trade and other receivables are not materially different from
their carrying amounts, because their balances have short

maturity periods on their inception.

HEURERCNEHRETHERE
BREANFARETITE  HEACEESR
BHA#EEHREE RBEERRBRART
BFMEBEEME - HPIATERAREEBER
THEITHREE REFHEE M BRIEBRR -
RBENGR XN THEFRENHERE
ITHERRXATRABRRETEAHE -

ARPEZRE  BRNE S R HEME WA
ESHRNELER 2 HBMREE  #EQF
BEEEFEMETESAER -
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16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Trade receivables

The Group usually provide customers with a credit term of O to
60 days. For the settlement of trade receivables from provision
of engineering design, landscape architecture and consultancy
services, the Group usually reaches an agreement on the term
of each payment with the customer by taking into account of
factors such as, among other things, the credit history of the
customer, its liquidity position and the Group's working capital

needs, which varies on a case-by-case basis that requires the

judgement and experience of the management.

Based on the invoice dates, the ageing analysis of the trade

receivables, net of ECL allowance, was as follows:

16. B 5 R H At B WA (&7)

B 5% BWRE
AEEBENZFPIRHEOE0HNEEHR
AERERER TR  SBRERERRSE
MEZREHRIEMNS  AEEAETREEN
RO FHEEPER M ;T R (EPEHE)
EFMEERE RBESMARAKEHE
BEEFERKZERNBRMAEMAR) FEH
= WAKRSEEER /A R &R -

REZXRAH  BHRKFR HKRBERE
EBRBE) NERESTAT

2024 2023

S NE —E =4

HK$’'000 HK$'000

THET T

0-30 days 0£30H 18,478 17,839
31-60 days 31ZE60H 13,208 13,180
61-90 days 61E90H 7,391 6,007
91-365 days 91 %365 H 19,753 15,454
Over 365 days 838 365 H 10,251 7,126
69,081 59,606

The movement in the ECL allowance of trade receivables is as

follows:

B RKSANRIEEBEREEEMT

2024 2023

—ENE —E=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FABTT

Balance at 1 January MN—A— BB &% 2,221 1,754
ECL allowance recognised during the year FANERREREEEERE 1,115 467
Balance at 31 December Rt A=+—H®&E% 3,336 2,221
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16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are set out in Note
31.3.

Other receivables
No amounts in relation to other receivables were past due at

31 December 2024 and 2023.

17. CONTRACT BALANCES

16. B 5 R H At B WA (&7)
B 5% BWRIE ()
BE_Z_MER_FT_=F+_A=t—
BIEFENE S RYCGRBENBIENEFS
FOMIFE31.3

Hth FEWFRIE
WEEHEMERFENSTER T =Y
ER_FE_=F+_A=+—H#EH -

17. B &8k

2024 2023

—ENF —E=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FAT

Contract assets EHNEE 34,750 30,141
Less: ECL allowance B TREE BB RS (301) (238)
Contract assets, net of ECL allowance EHEE MKREREEEERE 34,449 29,903
Contract liabilities EHEaE (225) (272)
34,224 29,631

The amount of revenue recognised during the year ended
31 December 2024 from performance obligations satisfied in
previous periods, mainly due to the changes in estimate of the
stage of completion, is HK$1,855,000 (2023: HK$233,000).

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's rights
to consideration for work completed but not billed at
the reporting date. The contract assets are transferred
to receivables when the rights become unconditional.
The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advanced
consideration received from customers, for which revenue is
recognised based on the progress of the provision of related

services.

REBEEZZE-_MEFF+_A=1+—HILFE
BRATHEE FENBAREFRERNKE
©HE 41,855,000 7T (ZZF = =4 : 233,000
FTERHMNET T EERLEE(L -

BT

BRNEETRRAKENE X TIEER

RENENER  HERRE BHHAKRFHEE -
“ﬂ‘ﬁéﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁ%" CRHNEEBRERNK

FE - ANABRETEREFFPEMHBMK
FEF% Yess THIRIR AR R AR TS O E FERR -
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17. B0 &8R#E)
BE-_T-_WER-_T-_=F+-A=+—

17. CONTRACT BALANCES (continued)

Change of contract assets during the year ended 31 December

2024 and 2023 were mainly due to changes in number of BIEFEAHNEESLH T ERHNMESH
contract works that the relevant services were completed but RIEBERBE KBS RERFNELOL
yet been certified at the end of the reporting period. REB B EATB -
2024 2023
—E-WE —E==F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Transfers from contract assets recognised at HFVERN AN EEE RS
the beginning of the year to receivables JE W R IE (19,975) (16,097)
2024 2023
= LS —F-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Revenue recognised that was included in the FF AFHIHIE X B BEARH
contract liabilities balance at the beginning B RN
of the year 120 84

BHNEERGHNAENEHREENR —FR

Wm, EE -

The balance of contract assets and contract liabilities are
expected to be recovered/settled within one year.
The movement in the ECL allowance of contract assets is as BHEENTEHCERERENEFSHNT

follows:

2024 2023

—E_ImF —EF-=F

HK$’'000 HK$'000

THET FHET

Balance at 1 January R—A—B84& 238 178
ECL allowance recognised during the year RE AR E’ﬁﬁi\ﬁﬁﬁfﬂgﬁg BE 63 60
Balance at 31 December RTZA=1+—HN&#HK 301 238

Details of impairment assessment of contract assets for the BHE_T_MER_FT_=F+_A=+—
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are set out in Note HIEFE B & 4 & E R E 5T f 5 15 SR M
31.3. FF31.3°
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18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 18. RERBRESEEY
2024 2023
—B-MEF —T=%
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT T

Cash at banks and in hand RITMFEB S 36,542 32,236

Time deposits TE BifF 3K - 35,311

Cash and cash equivalents ReRBFEeFEY 36,542 67,547

Notes: Bt 3

(@)  Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit (@) RITEESETERITERFRVFEFIRREFE -
rates.

(b)  The time deposits with original maturity of less than three months earn b) REHEBLR=EADEFRIZEFE0% ) F
an average of Nil% (2023: 4.99%) interest per annum. The directors of HE(CZZEZ=ZF :499%):8 - R EHERAE
Group considered that the fair value of the time deposits is not materially FRBRFR=ZZEZEARHANIE HAEEE
different from their carrying amount because of the short maturity period ERREATFTEEERABETESAZER -

of three to six months on their inception.
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19. PROVISIONS 19. &
Movements in provisions during the year are as follows: REANBEZBHNOT :

An onerous Employee
contract benefits Total
BREEH EEEA #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET

(Note (a) (Note (b))

(Ff5E () (Ff &% (b))

As at 1 January 2023 RZZT-_=%—H—H 1,667 424 2,091
Additions through acquisition of BANE-—FRRBARRE

a subsidiary (note 30) (B$7¥30) = 40 40
Utilised during the year FNEA (191) (52) (243)
As at 31 December 2023 and RZZBZ_=F+-_A=+—

1 January 2024 BRZT-_WFE—H—H 1,476 412 1,888
Written back of provisions B m (1,476) - (1,476)
Utilised during the year FANEA - (1) (1)
As at 31 December 2024 R-B-NE+=A=+—H = 411 411
Notes: Py aE -

(a) As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a provision of HK$Nil (2023: (@) RZB-WE+-A=+—H FAEEHFER
HK$1,476,000) for an onerous contract, of which the expected unavoidable BEREERONBETEL (ZF =4 : 1,476,000
costs of meeting the performance obligation as stated in engineering FBIL) R BT TG KR & A0 P 0 /R
design and consultancy contract have exceeded the economic benefits KO BT EE A 0 TR HA A AL SR RN E R 3B TR S
expected to be received. The provision was recognised for the contract BEHNEENS - AREERKRTHK S OB Ea
based on the estimated minimum net cost of completing the contract. BERAFERZENEREFE BE-_T N
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the contract has been FHZA=T—BIEFE ZENERIE - HAit
terminated and therefore the provision has been written back. BETEEE

(b)  The provision for employee benefits represents annual leave. b) EEEMEBEFRE-
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20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 20. E5 R E A RIA
2024 2023
—B-MEF —T=%
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT T
Trade payables (note (a)) E S EMNZIE (@) 51055 2,922
Accruals and other payables (note (b)) FEST B A M E A FE S 5108
(FY&E (b)) 15,618 10,811
20,673 13,733
Notes: B2
(a)  The Group is usually granted by suppliers with a credit term of 0 to 30 @ HEARTFTASENHEESHR —MRAFB0ZE30H -
days. The ageing analysis of trade payables based on the invoice date is B ENRIEREZHHNRESITHT ¢
as follows:
2024 2023
—BoOEF —Eo=4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FH&T
0-30 days 0£30H 3,298 2,202
31-60 days 31E60H 404 97
61-90 days 61E90H 200 -
91-365 days 91E365H 609 190
Over 365 days B 365 H 544 433
5,055 2,922
(b)  Included in the Group’s accruals and other payables as at 31 December b) AEBR-_ZF-_NF+_A=+—HHEEHA
2024 was an amount of HK$7,674,000 (2023: HK$9,153,000), which R E A A IR B EAT 8 TIEAT7,674,00078 7T
represented accrued staff bonus. (ZZ==4% :9,153,0008T) °
() All amounts are short-term and hence, the carrying values of the Group's (© FMEREHAEH Bt AEEESEMNKIE
trade payables and accruals and other payables are considered to be a RREEtE B AR E M BN FIRNREERR SR
reasonable approximation of fair value. FENEEIIUE -
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21. LEASE LIABILITIES 21.\0E88

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities TREINAEBEHEBEZHRTEROZNEA -
of the Group’s lease liabilities:

2024 2023
—E-ImF —BC=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Total minimum lease payments: IR E AR
Due within one year —F R E|H 3,560 3,924
Due after one year but within two years —FZBRMERNDIEH 1,603 4,739
5,163 8,663
Future finance charges on lease liabilities HEaERKKNEER (251) (616)
Present value of lease liabilities HEaERE 4,912 8,047
Present value of minimum lease payments: EHENKBEE :
Due within one year —F N2 3,352 3,544
Due after one year but within two years —FREBRME N2 H 1,560 4,503
4,912 8,047
Less: Portion due within one year included W —ERBEETARE
under current liabilities gEHD (3,352) (3,544)
Portion due after one year included under —FREMFAFRDEESD
non-current liabilities 1,560 4,503
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the total cash BHE_ZT_MF+_A=+—BIEFE "
outflow for the leases is HK$5,896,000 (2023: HK$4,684,000). HEMIE SR 4% 45,896,0008 T (==

T =4 : 4,684,000/ %) °

As at 31 December 2024, included in the above present R-ZE-_NFE+-_A=+—8 ' RLHEE
value of lease liabilities, balances of HK$345,000, HK$707,000 B E IR E %8R 2 #5 £ 345,000/ JT ~ 707,000
and HK$1,889,000 (2023: HK$514,000, HK$1,242,000 and 75 7T 11,889,000/ 7T (ZZF = =4 : 514,000
HK$2,869,000) represented lease liabilities payable to Mr. B 7T~ 1,242,0007%8 7T M 2,869,000/ 7T) 5D
Cheung Kwan Tar, Head Concept Limited and Jetek Company AIFERN ToRBEELA - E— AR AR RIER
Limited, respectively. ERAREHERRE -
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22.

23.

AMOUNTS DUE TO DIRECTORS

The amounts due to directors are non-trade in nature. The
amount due is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable
on demand. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the amount
mainly represents discretionary bonuses to directors (refer to
Note 12(a)).

DEFERRED TAXATION

Deferred taxation is calculated in full on temporary differences
under the liability method using taxation rate of the average
tax rates that are expected to apply to the taxable profit of the
years in which the temporary differences are expected to be
utilised for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement

22.

23.

ENEERE
ENEEFEBIHEZ LY - ZRNKIAR
EEA A ERREREE - R TN
FR-F_=F+-A=1+—8 ZHEX
EIREENRBICA (2EMEE12() °

IEFER IR

BEEREREBAEERERZRTHFE
MARBRERERRBEE_T_NEFR
TR =+ _A=t-RLEFERHY
FR RS Z R FEERBUE N F XK -

REJREAEMBNRRE - ETREREAE

of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities ERBEEWIKE - REHIBERITWOT

have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred AT RSB R 2 A
tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

2024 2023

—E_NE B =

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FBT

Deferred tax assets EIEFR IR & B (2,976) (2,782)

Deferred tax liabilities RIETHIEBE 272 400

(2,704) (2,382)
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23. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 23 BB IE (&)
The following are the major deferred tax (assets)/liabilities RBREAMBAZETERLERE (BE)
recognised as at reporting date and movements thereon BERERAFERBEFENEEHNT :

during the current and prior years:

Accelerated

ECL tax
Tax loss allowance  depreciation Total
BHEE R BIE
BIEEE EEEE & Fok ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FAET FAET
As at 1 January 2023 R-ZE-=F—-H—H - (319) 370 51
Charged/(Credited) to profit or loss BBz (5t AB)
(Note 9) (Bf5£9) 34 (87) 58 5
Addition through business BREBEIORE (M5 30)
combination (Note 30) (2,410) - (28) (2,438)
As at 31 December 2023 and R-B-=f+=-A=+-H
1 January 2024 K=—E-_mE-A—H (2,376) (406) 400 (2,382)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 9) 5 At8z (FT5E9) - (194) (128) (322)
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZZ-_ME+-A=1+—H (2,376) (600) 272 (2,704)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have
any material unrecognised deferred tax liabilities/(assets). NR-ZE_NER_E_=F+=A=1+—

B ANEEYEE A EANRERELEREA
BE(BE) -
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24. LONG SERVICE PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS 24. REFRIE &€& IE

Pursuant to the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, Chapter
57, Hong Kong employees that have been employed
continuously for at least five years are entitled to LSP under
certain circumstances (e.g. dismissal by employers or upon

retirement).

The amount of LSP payable is determined with reference to
the employee's last monthly salary (capped at HK$22,500) and
the years of service, reduced by the amount of any accrued
benefits derived from the Group’s contributions to MPF, with
an overall cap of HK$390,000 per employee. Currently, the
Group does not have any separate funding arrangement in

place to meet its LSP obligations.

In June 2022, the Hong Kong SAR Government (the
“"Government”) gazetted the Hong Kong Employment and
Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the “"Amendment
Ordinance”), which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits
derived from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to
offset the LSP. The Amendment Ordinance will take effect
on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date"”). Separately, the
Government has indicated that it would launch a subsidy

scheme to assist employers after the abolition.

Among other things, once the abolition of the offsetting
mechanism takes effect, an employer can no longer use any
of the accrued benefits derived from its mandatory MPF
contributions (irrespective of the contributions made before, on
or after the Transition Date) to reduce the LSP in respect of an
employee’s service from the Transition Date. However, where
an employee’s employment commenced before the Transition
Date, the employer can continue to use the above accrued
benefits to reduce the LSP in respect of the employee’s service
up to that date. In addition, the LSP in respect of the service
before the Transition Date will be calculated based on the
employee’s monthly salary immediately before the Transition

Date and the years of service up to that date.

The benefit payment under LSP remains capped at HK$390,000
per employee. If an employee’s total benefit payment exceeds
HK$390,000, the amount in excess of the cap is deducted from

the portion accrued from the Transition Date.

REBBERBENESTE EZEXEALF
NENBEETERDBR T (Pl EE
fRESRNE) ARESRARG S -

ENERHEREccEN2ZRENKRER
% (BB &22,5007% 7T) & AR %% & & - 340
BRALERRESEEHNHRMEELEDN R
ER=eEMET BREEBNEBLERA
390,000/ 7T © B Al - 2N & B (= K il 7€ A
BENEETE RN R E KRR & EAE -

RoT- =& xR BRI HE R
(B FIEBEB(= T == E BRI
SHBIEDI GRS ZH) (BET) 1) (55T &
Bl BEBRAEERSMARS GRS
WS T ERGS - BT HRAIBER =T
“HERA—B (@HA ) ER - o I
FFE % B L 46 1A R 14 14 4 1 — TE 5 B 0 B
& BB -

Hep - BHOHE I EME - BETGE
FAE o2 I MR AR & AR (B i 88 ) B Al
BRI ZRELOHIT) MEENEMNRE
o DUR A B EH B EREEREFES M
MERBREE - Al - HEEREHIEAS
FIaXE AMEZFTAESER Ll 2E ks
MOBEZAREERBFE S ROHRS
ARFEE o pHN - REHI B BB AR F 808 &
MEHARGEHREEZEEH BATH A
FRBEZENREFHE -

BEEENRARBSETHBMMN £
BR 13 4% 390,00078 TT ° = & 8B #9418 M X {48
BB 390,000/8 T B LR EEK B
B2 B ERT AP D PR o
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24. LONG SERVICE PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS 24. R & & )
(continued)
The Group has accounted for the offsetting mechanism and $’$.Eﬂ?v?@ﬁﬁﬁﬁi&ﬁmgizﬁ?ﬁ?ﬂiﬁgﬁ'ﬂ
its abolition as disclosed in Note 2.15 to the consolidated HSH A N AL EBR T R AT R ©

financial statements.

The Group has determined that the Amendment Ordinance AEBECEEEI G TEXEAEEY
primarily impacts the Group's LSP obligations with respect to EREENRBRBE 2 RIE -

Hong Kong employees.

The present value of unfunded LSP obligations and its BRIXAORARBEEAENREIREEZS
movements are as follows: LU
2024 2023
—E-EF —EZ=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T
At 1 January ®n—H—H 2,722 1,846
Addition through business combination FBREBAHRNE (M7E30)
(note 30) - 262
Expenses recognised in profit or loss RIE= BRI
— Current service cost — B BRI A AR 603 614
At 31 December Rt+t-_A=+—H 3,325 2,722
The current service cost and past service cost are included EHRBAARBERBKXATAREER
in employee benefits expenses. They are recognised in the FRAX - HERGEEREREMEEmKER
following line items in the consolidated statement of profit or A TIRE PR

loss and other comprehensive income:

2024 2023

—ENE —E=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FATT

Cost of services PR 75 Bk A 541 572
Administrative expenses THHAX 62 42
603 614
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24. LONG SERVICE PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS
(continued)
Estimates and assumptions
The significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of

LSP obligations are as follows:

24. REIRIE S &M (B)

fhEt REBRR
BERIARBESAENEABERROT :

2024 2023

—E-F —E_=F

Discount rate BRE & 3.743% 3.703%
Salary growth rate HEERX 2% 2%

These assumptions were developed by management. Discount
factors are determined close to each period-end by reference
to market yields of government bonds that are denominated
in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have
terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related
LSP obligations. Other assumptions are based on current

actuarial benchmarks and management’s historical experience.

The present value of the LSP obligations was measured using

the projected unit credit method.

The weighted average duration of the LSP obligations is 6.27
years (2023: 7.25 years).

ZERRIIABTEBHIE - RIREBUINER
MEERRE2EUNRENOEETER
AR AR A RBRS & AEN IR
MENRFESFOH SR EREE - EtR
ROLENERNRERERERERBELSR

RERBSAENRES AR EAE
FROERRTE ©

IR A ERNINEFEFRA6.27F (=
T_=4%:725%)
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24. LONG SERVICE PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS
(continued)
Estimates and assumptions (continued)
Expected maturity analysis of undiscounted LSP obligations in
the next 13 years (2023: 14 years) as at 31 December 2024 and

2023 is disclosed as follows:

24. REIRIE S &M (B)

st RBE& (&)

R-EBE-_NMER-_E-_=F+_-_A=+—
B RABREHRESEENRRIZE (=
T=F 14F) WTEF R E R ST H A

T
Over Over
1 year but 2 years but
Within within within Over
1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years

—FpE MELE
R—FR MELA BELR BBREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FAETT T T T

31 December 2024 —E_mWE+=-A=+—H
LSP obligations R EARR TS & A HE 831 123 531 2,592
31 December 2023 —E_=5+Z-A=+—H
LSP obligations K HEARR TS € I 694 = 650 2,252

The LSP obligations expose the Group to actuarial risks such
as interest rate risk, salary risk and the investment risk of the

Group's MPF scheme's constituent funds.
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24. LONG SERVICE PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS 24. RERIEEERE @)
(continued)
Changes in the significant actuarial assumptions EARBEBRRNED
The calculation of the LSP obligations is sensitive to the %Eﬁﬁ&%é%@f*ﬁ’]ﬁr;ﬁﬁi ijﬂrzﬁf
significant actuarial assumptions mentioned above. The B TRIMMZEBEBRRNEHHR
following table summarises the effects of changes in these #ﬁ%ﬂﬂ?ﬁﬁ@%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ‘%i7¥<%‘%$m%@ °

actuarial assumptions on the LSP obligations at the end of

each reporting periods.

Impact on LSP obligations
RUBRBEEEABENTE

Changes in Increase in the Decrease in the

assumption assumption assumption
RBREE R =& 48 n CE:8%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FATT TABTT
As at 31 December 2024 R-E-_WME+=A
Eqr=[
Discount rate Bh I8 =& 5% (773) 773
Salary growth rate FEERR 5% 50 (50)
As at 31 December 2023 R=ZB-=5+=A
=t+—H
Discount rate PRI 5% (713) 713
Salary growth rate HERRER 5% 15 (15)
The sensitivity analyses presented above may not be LTHgRES A EEZRERARE 2
representative of actual change in the LSP obligations as it EENERES  BHAREKNEEH AR 6
is unlikely that the change in assumptions would occur in BERHER - WO HEREDRJ AT EEIEH -
isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may Rt ERIABRBeREHEABERR
be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the LSP BRRER - FHEARS MR R PR
obligation to significant actuarial assumptions, the same Hﬁﬂlﬁf&i%ﬁ*ﬁ-ﬁmﬁﬁﬁHE’HE*WETE??#Z‘
actuarial valuation method has been applied when calculating
the LSP obligations recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position.
There were no changes in the methods and assumptions used EAT— ML ARRESRESI NN
in preparing the sensitivity analysis from prior year. N AR &I = B E o
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26.

25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. |®A
Number
of shares HK$'000
ivgrig- 4= FHET
Authorised: ERE
Ordinary share of HK$0.01 FAREE0.0 BT EiER
As at 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, RZE-_=F—H—8"
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 :;EizﬁJr*ﬁ =+t—H"
—EoNE-A—ARK
—E-MFE+=ZA=+—H” 1,500,000,000 15,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAE:
As at 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, RZEZ=%—H—8"
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 :§25$+_ﬁ =+—H:
—EoNFE-—A—HRK
—E_MFE+ZA=+—H 800,000,000 8,000
RESERVES 26. f#E
The amounts of the Group'’s reserves and the movements AEBRFANRBRREH INES
during the year are presented in the consolidated statement HBBRRNGAERBERET -
of changes in equity of the consolidated financial statements.
(a) Capital reserve (a) EXRFE
Capital reserve of the Group as at 31 December 2024 REFBR-_ZT_NFRZFT=F
and 2023 represents the difference between the nominal TZA=T—BNERFEEENEE
value of the share capital of subsidiaries acquired by the Fi7 Y B Bt /&8 & 7] 89 AR 7N T A B2 AR R AR
Group and the nominal value of the Company’s shares NARHO R ZF — \FE8 R T GEM
issued for the acquisition under the reorganisation when FEETRESR (EAE]) ETWE
the Company’s shares were listed on GEM of the Stock FrEs{T A R el RIDEVEE Z FRZ5E ©
Exchange in 2018 (the “Reorganisation”).
(b) Share premium (b) B =EE
The share premium includes the difference between the Bt s B BN R Bl k() HE R g %

par value of the shares of the Company and net proceeds

received from the issuance of the shares of the Company.

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium account of the Company may be
applied for payment of distributions or dividends to the
shareholders provided that immediately following the
date on which the distribution or dividend is proposed to
be paid, the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall

due in the ordinary course of business.
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27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 27. XA BB AR R K

COMPANY
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAETT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
Non-current asset ERBEE
Interest in a subsidiary R — W E A R s 44,271 44,271
Current assets REBEE
Prepayment TR IR 156 156
Other receivable ot & IR - 90
Amount due from a subsidiary (note (a)) & Us — e B B A Bl /Y 7k 28
(K5 (a)) 38,962 39,943
Bank balance SRTT 45 R 2 9,881
39,120 50,070
Net current assets RBEEFE 39,120 50,070
Net assets EEFE 83,391 94,341
EQUITY =
Share capital [N 8,000 8,000
Reserves (Note (b)) & (T (b)) 75,391 86,341
Total equity ERAHn 83,391 94,341
Note (a): Bt 3 (a)
The amount due from a subsidiary is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on JEW — R M A Rl I AR - R S RBIREREER -
demand.
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors RSB -—FE=F -+ ) \BEZE=a ik
on 28 March 2025. T B T B o
Cheung Kwan Tar Ng Pak Hung
REFE REE
Director Director
EE EE
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27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE = 27. XA R M BEMR R T (&)

COMPANY (continued)
Note (b): ML (b) -
The movements of the Company's reserves are as follows: RARNEEESHOT :
Share Capital Accumulated Total
premium reserve losses reserves
B 12 % 8 BEXRFE 2FtEE R BERR
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THETT FHET FET FET
(Note 26(b)) (Note)
(B 7% 26(b)) (P =E)
Balance as at 1 January 2023 R-ZE_=F—A—HN&EH 64,668 44,271 (22,695) 86,244
Profit and total comprehensive income W Fl| & 2 UL A 4B FE
for the year = = 65,097 65,097
Dividend paid BEfRE = = (65,000) (65,000)
Balance as at 31 December 2023 and R=ZE=Z=F+=-A=+—H
1 January 2024 R-Z-mE—A—RH&R 64,668 44,271 (22,598) 86,341
Profit and total comprehensive income  F A& Fl &2 2 4R A 4258
for the year - - 34,050 34,050
Dividend paid BEAAR A - - (45,000) (45,000)
Balance as at 31 December 2024 R-FB-mNE+=-A=+—H
HY 45 B 64,668 44,271 (33,548) 75,391
Note: Capital reserve of the Company represents the difference between the MiEE : ANA RIR B A s AN A FIAR 35 & 48 W B Richness
total equity of Richness Universal acquired by the Company pursuant to Universal B £ 25 48 58 B2 7K 22 7 5% 1t 71 3597 9 B 19
the Reorganisation over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued AL A
in exchange therefor.
28. LEASE COMMITMENTS 28. HERIE
At the end of the reporting period, the lease commitments for REREHAR » MHIFAEMMA S AEMT ¢
short-term leases are as follows:
2024 2023
—ZE-mE —E-=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T
Within one year R—FA 1,135 1,142
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the balances and transactions detailed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the
Group had the following related party transactions during
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. None of the
below related parties transactions falls under the definition of
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction as
defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

(a) Key management personnel remuneration
The emoluments of the directors and senior management
of the Company, who represent the key management
personnel during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 are as follows:

29. BEE AR Z
BIRA SRR EME DRSS R
SN REBRBE-_E-_NER-_T_=
F+-—A=+—BHIFEHE N EHS
X5 NHREHARSGEHTHFAGEM LT
IR A 20 % T 57 E M BRI X 5 Bk 45 4B i
RHEE °

(a) TEEEBEAEMS
RBEZE_WNER-ZFT_=F+=
A=+—HUEFE ARAIEELS
REBE(ABEEEBRAS)MEWT :

2024 2023

—E_E —E=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Salaries, wages and other benefits e TENMEAMEF] 12,632 11,899
Discretionary bonuses BB E4L 2,995 5,795
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET B 153 162
15,780 17,856

(b) Material related party transactions

(b) EXEABAIRS

For the year ended
31 December

BEt-A=t—HLEE

2024 2023

—E-NE —E=F

Name of related party Note  Nature HK$'000 HK$'000

B £ Mz MHE FHET T

Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar (a) Lease payments 872 815
REERE HE T

Ms. Chiu Chui Ping (b) Lease payments 409 382
AR+ HE R

Head Concept Limited (c) Lease payments 978 928
E—ARAQF HE K

Jetek Company Limited (d) Lease payments 1,314 1,228
B ERAR HER®

Manita Company Limited (e) Lease payments 328 306
EXEFR LA HE T

Annual Report 4F 3} 2024 175



Boltek Holdings Limited o = E#ZA% AR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 29. BB E RS (&)
(b) Material related party transactions (continued) (b) EXBEBAIRS (&)
Notes: Bt 5
(@)  Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar is the Controlling Shareholder and an (a) REFEREAEBBREREAAGBNRITES °

executive director of the Company.

(b)  Ms. Chiu Chui Ping is the spouse of Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar and a b) HEFLTRRHELLENEBRASKE
senior management of the Group. NERERE -
() Asat 31 December 2024 and 2023, Head Concept Limited is owned (00 R-ZTBE-_NWER-_ZT-_=F+-A=+—H"
by Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar as to 51% and Ms. Chiu Chui Ping as to E—HRARIAREELREESS1% RER
49%. LA 49% ©
(d)  Jetek Company Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar. d) KFHERARBRREFELTERERES -
(e)  Manita Company Limited is wholly owned by Ms. Chiu Chui Ping. () EFNEARNABHEBILLILEHESR -
30. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 30. R E 6
Pursuant to a sale and purchase agreement dated 31 July BERMAE-_ZTE-_="F+tHA=1T—HHE
2023, the Group acquired entire equity interest of Team 73 at B i AR BRI AR IS R 2 DA
cash consideration of HK$3,524,000. Team 73 was acquired so IR & X B & 3,524,000 % 7T o Ut F 3R 3%
as to continue the expansion of the Group's operations. EHEBBEARNEEET -
HK$'000
FAET
Consideration transferred EHEERE
Cash & 3,524
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30. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date
of acquisition

30. ¥B & (@)

EUBHNEERRUERMBRIANAR

HK$'000
T
Property, plant and equipment (note 13) M - BB R (FiEE13) 404
Deferred tax assets (note 23) IRFEFL 5 & B (P 5E23) 2,438
Contract assets AHEE 3
Trade and other receivables B 5 M E b jE 5k IE 1,721
Cash and bank balances B RIRTTHE 1,062
Provisions (note 19) B (M15E19) (40)
Trade and other payables B 5 R H A EFIE (176)
Lease liabilities HEaE (361)
Long service payment obligations (note 24) R EARR 75 & A HE (K5t 24) (262)
4,789

The trade and other receivables acquired in these transactions
with aggregated fair value and gross contractual amounts
was HK$1,721,000. The best estimate at acquisition date of
the contractual cash flows not expected to be collected are

ZERGHIKRENE 5 & H i B G IE
MAFEMBENSEER21,721,000%
JC o R AIREIM & AR mERUEE B
MR EMFTIETER o

insignificant.
HK$'000
T
Consideration KE 3,524
Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired AHANBEWEEEFENATE (4,789)
Bargain purchase REREE 1,265

Bargain purchase arose in the acquisition of Team 73 because
of fair value measurement changes from the net book values
and the recognition of the deferred tax assets.

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Team 73

FEFEELERATEAEZP RBEREL
MAEESBRBHARENZRERE -

BB ARENFRER

HK$'000

FHETT

Consideration paid in cash ERNRERE 3,524
Cash and cash equivalents acquired BUWEBRERBESFEY (1,062)
2,462
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30. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

31.

Impact of acquisitions on the results of the Group
Included in the profit for the year ended 31 December 2023
was profit of HK$289,000 attributable to Team 73. Revenue for
the year ended 31 December 2023 included HK$2,814,000 in
respect of Team 73.

If the above acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2023,
the Group's revenue would have been HK$173,997,000 and
profit for the year would have been HK$26,573,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2023. This pro forma information
is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group
that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition
been completed on 1 January 2023, nor is it intended to be a

projection of future results.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of
financial instruments in its ordinary course of operations. The
financial risks include interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk. The Group's overall risk management strategy seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial
performance. Risk management is carried out by the senior
management of the Group and approved by the board of

directors.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to

manage these risks are described below.
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR N.FHEREERAFETE ®)
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

31.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities

NI EMEERBEBELE
A MBI KRTSIEREER N7 £

The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated

statement of financial position relate to the following MEEHBBEIEAH :
categories of financial assets and liabilities:
2024 2023
—E-NEF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET BT
Financial assets TRMEE
At amortised cost: R AFTE
— Trade and other receivables — B 5 &k HE K FRIE 85,545 73,251
— Cash and bank balances — IR KIRTT4E &R 36,542 67,547
122,087 140,798
2024 2023
—ENE ZE=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FABT
Financial liabilities SREE
At amortised cost: RS ANFT = ¢
— Trade and other payables —B 5 R HE A ERFRIA 16,300 13,230
— Amount due to directors —ENESEHE 2,360 5,163
— Lease Liabilities —HEAE 4,912 8,047
23,572 26,440
31.2 Interest rate risk 31.2 R R E by
Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or HEMTEMAFEXRESREE H
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because B 7 =R B B R T 5 R R E) im g ) o

of changes in market interest rates.

The exposure to interest rate risk for the Group's bank
balances and short-term bank deposits is considered

immaterial.

REEBERTT 88 K /8 ISR 1T 17 SR B9 A
KEBAEFERRALTERK -
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR N.FHEREERAFETE ®)
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

31.3 Credit risk N3 EERR

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a
financial instrument would fail to discharge its obligation
under the terms of the financial instrument and cause
a financial loss to the Group. The Group's exposure to
credit risk mainly arises from granting credit to customers
in the ordinary course of its operations. The Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk on recognised financial
assets and contract assets is limited to the carrying

amount at end of each reporting period.

In respect of trade and other receivables and contract
assets, individual credit evaluations are performed on
all customers and counterparties. These evaluations
focus on the counterparty's financial position, past
history of making payments and take into account
information specific to the counterparty as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the
counterparty operates. Monitoring procedures have been
implemented to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews
the recoverable amount of trade and other receivable
and contract asset balance on a group basis at the end
of each reporting period to ensure adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts based on

shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.

At 31 December 2024, the Group has concentration of
credit risk as 9% and 33% (2023: 15% and 37%), of the
total trade receivables were due from the Group’s largest
trade debtor and five largest trade debtors respectively.
The aggregate amounts of trade receivables from
these trade debtors amounted to HK$6,420,000 and
HK$22,974,000 (2023: HK$9,264,000 and HK$23,184,000)
of the Group's total trade receivables at 31 December
2024.

180 Annual Report 5} 2024

EERREERIANYHF I RER
BERTANGRBETEETRYEAR
SEERM BB AR - AREME
HHMEERREBZRENEBEERK
BEFATFRELEE - NEEFD
HRATREERANEEMH R &
REERBRRMNEHERR 2 REE °

HRESREMERREBERAHDEEM
EORBRHMAEEPREFHETHE
AMEERG ZFHEEINEFH
ZHEAOR - BEN KRS - WE RS
FHZEEERAREHFHEER
ORERE AREEEREERE
AR R REE — TRk a HiE
1o BN - ARE BN &R E R IZA R
EHEINEMERFTBERAGNEE
Mz AW m e ARRRERE
EE Rk 8 8 B R 8 A AT
SRELFRBERSE -

RZZE-_WE+—_A=+—8 R
BRAEBERESEBARAARE
SEHEANRIES B AE 5 EWRFIE
BEIRO% N 33% (ZE-=F : 15% &
%) MAEEEFEERBES - K=
TEo-ME+-_A=+—08 EBUZE
BEZEBANE ZERFIBRLES 5|
BALEE S REWGIBAEEN 6,420,000
7 IT ] 22,974,000 T (ZFE = = :
9,264,000 7% 7T & 23,184,000 7T )



Boltek Holdings Limited ® B (#EARBRAR] \
i

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T —F+ A =+—HIEFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. MBEBRERRAFESE®

VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

31.3 Credit risk (continued) N3 EERRE (&)
The Group considers the probability of default upon AEBREAEREEREZ RIERN
initial recognition of asset and whether there has been ARl WERRZREHEERRE
a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis BERBEFEARLR - ATHEER
throughout each reporting period. To assess whether B ER AEER  AEE&RE
there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group HEREEEE 2 /R ERE T RER
compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at HEEZHEREBRETLER -AEEE
the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date BrAIEGHEEREEBENMELE
of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable e REBEER Bt HERAR
and supportive forward-looking information. Internal TEEBRE NENEANEBER -
credit rating, actual or expected significant adverse MEIEBERANERXFFHERT
changes in business, financial or economic conditions MEE ERALEEBENERKE
that are expected to cause a significant change to the HEXREHRERABRARRKITA
borrower's ability to meet its obligations, actual or MEREH (BRERARAEE XM
expected significant changes in the operating results of RAH B RERACEEENE )
the borrower and significant changes in the expected BRAETAHOIER

performance and behaviour of the borrower including
changes in the payment status of borrowers in the Group
and changes in the operating results of the borrower are

indicators to be incorporated.

The Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately AEERBLEFABHEEBEED
providing for ECL on a timely basis. In calculating the HERBBEEGERRARK - £ &
ECL rates, the Group considers historical elements and BHEEEREXRN AEEZEESL
forward-looking elements. TLERRABEMLITE -
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

31.3 Credit risk (continued)

(0]

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the simplified approach to
providing for ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime ECL provision for all

trade receivables and contract assets.

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for
trade receivables and contract assets. To measure
the ECL, trade receivables and contract assets
have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The contract
assets relate to work completed but not billed at
the reporting date and have substantially the same
risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the
same types of contracts. The Group has therefore
concluded that the ECL rates for trade receivables
are a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for

the contract assets.

The provision matrix is determined based on the
Group's historical settlement experience of the
debtors that have similar loss pattern and are
adjusted for forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort. The
Group has identified the gross domestic product
in Hong Kong to be the most relevant factors,
and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates
based on expected changes in these factors. The
ECL allowance increased from HK$2,221,000 to
HK$3,336,000 (2023: HK$1,754,000 to HK$2,221,000).
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. HEREER QA FETE#)
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)
31.3 Credit risk (continued) N3 EERRE (&)
(i) Trade receivables and contract assets (continued) (i) BEZERREREGHNEE(Z)
On that basis, the ECL allowance for trade FUHERE RBEEEHHNES
receivables as at reporting date was determined as ERFIENEREEBEREE
follows: EMT :

Weighted Gross Net
average carrying ECL carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
mEFH AHEE

i RHAR BRAR REFE
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FAT FAT TAT
As at 31 December 2024 R-B-m#
+=A=+-H
— Neither past due nor impaired — KRBT ERE 1.12% 31,675 (358) 31,317
- Less than 90 days past due —BHEIROX 1.30% 17,112 (223) 16,889
- Over 90 days past due —RABROR 11.66% 23,630 (2,755) 20,875
72,417 (3,336) 69,081
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZBZ=f
t=A=t-H
~ Neither past due nor impaired — R RE 0.94% 30769 v 30478
— Less than 90 days past due —BHPROR 1.13% 13,285 (157) 13,134
— Over 90 days past due —BHBANK 10.01% 17,773 (1,779) 15,994
61,827 (2,221) 56,906
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

N.BEEREERAFENE S

31.3 Credit risk (continued) N3 EERRE (&)
(i) Trade receivables and contract assets (continued) (i) BEZEWRERGHNEE(E)
On that basis, the ECL allowance for contract assets EUHER L RREAHNED
as at reporting date was determined as follows: BEEMNEHEEEBEEREBETE N
T
Gross ECL Net
Weighted average loss rate carrying amount allowance  carrying amount
IR EEE REHAE HHECESRRER HREEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHTT FHIT T
As at 31 December 2024
R-ZZB-WMFE+-A=+—H
0.87% 34,750 (301) 34,449
As at 31 December 2023
RZEBZ=F+=HA=+—H
0.79% 30,141 (238) 29,903
(ii) Other financial assets (i) Hthe@mEE
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group RZB_NMER-_FTE_=F+=
expects that the credit risk associated with other A=+—B AEEEHEAM
receivables is considered to be low, since the FEWFIER B EERRBRIEK -

majority of these balances is due from government
authorities having a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term.
The Group has assessed that the ECL for these
receivables are minimal under the 12-month ECL
method as there is no significant increase in credit
risk on these receivables since initial recognition and
the risk of default is low during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

The credit risks on bank balances are considered
to be insignificant because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings assigned by

international credit-rating agencies.
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

31.4 Liquidity risk

N.BEEREERAFENE S

31.4 REN M EL B2

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be
able to meet its obligations associated with its financial
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another
financial asset. The Group is exposed to liquidity risk
in respect of settlement of trade and other payables,
lease liabilities and amounts due to directors, and also
in respect of its cash flow management. The Group'’s
objective is to maintain an appropriate level of liquid
assets and committed lines of funding to meet its liquidity

requirements in the short and longer term.

Management monitors the cash flow forecasts of the

Group in meeting its liabilities.

The analysis set out the remaining contractual maturity
based on undiscounted cash flow of the Group's financial

liabilities at the reporting date.

mBMERR I REAEERERBITHE
MENREH S —EMEERE
MAEBEHBEENRRER ~&EE
RNEEESZREMBEMNKE HEA
ERENEEFEUARREREETRE
FEAXZARBERR AKEMNE T
REFBEXRENTRBEENRER
WEAREE UNaEHERBAR
BELHELK -

e
JEIS A

EEEERARBABTEREINR
SRETRA -

ZOMEIRBASER RS AR
TRMEENRURBASREFTEHR
TABBBBER -

Within Total
one year or Oneto  undiscounted Carrying
on demand five years amount amount
—ERE REER
BEX oSk BeE BRE{E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER T THT FEx
As at 31 December 2024 R-E-MF+-A=1+—H
Trade and other payables BHREMENTIE 16,300 - 16,300 16,300
Amount due to directors ENEEZE 2,360 = 2,360 2,360
Lease Liabilities HEER 3,560 1,603 5,163 4,912
22,220 1,603 23,823 23,572
As at 31 December 2023 RZBE-=%+-A=1+-H
Trade and other payables BHREMENIE 13,230 - 13,230 13,230
Amount due to directors [ENESFE 5,163 = 5,163 5,163
Lease Liabilities HEAR 3924 4739 8,663 8,047
2317 4739 27,056 26,440
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31.

32.

33.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

31.5 Fair value measurement
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities are not materially different from their fair values

at each reporting date due to their short maturities.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group's capital management objectives are to ensure the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to maintain
capital structure in order to minimise the costs of capital,

support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital structure
and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic
conditions. The Group monitors its capital structure on the
basis of the debt to equity ratio. For this purpose, debt is
defined as borrowings net of cash and bank balance. In order
to maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, share buyback,

issue new shares and raise new debts.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the debt to equity ratio

was not presented as the Group had no borrowings.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group entered

into certain lease contracts related to premises, in which
additions to right-of- use assets and lease liabilities amounting
to HK$826,000 (2023: HK$7,788,000) was recognised at the

lease commencement date.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the non-current
deposits for purchase of property, plant and equipment of
HK$200,000 was recognised as property, plant and equipment

upon completion of development and ready for use.
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34. RECONCILIATIONS OF LIABILITIES ARISING M. MEETHMELEEBEHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Lease liabilities

HEAE
HK$'000
T
As at 1 January 2023 R-ZEBE-=%—H—H 3,805
New leases entered (Note 33) FraT sz &8 & (B 5E 33) 7,788
Other changes: H &g :
Addition through business combination (note 30) BBESEHAE (HEE30) 361
Interest expense for lease liabilities HEBEMERX 242
Cash flows from financing activities: BMEFBFBHREEME :
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHEE 2 EXRILY (3,907)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BEfNHEE 2 F B D (242)
As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R-ZBE-_=F+=-A=+—H
R=-ZB-mNE—-HA—H 8,047
New leases entered (Note 33) FraT s ¥ & (KfsE33) 826
Early termination of lease arrangement HERHRAIAR L (209)
Other changes: HihZF) -
Interest expense for lease liabilities HERBMNERX 402
Cash flows from financing activities: BMEFBFEHEeRE
Capital element of lease rentals paid BENHEE 2 EARILD (3,752)
Interest element of lease rentals paid EfHE 2B (402)
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZZE-_WmE+=-A=+—H 4,912
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MR

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the M TAREERBERERRFEEEEUNREE
Group for the last five financial years is as follows. FEERE .

RESULTS &

For the year ended 31 December
BEZ+-A=1-BLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-|mE —E-=4 —E-CF —E-—F ZTTE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THET THT THIT FTHT
(Restated)
(/&7
Revenue & 187,279 170,406 149,292 129,911 111,908
Cost of services FRAS B A (125,198) (110,056) (106,698) (84,467) (66,066)
Gross profit ER 62,081 60,350 42,594 45,444 45,842
Other income Hip A 3,873 5,196 6,083 1,256 8,082
Administrative expenses ARAY (32,472) (32,348) (27,313) (22,792) (26,137)
Finance costs RERA (402) (242) 89) 82 (134)
Profit before income tax BR AT 58 A A 33,080 32,956 21,275 23,826 27,653
Income tax expense FriEfib X (5,025) (4,727) (2,802 (3,594) (3,666)
Profit and total comprehensive RAREERFEA
income for the year FEA8 5 & 5
attributable to equity 2EHREAE
holders of the Company 28,055 28,229 18,473 20,232 23,987
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
As at 31 December
R+=A=+-A
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-mE —E-=F —E--F ZE-—f S 23
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAL FTAT FAET TET
(Restated)
(&7
Total assets AERE 168,385 186,136 220,338 194,254 165,779
Total liabilities BEAE (32,233) (33,039) (30,470) (22,859) (14,616)
Total equity i 136,152 153,097 189,868 171,395 151,163

1 88 Annual Report 5 2024



Boltek Holdings Limited
BREERERAL A



	COVER
	CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE“STOCK EXCHANGE”)
	CONTENTS
	CORPORATE INFORMATION
	CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
	DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
	MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
	ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
	CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
	DIRECTORS’ REPORT
	INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
	NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
	FINANCIAL SUMMARY
	BACKCOVER

